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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission file number: 001-36054

Sophiris Bio Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

British Columbia 98-1008712
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
1258 Prospect Street, La Jolla, Californie 92037
(Address of Principal Executive Offices; (Zip Code)

858-777-1760
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Codg

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn season issuer, as defined in Rule 405 ofdwirities Act.  Yes[l No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord}%f the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranthés filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilécsuch reports), and (2) has been subjec

to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es No O
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥ab site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRide 405 of Regulation S-T (8§232.405 of this ¢bgpduring the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Yé&d No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilet pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§828% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the beshefregistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy nfdrmation statements incorporated by
reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amerent to this Form 10-K.[X]

Indicate by check mark whether registrant is adargcelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a narelecated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited, “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting cqmany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar O
Indicate by check mark whether registrant is alstoghpany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchafhg®. O  Yes No
As of June 30, 2013, the last business day ofdbestrant’s most recently completed second fisoaligr, the aggregate market value of the

registrant’s common shares held by non-affiliatethe registrant was approximately $21.5 millioaskd on the closing price of the registrant
common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange on2Rjri2013 of CND$13.84, or $13.16 as converted.

As of March 1, 2014, the registrant had 16,149 &thmon shares (no par value) outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Stagnt to be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@®ission by April 30, 2014 are
incorporated by reference into Part Ill of thisagp
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PART I.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and the informaiiocorporated herein by reference contain forwdodking statements that involve
number of risks and uncertainties. Although ounfarddooking statements reflect the good faith judgneérmtur management, these statem
can only be based on facts and factors currentwknby us. Consequently, these forwknoking statements are inherently subject to reskd
uncertainties, and actual results and outcomes diffigr materially from results and outcomes disedss the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements include statements abaustrategies, objectives, discoveries, clinicals, development programs,
financial forecasts and other statements that arehistorical facts, including statements which rbaypreceded by the wor“intend,” “will,”
“plan,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “aim,” “seek,” “suggest,” “may,” “believe,” “hope” or similar words. Similarly, statements that
describe our future plans, strategies, intenti@gectations, objectives, goals or prospects ahdraitatements that are not historical facts
also forward-looking statements. These statemeantade but are not limited to statements underctiqetions “Business,” “Risk Factors,” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operations” as well aseptbections in this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. You should be aware that the occurrence ofa@rthe events discussed under the heading “ItenRlgk Factors”and elsewhere
this report could substantially harm our businegsults of operations and financial condition ahdttif any of these events occurs, the trac
price of our common shares could decline and yaudtose all or a part of the value of your comnstrares. The cautionary statements m
in this report are intended to be applicable torallated forward-looking statements wherever thay eppear in this Annual Report on Form
10-K. We urge you not to place undue reliance esehforward-looking statements, which speak onbyf #ise date of this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. Except as required by law, we assume no ohtigab update our forward-looking statements, eiferew information becomes
available in the future.

All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollartesn otherwise noted. All amounts are expresseshas-converted from Canadian
dollar to U.S. dollar basis are calculated using tbonversion rate as of December 31, 2013 unldsxwise noted.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical companyged on developing innovative products for thattnent of urological diseases.
We are headquartered in San Diego, California am&common shares currently trade on the NASDAQ @&ldbarket, or NASDAQ. Effective
November 13, 2013, we voluntarily delisted from Tregonto Stock Exchange, or TSX. Subsequent to Ndpex 13, 2013, our securities
being actively traded on only the NASDAQ. We arerently developing PRX302 as a treatment for thagpms of benign prostatic
hyperplasia, or BPH, commonly referred to as aargeld prostate. Initially, most men with BPH widl treated with oral medications but many
will discontinue drug therapy due to inadequat@oese and/or side effects, which include sexuduiygdion and cardiovascular side effects.
They may then undergo a surgical procedure, whichbe painful and have potential long-term sexig& sffects, or may stop treatment
altogether. PRX302 is designed to be a convenieatrhent that is safer and less invasive than spaya more effective and better tolerated
than currently approved pharmaceutical therapiesur Phase 2b clinical trial, we saw significaytnptom relief from a single treatment of
PRX302 that was sustained throughout the followpepod of 12 months, and there were no drug-relatedtile dysfunction or cardiovascular
side effects reported. In 2009, we licensed exetugghts to PRX302 from UVIC Industry Partnerships., or UVIC, and The Johns Hopkins
University, or Johns Hopkins, for the treatmentha symptoms of BPH. In April 2010, we entered iatoexclusive license agreement with
Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., or Kissei, punstia which we granted Kissei the right to devedmgl commercialize PRX302 in Japan for
the treatment of the symptoms of BPH, prostate e@amcostatitis or other diseases of the prostate.

PRX302 (generic name: topsalysin), a geneticalldiffed recombinant protein, is delivered via ultsaad-guided injection directly into
the prostate. This membrane-disrupting proteirelscively activated by an enzyme in the prostetading to localized cell death and tissue
disruption without damage to neighboring tissue maeles. This method of administration limits tlirewation of the drug in the body, and we
believe that this limited systemic exposure todheg, together with how the drug is activated ia lblody, greatly diminishes the risk of side
effects. In our randomized, double-blind, placebatmlled Phase 2b clinical trial, PRX302 productdically meaningful and significant
improvement in both subjective and objective measwof BPH symptoms, including the Internationaldtate Symptom Score, or IPSS,
outcome measure.
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In October 2013 we initiated the first of two planPhase 3 clinical trials of PRX302 for the treatitrof the symptoms of BPH. Based
on feedback from our guidance meeting with the FDRebruary 2013, we expect to enroll approxima#el) patients in this Phase 3 clinical
trial. This Phase 3 clinical trial will use the I8®utcome measure evaluated over 12 months asitharp endpoint, which is consistent with
clinical trials of another injectable currently wmdlevelopment by a third party for the treatmédrihe symptoms of BPH. Assuming sufficient
capital resources, we plan to commence our secbage™3 clinical trial following an administrativeaysis by an independent data monitoring
committee conducted once all patients have conglree months in the first Phase 3 clinical tnethich analysis we expect to occur by the
end of 2014. The company and its representativitsemain blinded to the results of this administra analysis throughout the duration of the
study until after the database is locked at theclesion of the 12 month study.

On August 16, 2013, we commenced our U.S initidliswffering and listing on the NASDAQ pursuantadregistration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-186724) that was declaréelcéife by the Securities and Exchange CommissipAwgust 16, 2013 and that registerec
our common shares with a maximum aggregate offguiitg of $74.8 million. On August 23, 2013, weds®B,000,000 of our common shares
to the public at a price of $5.00 per share foaggregate gross offering price of $65 million.

Background on BPH

BPH is a non-cancerous enlargement of the progtatel that commonly affects men who are age 50oédet. BPH causes a restriction
in urine flow from the urethra resulting in lowetinary tract symptoms, or LUTS. BPH, and its asatea clinical manifestations of LUTS, is
one of the most common medical conditions of agiamp in the United States, with approximately 70% raged 60-69 years and 80% of men
older than the age of 70 being affected by BPH. Aimaber of men with symptoms of BPH is expecteithtoease as the male population ages
Our market research suggests that as many as Bénilen in the United States are affected by BRtH approximately 5 million of these
men suffering from bothersome symptoms. SymptontsiEl greatly diminishes a patient’s quality of lifecauses a significant array of
LUTS, including increased urinary frequency, urgeteurinate, frequent night-time urination, wealna stream, and incomplete emptying of
the bladder. In addition, men with BPH symptomspmeaslisposed to a higher risk of urinary tract étifens, urinary stone formation, bladder
damage, and in very late stage and/or unattendsss ceenal damage.

Current Therapies for BPH

Physicians and patients choose treatments forythptoms of BPH primarily based on the severityyohptoms, the patient’s quality of
life and the presence of other medical conditidmeatment options include watchful waiting, lifdstghanges, oral medications, minimally
invasive surgical therapies, or MIST, or more agginge surgical therapies, such as transurethratties of the prostate, or TURP, or open
prostatectomy. Our market research indicates fhatoaimately 3 million men in the United States taleing oral drug therapy and there were
approximately 200,000 surgical procedures for thattent of the symptoms of BPH conducted in 2011.

The effectiveness of treatments for the symptonBRii is measured by IPSS and improvement in paak @iow rate, or Qmax. IPSS is
a patient recorded, composite assessment thatit#kesccount factors such as ability to emptylitaglder, frequency of urination,
intermittency of urination, urgency of urinationeak strength of urine stream, straining while uiimg and having to urinate at night after
going to bed. This index is measured on a 0 tocateswith 0 being defined as having no problems2tdefined as the high end of severe
symptoms. Patients are typically considered to maNe symptoms with IPSS of 1 to 7, moderate symygtavith scores of 8 to 19 and severe
symptoms with scores of 20 to 35. An improvemer pbints in IPSS is generally considered clinicalleaningful by urologists. IPSS is a
validated primary clinical endpoint used to asskedreatment benefit in BPH clinical trials and sarved as the primary efficacy endpoint for
the approval of many products for the treatmernhefsymptoms of BPH. A difference of at least abhpimprovement in IPSS between active
and control is generally required for FDA approval.

Oral Drug Therapy

The most common form of therapy for men experieganild to moderate LUTS associated with BPH is dralg therapy. Current
classes of oral medications available for treatnoétite symptoms of BPH include-blockers, 5« -reductase inhibitors, or b-RIs, a
combination of am -blocker and 5e RI, and a phosphodiesterase Type 5 inhibitor, dE®DAna -blocker provides rapid relief of BPH
symptoms, but does not prevent continued growtheprostate. Examples efblockers include terazosin, doxazosin, tamsuladinzosin,
and silodosin. Frequently reported side effects-tflockers include hypotension, or low blood pressdizziness and feeling of weaknessa 5-
RIs, such as finasteride and dutasteride, redwecsiie of the prostate and thus provide symptoiefré may take up to six months from
starting treatment with 5 RI for the prostate to reduce in size and for pasi¢o experience the benefit of treatment. Siflecef include sexu
dysfunction. In addition, tadalafil (marketed by Eilly as Cialis®), a PDES5 inhibitor (a class of drugs typically srebed for erectile
dysfunction), was shown to improve IPSS after fwaeks of dosing and has been approved for treatofehe symptoms of BPH. Headache
and dyspepsia, or indigestion, are the most comymuimderved side effects of Ciafis which is not recommended for use in combinatidth w
ana -blocker because of the risk of hypotension.
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Many men will discontinue oral drug therapy duénadequate response and/or the above side effentsher drawback of the currently
available oral therapies is the necessity of taking or more pills daily. Published patient surdeja (N=2,166) suggests that as many as 579
of patients taking oral drug therapy discontinue wihin the first three years.

In previously completed clinical trials, each oésle classes of oral medications has typically predapproximately 3 to 6 point
reductions in IPSS, but the actual magnitude afttnent benefit observed compared to placebo isrgiynévo to three points.

Minimally Invasive Surgical Therapies

Minimally invasive surgical therapies used to tridet symptoms of BPH include transurethral microsvthermotherapy, or TUMT,
transurethral needle ablation, or TUNA, Urofifand green laser treatment, which delivers highggntr ablate the prostatic tissue as an
alternative to TURP. These treatments, frequeetigrred to as MIST, are generally less effectianthurgical procedures in reducing the size
of the prostate gland and often require retreatmihin three years. However, these treatments regyire catheterization and are still
associated with pain and the potential for comfiices such as bleeding and long-lasting side effeath as urinary incontinence and sexual
dysfunction, including erectile dysfunction andograde ejaculation (semen flowing backward inmhtadder). Studies of MIST procedures
have shown varying improvements in IPSS, with TU&R TUMT showing improvement in IPSS of approxirhafé® to 13 points.

Other Surgical Options

Surgical procedures such as TURP typically redheesize of the prostate gland and relieve the pressn the urethra by ablating the
prostate tissue that blocks the flow of urine. &saf surgical procedures have generally shownataehs in IPSS of approximately 16 points.
TURP is performed under spinal or general anesthesiich carries the risk of side effects. TURP mesult in nerve damage, bleeding
(sometimes requiring transfusion), and long-lassiu effects, such as urinary incontinence andaedysfunction, including erectile
dysfunction and retrograde ejaculation.

PRX302 for the Treatment of the Symptoms of BPH
Overview

PRX302 is designed to be a safe, simple and coemttreatment that provides rapid and sustainéef @l BPH symptoms. It is
delivered through a targeted injection into thesgaite, precisely ablating the prostate tissue witdamaging neighboring tissue and nerves.
This method of administration limits the circulatiof the drug in the body and we believe that liméed systemic exposure to the drug,
together with how the drug is activated in the haghgatly diminishes the risk of side effects. im ®hase 2b clinical trial, PRX302 has been
shown to significantly improve symptoms of BPH thgh 12 months of follow-up after a single treatment

3
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The injection of PRX302 is individualized to eadhtipnt based on the size of his prostate and ting idrdelivered in a procedure that car
be performed in a urologistoffice. The entire process can be completed duxishort office visit, and the actual injectiortlvé drug into eac
of the two lobes of the prostate takes approximdtekee minutes. A physician administering PRX30#/ralect to administer a local anesthetic
before injection. Most urologists are familiar witie transrectal route of administration, as thisssame method urologists use to take biopsie

of the prostate.

PRX302 Transrectal Administration Schematic

(LT

Market research we conducted with 100 urologisssdtewn that PRX302 compares favorably to bothtbexbpies and procedures on a
number of key attributes related to effectivensagety, tolerability, and burden placed on thegutiSpecifically, when shown results from
Phase 2b clinical trial, the physicians viewed PBX3s being more effective and having a betterefidet profile than currently available o
drugs. Administration of PRX302 was also perceigsdnore effective, safer, and easier to perform MEST procedures, TUNA and TUMT.
When compared to TURP surgery, PRX302 was alsepext as safer and easier to administer. In thikebaesearch, physicians indicated a
willingness to consider PRX302 as an alternativiedi oral therapies and surgical procedures asahaéwed PRX302 as a potential new
choice for men who have discontinued oral therapgae not willing to undergo a surgical procedure.

PRX302 - Mechanism of Action

PRX302 is a genetically altered form of the nalyratcurring protein proaerolysin. In nature, pnadysin is produced bjeromonas
bacteria, which are commonly found as a contamimafiesh water and fresh water fish. We have attehe sequence encoding the bacterial
protein so that PRX302 is only activated by acfivestate specific antigen, or PSA (as shown irfithee below), an enzyme that is produced
in large quantities in the prostate of men with BPH

Native Inactive Active
Pro-aerolysin protoin PRX302 PRX302

Notara Dermdar
At Deoimd
Auaproiysin

AChw RO
N
CTommanal Inhit

Cleavage

2 _}
4 by PSA

Cleavage ~—

by Furnn
PRX302 binds to the GPI-anchored receptors ondleuwrface of prostate cells. Once activated bg,AERX302 combines with other
activated PRX302 molecules, forming stable transhrame pores that induce cell death. We believetéingeeted prostate cell ablation will le
to relief of LUTS in patients with BPH. In additipRRX302 has not been detected in plasma followvijggtion into the prostate. The prostate
specific activation of PRX302 by enzymatically &etPSA thus limits exposure of non-prostate tissaelse drug’s activity, contributing to the
safety of the therapy.



Table of Contents

The mechanism of action is shown in the figure Welo

PRX302 Mechanism of Action

Binding: Cleavage: Oligomerization Cell Death:
and
PR*302 binds to Active PSA Transmembrane Cell contents leak
GPl-anchored cleaves tail, Pore Formation out causing cell
receptors and activating death
become aerolysin on cell
concentrated on surface, exposing
cell surface hydrophobic -
domains I’ E ° - .
= ®

Clinical Overview

To date, we have completed six clinical trials BX302 and we are currently enrolling patients infinst Phase 3 clinical trial for
PRX302. Four completed clinical trials were for theatment of the symptoms of BPH and two werdHertreatment of prostate cancer. Prior
to the initiation of our Phase 3 clinical trial BRX302 for the treatment of the symptoms of BPkhtal of 126 patients with moderate to se\
BPH symptoms and 30 patients with prostate canees been treated with PRX302, for a combined PRX8@idsure of 156 patients. In each
of the six trials, patients were monitored for 18mihs following a single treatment of PRX302.

We conducted five clinical trials using the trarm@peal route for the intraprostatic injection of RB02. In the most recent clinical trial \
used the transrectal route for intraprostatic e the route commonly used for biopsies of thestate. The transrectal route appears to be ¢
well-tolerated as the transperineal route and igerfemmiliar to urologists.

Clinical trials completed to date of PRX302 for theatment of the symptoms of BPH PRX302 have sbasily shown clinically
meaningful, sustained efficacy with regard to imnment in LUTS, as measured by IPSS and Qmaxtdnelard measures of the treatment o
symptoms for BPH. PRX302 has been well-tolerateallinompleted clinical studies to date. Adverserds in our completed clinical trials
were typically mild and transient in nature, lingdte local discomfort and irritative urinary sympts that generally occurred on the same day
as study drug injection. There were no drug-relaedtile dysfunction or cardiovascular side eBeefported.

Based on results from our completed clinical triale plan to conduct two multicenter, double-blidd#hase 3 clinical trials to confirm
the safety and efficacy of PRX302 injection via tfensrectal route for the treatment of moderatetere BPH symptoms the first of which
was initiated in October 2013. We believe thesdistuwill support obtaining marketing approval &X302 in the United States, Europe, and
other territories for the treatment of the symptahBPH.

Clinical Development in BPH
Our clinical program for PRX302 is summarized below
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Completed Clinical Development

CLINICAL TRIAL

PRX302z-2-03
TRIUMPH
Phase 2b

PRX302-2-06
Transrectal Study
Phase 1/2

PRX302-2-02
Phase 2a

PRX30z-2-01
Phase 1

STATUS

TRIAL DESIGN

Completed

Completed

Completed

Completed

Randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled tia single transperineal intraprostatic
treatment of PRX302

92 patients; 61 on PRX302; 31 on placebo
Dosing: 0.6 png/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volun

Randomized dose-escalation, multicenter trial sihgle transrectal intraprostatic treatment of
PRX302

40 patients; 32 on PRX302 in 4 dosing cohorts; ®lanebo
Dosing: 0.15ug/g, 0.30pg/g, 0.60p0/g, 1.2ug/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volun

Open-label, safety, volume escalation clinicall tviga single transperineal intraprostatic treattmen
of PRX302

18 patients
Dosing: 0.3ug/g, 0.6pg/g, 0.9ug/g
Volume: 10 to 30% of prostate volur

Open-label, safety, dose-escalation clinical wfa single transperineal intraprostatic treatnaodnt
PRX302

15 patients
Dosing: 0.025ug/g, 0.072ug/g, 0.25u9/g, 0.35ug/g
Volume: 1.5to 2.0 ml

Ongoing and Planned Clinical Development

CLINICAL TRIAL
PLUS-1
Phase 3 Trial #1

Phase 3 Trial #2

Open-Label Safety
Study
Phase 3

STATUS TRIAL DESIGN
Enrolling  Prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebofotiet clinical trial of a single transrectal
intraprostatic treatment of PRX302, which will i#é the IPSS outcome measure evaluated at 12
months as the primary endpoint
440 patients
Dosing: 0.6pg/g
Volume: 20% of prostate volun
Planned but Prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo+odiet clinical trial of a single transrectal
not initiated intraprostatic treatment of PRX302
Dosing: TBD
Volume: 20% of prostate volun
Planned but Safety of repeat dose and long-term safety of temtal intraprostatic treatment of PRX302
not initiated

Approximately 100 patients
Dosing: TBD
Volume: 20% of prostate volun

6
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PLUS-1 Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controll&cansrectal Route of Injection Clinical Trial

In October 2013 we initiated the first of two Ph&sdinical trials of PRX302 for treatment of thengptoms of BPH, which trial we
sometimes refer to as PLUS-1. Based on feedbaok éur guidance meeting with the FDA in February204e have decided to enroll
approximately 440 patients in this Phase 3 clintigal. This first Phase 3 clinical trial will berandomized, double-blind, dose confirmation,
multicenter, vehicle-controlled clinical trial tomefirm the efficacy and safety of a single treattrearPRX302 transrectally administered in
patients with moderate to severe LUTS due to BRtis Tulticenter, multinational clinical trial witkndomize patients across as many as 10(
clinical trial sites to one of two treatment grouphe primary outcome measure is the change fraalin in IPSS, which is the outcome
measure that has been used in previous clinieds tof PRX302 and for the regulatory approval @l onedications for treatment of the
symptoms of BPH as well as MIST procedures. Thange from baseline will be evaluated over 12 magmtisch time frame is consistent
with clinical trials of another injectable currgntinder development for the treatment of the symgtof BPH. Secondary outcome measures
will include an improvement in Qmax. In this filBhase 3 clinical trial, we intend to have an indej@at data monitoring committee conduc
administrative analysis once all patients have detad three months of treatment to assess safdtyraatment effect. The Company and its
representatives will remain blinded to the resoftthis administrative analysis throughout the ¢ioraof the study until after the database is
locked at the conclusion of the 12 month study.u\ssg sufficient capital resources, we plan to canoe our second Phase 3 clinical trial
following administrative analysis, which we expezibccur by the end of 2014.

TRIUMPH Phase 2b Randomized, Double-Blind, PlaceBontrolled Clinical Trial

In 2010, we completed TRIUMPH, a multicenter, ramized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled Phaselidlical trial of PRX302 in 92
patients with moderate to severe BPH symptoms pFineary objective of this clinical trial was to duate the effect on symptoms of BPH of
PRX302 versus placebo. Patients randomized to Iptaaehich is otherwise referred to as the vehiskere administered by injection an
equivalent volume of phosphabedfered saline that did not include active drugdarct. The patient population that we used to etalefficacy
in this clinical trial, as defined by the clinidailal protocol, was the efficacy evaluable, or pBpulation of patients, which was defined as tt
73 patients who (1) received the full treatmen},c@mpleted three month assessments, and (3) hadhjow protocol violation, as determined
by a blinded, independent review panel of urologyegts. The intent-to-treat, or ITT, and safetyigrattpopulations consisted of all 92 patients
who received any study drug. Our efficacy analysehkis clinical trial used the last observatiomregsd forward, or LOCF, method to impute
missing post-baseline data.

The results of this clinical trial were:

. PRX302 improved LUTS due to B We achieved the primary endpoint of this clinicgll, which was a statistically significant
improvement in IPSS at three months following itifme for patients treated with PRX302 versus pasiavho received vehicle.
PRX302 treatment resulted in a 9.1 average redudtidPSS, as compared to a 5.8 average reductipatients who received
vehicle (p=0.040)

. Improvement was clinically meaningful, rapid andtsined— Improvement in IPSS was observed as early ag¢ d
following injection and was sustained through tivelfth month of observation. This improvement irs8was clinically
meaningful, and superior to vehic

. Improvement in Qma— PRX302 treatment resulted in an approximatelynd.Isec average increase in Qmax at three
months, as compared to 1.3 mL/sec for vehicle (@0. The improvement in Qmax for PRX302 was apmparem the firs
pos-baseline assessment and sustained through théhtwedhth of observatiol

. PRX302 was we-tolerated— The PRX302 injection was well-tolerated by patdn this clinical trial. The most common adverse
events that were potentially attributable to PRX&62 set forth in the table below. These adversats\generally are not
unexpected manifestations of the intraprostatiutzldestruction and inflammation integral to #i8@X302 mechanism of action.
The median duration for each of these adverse sweas typically less than two days. In generakéhadverse events were mild
and transient, began within the first few daysrafteatment (primarily on the same day as the stirdyg injection) and were
resolved without further complicatior

There were no drugelated erectile dysfunction or cardiovascular gffects reported in this clinical trial. In addit, 16.1% of patients
the vehicle group dropped out of the study du@atl bf efficacy and the need for alternative thgrap compared to 3.3% of patients in the
active group.
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Adverse Events Occurring in= 5% of Subjects treated with PRX302 (ITT Population)

Vehicle (N=31 PRX302 (N=61
Adverse Event(®) n (%) n (%)
Hematuria, or presence of red blood cells in urine 11(35.H) 18(29.)
Dysuria, or painful urinatio 2(6.5) 17(27.9)
Pollakiuria, or increased frequency of urinat 5(16.]) 14(23.0)
Micturition Urgency, or urgency of urinatic 3(9.7) 13(21.9)
Perineal Pail 0(0.0 7(11.9
Vertigo 2(6.5) 4(6.€)
Malaise 0(0.0 4(6.€)

(1) MedDRA Dictionan-coded preferred term

In summary, these results demonstrate that PRX8@Ble to maintain a treatment benefit based om inetasures of efficacy, IPSS and
Qmax, which is clinically meaningful and sustairfiedthe 12 months of monitoring in this clinicaikr
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IPSS and Qmax in the Phase 2b BPH TRIUMPH Clinicafrial
N=73 Efficacy-Evaluable Patients using LOCF; 52 BRX and 21 Vehicle
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In our studies and other intraprostatic injectitudies, vehicle response rates of 5 to 7 point aw@ments in IPSS have been observed.
We believe that the vehicle response is due intpatte fluid injection potentially ablating prosacells.

Although the clinical trial protocol did not speciin ITT population analysis, an improvement of @ots in IPSS was observed in the
active group of the ITT population. This was nattistically significant when compared to an impnmesnt in the vehicle group of 7.2 points.
Thirteen percent of the active group and 23% ofvtdcle group were included in the ITT populatimrt not included in the EE population
because they were deemed major protocol violaassd on confounding factors. Examples of confounéictors were taking prohibited
medications, including other medications to tréatdymptoms of BPH, or undergoing prohibited proces during the clinical trial.

Transrectal Phase 1/2, Randomized, Double-Blinda&tbo-Controlled Clinical Trial in BPH

In March 2012, we completed dosing in a multicemandomized, double-blinded, vehicle-controllea&h1/2 clinical trial of PRX302
using the transrectal route of administration fa intraprostatic injection of PRX302. Each of finevious clinical trials used transrectal
ultrasound to guide the intraprostatic injectiont this clinical trial was the first to use the tigo as the route of administration rather than
passing the needle through the perineum. The gat@moute has the advantage of being very sirtoléine routine prostate biopsy procedure,
and therefore requires little extra training foe fracticing urologist. The primary endpoint okthlinical trial was to evaluate the three-month
safety and tolerability of escalating doses of PBX3The safety data from this new route of admiai&gin of PRX302 were needed for a
comparison with the safety profile obtained fromn previously-conducted Phase 1 and 2 clinicalgriaiich utilized a transperineal route of
administration.

We enrolled 40 patients with moderate to severe BfaHptoms in this clinical trial who were randondze PRX302 or placebo in a 4:1
ratio within each of the four escalating dose cthokll patients in this clinical trial receivedsingle, transrectal, intraprostatic treatment of
study drug or vehicle at 20% of the patient’s patestvolume, in four sequential cohorts accordingsealating PRX302 dose: 0.15, 0.30, 0.60,
and 1.20 pg/g prostate. Dose escalation decisiens guided by an independent data monitoring coteenfor each new cohort after all
patients in the previous cohort had been followsdaf least 15 days after study drug administration

The results of this clinical trial showed that PRI23vas generally well-tolerated. The side effecfif# in this transrectal clinical trial
was consistent with the side effects reported énpitevious, transperineal PRX302 clinical triafglicating that PRX302 injection by the
transrectal route was tolerated at least as weéll@gsransperineal route. There was one seriousraeevent that was deemed by the investi
to be related to injection of PRX302 in this clalitrial. This serious adverse event of urinargméibn required an indwelling catheter followed
by TUNA. There were no reports of sepsis in thisicél trial. With the switch to a transrectal rewtf administration, there is a potential risk of
sepsis as currently the rate of sepsis with predtaipsies in the United States is approximateb¥@-However, prostate biopsies involve as
many as 20 punctures and a large needle, whereé3RRadministration requires only two punctureswétsmaller needle. There were no
drug-related erectile dysfunction or cardiovascslde effects reported in this clinical trial.
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The small sample size of only eight patients on B&%and two patients on vehicle in each cohortinsisfficient to show statistically
significant improvements in BPH symptoms comparedehicle. Although improvement in IPSS was notacweerage for all dose cohorts
through 12 months, there is no meaningful diffeeebetween PRX302 and vehicle-treated patients. &d\eotibelieve that any conclusions
about efficacy can be drawn from this study duthéosmall sample size.

In our TRIUMPH clinical trial, we observed pasfection transient elevations of two markers: P&Anarker of prostate tissue disrupt
and serum C-reactive protein, or CRP, a non-specifirker of associated inflammation. Post-injectramsient elevations in PSA and CRP
were also observed in the transrectal study, stiggethat the targeted delivery of PRX302 to thesprate is successfully achieved with either
the transperineal or the transrectal route of athtnation.

Phase 2a Open-Label Clinical Trial in BPH (PRX302-22)

In 2009, we completed an open-label, multicentegge 2a clinical trial in BPH to evaluate the sagetd tolerability of PRX302. We
enrolled 18 patients with moderate to severe BRHAmYmMSs who were either unresponsive to, intolet@otr unwilling to use oral medications
for treatment of the symptoms of BPH. In this dalitrial, three cohorts of six patients each rneeia single treatment of PRX302
administered via transperineal injection. We meadtinerapeutic activity through changes in IPSSagQrand quality of life scores compared
to baseline scores at screening. In addition, weittied changes in prostate volume. In this clinidal, PRX302 was well-tolerated and
patients attained meaningful symptomatic reliebtigh follow up of 12 months following a single th@&nt. Based on the results of this clin
trial, we identified 20% of total prostate volun®aur volume dose for our Phase 2b clinical trial.

Phase 1 Open-Label Clinical Trial in BPH (PRX302-21)

In 2008, we completed an open-label, multicentegge 1 clinical trial in BPH to evaluate the dosPRX302 needed to demonstrate
therapeutic activity following a single treatmeas, well as to evaluate safety and tolerability. &ieolled 15 patients with moderate to severe
BPH symptoms who were either unresponsive to,énamit to or unwilling to use oral medications f@atment of the symptoms of BPH. We
administered PRX302 to five cohorts of three pasieach at escalating doses of PRX302. PRX302 wlsalerated.

Plans For Future Clinical Development

To date, no patients have been administered maredhe treatment of PRX302. Assuming sufficienitedpesources, we are planning
initiate an open label repeat dose clinical trigfidoe the end of 2015, in which patients from eansrectal clinical trial, as well as patients ft
our first Phase 3 clinical trial, will be eligibte receive a repeat dose of PRX302, at least 12hmadter their first dose. We believe this
planned repeat dose Phase 3 clinical trial is supgdoy results from our pre-clinical study of rapdosing in monkeys. In this pre-clinical
study, two treatments of PRX302 were given to mgakes days apart. Data from this study indicated BHRX302 resulted in ablation of cells
after both the first and the second dose, evehdrmptesence of circulating antibodies, and didresalt in hypersensitivity.

Clinical Development in Prostate Cancer
Phase 2 Open-Label Clinical Trial in Prostate Cance

We completed a Phase 2 clinical trial in prostatecer in September 2009 in six patients with bigm®yen, locally-recurrent prostate
cancer that, following radiation therapy, showeghsiof disease progression evidenced by risinddefd®SA. Therapeutic activity in the form
of overall decreases in PSA levels and in the nurabadenocarcinompesitive biopsy cores following PRX302 treatmenswéserved in tw
of six patients.

While our current development of PRX302 is focusadhe treatment of the symptoms of BPH, basedhemdsults of this clinical trial,
we will continue to evaluate future developmenpiostate cancer.

Phase 1 Open-Label Clinical Trial in Prostate Cance

In May 2008, we completed a multicenter, open-lathese-escalation Phase 1 clinical trial of PRXB024 patients in the United States
with biopsy-proven, locally-recurrent prostate carthat, following radiation therapy, showed sighslisease progression evidenced by rising
levels of PSA. Elevated and rising levels of PSA ba a sign of the presence or progression of gsancer. The primary clinical endpoin
this clinical trial was to examine the safety aoletability of PRX302 with therapeutic activity #iee secondary clinical endpoint. Clinical trial
results demonstrated that PRX302 was well-toleratetishowed early signs of therapeutic activitjofeing a single intraprostatic treatment.
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No PRX302 treatment-related serious adverse evestes reported and the treatment-related adversetsfthat were reported were mild
and were primarily associated with the injectiongadure.

Our Strategy

Our business strategy is to develop and commezeiainovative products for the treatment of uratagjdiseases. The elements of our
strategy include the following:

. Complete clinical development of PRX302 for thatirent of the symptoms of BPRRX302 previously achieved its primary
efficacy endpoint in a completed Phase 2b cliri¢al in patients with moderate to severe BPH syons. We intend to conduct
two Phase 3 clinical trials based upon guidance fitte FDA and European regulatory agencies. Wiaiad the first such clinical
trial in October 2013. If our Phase 3 clinical Isiare successful, we plan to submit a biologimsrise application, or BLA, to the
FDA and marketing authorization application, or MAA the European Medicines Agency, or EN

. Maximize the commercial potential of PRX:. If approved, we intend to commercialize PRX30@na or with a partner, in the
United States, and to enter into collaborationrageanents for commercialization in other mark

. Evaluate further development of PRX302 in prostatecer. Our current development of PRX302 is focusedhantteatment of the
symptoms of BPH. We will continue to evaluate fetdevelopment of PRX302 in prostate can

. Opportunistically in-license or acquire additionginical-stage product candidates or approved pradun our area of focusWe
may enhance our product pipeline through stratdéigiagalicensing or acquiring clinical stage prodwandidates or approved
products for urological diseases. We believe thatexperience with developing urology therapeutiey make us an attractive
partner for companies seeking to-license products or develop product candidateBiiarea of focus

Competition

We expect that PRX302 will compete with the curtesatment options for the symptoms of BPH, whintlude oral drug therapy and
surgery. Oral drug therapies include @}blockers, such as tamsulosin (marketed under watimde names by numerous companies,
including as Flomag by Astellas Pharma), alfuzosin (marketed in thetéthStates by Sanofi as Uroxatfgl doxazosin (marketed by Pfizer
as Cardur® and CarduraXL®) and silodosin (marketed by Watson PharmaceutasaRapafl® in the United States), (b) & reductase
inhibitors, such as dutasteride (marketed by Glaxitt8<line plc as Avodar®) and finasteride (marketed by Merck & Co., IncPasscaP),
and (c) combinations af -blockers and 5e reductase inhibitors such as tamsulosin and dutdstémarketed by GSK as Jal§n. In addition,
Eli Lilly and Company’s oral drug tadalafil (marketas Ciali® ), a PDE5 inhibitor, obtained FDA approval for theatment of the symptoms
of BPH in October 2011. Several MIST proceduresaarglable, including transurethral microwave thetinerapy, or TUMT, TUNA, photo-
selective vaporization of prostate, holmium lagarateation of the prostate, transurethral elecéqoovization of the prostate, Urolift, which is
designed to open the urethra directly without thechto resect or ablate prostate tissue and iitigriiser coagulation. Currently, the most
commonly used MIST procedures are laser ablatibtiseoprostate, TUMT, and TUNA. Surgery for BPHatr@ent is usually considered in
patients who fail drug therapy as a result of sfiects or inadequate relief of symptoms, haveactfiry urinary retention, or have recurrent
urinary tract infections. Alternatively, surgery ynae the initial treatment in patients with sever@ary symptoms. Surgical procedures for
BPH include TURP, as well as other procedures asdhansurethral incision of the prostate and trnastbral vaporization of the prostate.

In addition, there are other treatments that areeatly in clinical development for the treatmefitite symptoms of BPH. Nymox
Pharmaceutical Corporation’s injectable NX-120@usrently in Phase 3 clinical trials for the treatmof the symptoms of BPH. Light
Sciences Oncology Inc.’s Aptocifld is currently in Phase 2 clinical trials for theatnment of the symptoms of BPH.
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Sales and Marketing

We do not currently have a sales, marketing oritlisfion organization. We intend to commercialiZeX¥302 alone by establishing, eitl
internally or through a contract sales force, dagy sales force to sell PRX302, if approved, i@ tnited States, or through partnership. We
plan to partner with third parties to commercial2®X302 outside the United States.

Specifically, we intend to:

. establish a sales force in the United States ofgaupced urology and other speci-care sales representativ
. build a marketing organizatio

. establish commercialization alliances with largemore specialized pharmaceutical and sales orgtoiis; anc

. generate and use pharmacoeconomic data to suppart$t savings and therapeutic benefits of PRX

Manufacturing

We neither currently possess nor do we plan toldpveur own manufacturing capabilities. All of auanufacturing is, and will be,
outsourced to third parties with oversight by siernal managers. In 2007, we entered into a matwrfag and supply agreement with Don
pharma S.P.A., or Dompé, to manufacture batch&R¥302 drug substance. Technology transfer andegsoscale-up activities were
conducted in late 2009 and early 2010 by Dompé thié manufacture of clinical trial supplies of P§02 completed during 2010, including
the clinical trial supply that we anticipate neeggfor the first Phase 3 clinical trial. In 2011, emetered into a manufacturing and supply
agreement with Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & O8,kor B, to manufacture PRX302. The manufacturBRX302 drug substance sti
with a vial of the working cell bank @&eromonas salmonicidaacteria which is then processed through four aartsee stages involving:
batch fermentation and harvest, purification usmmobilized metal affinity chromatography, purift@a using an ionic exchange
chromatography and bulk formulation of PRX302 dsufstance. The entire manufacturing process tgg@exdimately two weeks.

There has been a successful transfer of the teoimdbr both the production and release of PRX36thfDompé to Bl and scale-up up
to the commercial batch size is underway which wgeet to complete by the end of 2014. This fullscmmmercial batch will be used to
supply drug product for the second Phase 3 clirticl Although PRX302 is manufactured from regdilailable materials using standard
pharmaceutical methods and equipment, any replatesh®| as our manufacturer may lead to significdelays and increase our costs.

Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & Co KG

In June 2012, we entered into a technology traresfdrsupply agreement with BlI, for the provisionetthnology transfer services and
the establishment of certain manufacturing procegse and the manufacture of, purified PRX302,dHeting agent for use in PRX302 drug
products and placebos, and a placebo to be usditiical trials. We will be required to make payneehbased upon the provision and
completion of certain tasks specified in the agreeimStarting in 2013, the prices of Bl's serviegh be adjusted annually based on the
average of the Austrian trade index and the avesagedard Wages Index, both as of July of the pteviear, subject to certain restrictions
will be required to manufacture the products ir With certain project timelines. If we postpone gerformance of any services, we may be
required to pay certain postponement fees. Additlgnif we cancel any services we will be requitegay the entire cost for such services
the entire cost of any materials that cannot bermetd by Bl to the appropriate vendor or otherwised by BI. If we are required to have any
product manufactured outside our expected manufagtaycles due to an unforeseen loss of produetywll have to work with Bl to arrange
an available manufacturing slot and our receiftrafy product may be delayed. Bl must provide allises under the agreement, including the
manufacture, packaging, storing and delivery of BBXdrug products, in accordance with cGMP (améefbelow), as specified by the FDA.
The agreement has an initial term of six yearswiticautomatically renew for a single five-year et unless either party objects to such
renewal at least two-years prior to the expiratbthe agreement. Either party may terminate thheeagent early for cause, including for any
uncured material breach of the agreement, the ptinty’s insolvency or the assignment of the offeety’s rights or obligations to a direct
competitor of the non-assigning party. Additionaillye have the right to terminate the agreement idiately upon the rejection or non-
approval of a regulatory filing due to medical,etgfor regulatory concerns or in the event thaaba@ndon our clinical program for PRX302
due to any clinical failure, subject in each caspayment of specified termination costs to Bl.
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Intellectual Property

We hold commercial rights to PRX302 in major mask&tcluding, Canada, the United States, Europefaial (except Japan where we
have licensed the rights to Kissei). We in-licenB&KX302 from UVIC and Johns Hopkins. Our succedlsdepend in large part on our ability
to obtain, maintain, defend and enforce patentsodimer proprietary technology rights. We file anndgecute patent applications to protect our
proprietary discoveries. In addition to patent potibn, we also seek to rely on trade secret piotgdrademark protection and know-how to
expand our proprietary position around our techgwplaiscoveries and inventions that we considemirgmt to our business. We also seek to
protect our intellectual property in part by enterinto confidentiality agreements and/or invent@signment agreements with our employees
consultants, scientific advisors, and certain ctiasts and investigators that grant us ownershignyfdiscoveries or inventions made by them
Further, we seek trademark protection in CanadaUthited States and certain other countries wheagadble and when we deem appropriate.
We have applied for registration of the Sophirglemark, which we use in connection with our phaeutcal research and development
services as well as our clinical-stage product ithids in Europe, Canada, Japan and the UnitedsStat

Patents and patent applications covering PRX302hie own or license are covered by issued patemigpatent applications under the
following five patent families:

. Proaerolysin Containing Protease Activationugegges and Methods of Use for Treatment of Pro§tateer (exclusively
licensed);

. Method of Treating the Symptoms of Benign PatistHyperplasia Using Modified Pore-Forming Proge{exclusively
licensed);

. Formulations and Methods of Administration (ownegduis); anc

. Method for Treating Prostatitis Utilizing Modifidelore-Forming Protein Proaerolysin (exclusively licenst

We own or have exclusively licensed four issuedtéthBtates patents related to our prostate produ&hv.838266 (prostate cancer)
expiring in 2022, US 7282476 (prostate cancer)ranxgin 2023, US 7745395 (prostate cancer) exping023, and US 8278279 (prostatitis)
expiring in 2029, as well as 6 issued patents imtiies including Australia, China, the EuropeateRaOffice (including 17 extension states),
India, Japan, and South Africa expiring in 202pa8ents in the European Patent Office (including@di#nsion states), Japan, China, Australic
New Zealand, Israel, Singapore, and South Afrigaréng in 2026, and 13 additional pending U.S. andbreign patent applications
Australia, Canada, the European Patent Officealntipan, and South Korea variously set to expig®22, 2026, 2029, or 2031. This portf
includes issued U.S. patents that cover the coripsif PRX302 or methods of using PRX302 to trgatstatitis or prostate cancer, as well as
a pending U.S. patent application that covers ththod of using PRX302 to treat the symptoms of BPtts portfolio includes two issued
Chinese patents. To date, we have not sought tsenény issued patents in China. We cannot giyeaasurances that we will be able to
enforce our patents in China to the same degreéevihaould in the United States.

Technology Licenses
Exclusive License Agreement with UVIC Industry Padrships Inc. and The Johns Hopkins University f&PH

In October 2009, we entered into an exclusive Beesgreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins with ressfethe use of PRX302 for the
development of therapeutics for the symptoms of BIRH other non-cancer diseases and conditioneqfrthstate. The agreement was
amended on July 1, 2010. Such amendment did nogehthe material terms of the agreement. We havedht to grant sublicenses to third
parties under the agreement provided that sucliceumises meet certain criteria.

In order to secure the license, we paid an initahse fee of CND$45,000, or $39,000, applyingdbeversion rate as of the date of
payment. In addition, we are required to pay aruahlicense maintenance fee and are obligatedyt@ geercentage of gross sales for licensed
products sold by us, our affiliates or our subleees during the term of the agreement. Such pageis in the low single-digits. Furthermore,
we are required to make payments based upon thevaahent of specific development and regulatorestdnes separated among the
indications of BPH and two additional therapeutidications selected by us, totaling up to approxeiyaCND$1.3 million, or $1.2 million, as
converted. In the event we receive consideratiomgifanting a sublicense, we are obligated to paydJdd Johns Hopkins a percentage of
such consideration, which percentage is in the 9%-tange, depending upon the rights granted umhgesublicense agreement. To the extent
we receive any milestone payments relating to theebpment of therapeutics for the treatment ofsmaptoms of BPH under our exclusive
license agreement with Kissei Pharmaceutical Cid., or Kissei, we are obligated to pay a percemtgsuch consideration, which percentage
is in the 10-19% range, to UVIC and Johns HopKimsyever, pursuant to a separate agreement whianteeed into in 2003 with Dr. J.
Thomas Buckley, one of our founders, the aggregaeunt of such consideration payable by us to Ust@ Johns Hopkins is reduced by
25%.

Under the terms of the agreement, we are requirede reasonable commercial efforts to developcantmercialize the technology
covered by the agreement, and in this regard, we agreed to put a business plan covering the riagkend commercialization of such
technology in place. Our failure to commercialize technology covered by the agreement may rastdrinination of the agreement.
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The term of the agreement will, on a country-by+oy basis, continue until expiration of the lasekpire issued patent or, if no patent
has issued in such country, then 20 years afteeffeetive date of the agreement. UVIC and Johngkiis have a unilateral right to terminate
the agreement upon notice if we become insolveatse to carry out our business, subject the licktezdanology to any third-party security
interest or breach any of our obligations undes #yreement if such breach has remained uncuréfdays following written notice thereof.
In addition, the agreement may automatically teatenn the event we undergo bankruptcy proceedings.

Exclusive License Agreement with UVIC Industry Padrships Inc. and The Johns Hopkins University f@rostate Cancer

In September 2004, we entered into an exclusiemnsie agreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins, wipeet to the use of PRX302 for
the development of therapeutics for prostate cafdes agreement was amended on December 8, 2@D4uén1, 2010. Such amendments dic
not change the material terms of the agreementthéaierm of this agreement, we have an exclugiyg of first option to obtain a license for
future improvements to the patent rights coverethieyagreement. In addition, we have the rightramgsublicenses to third parties under the
agreement provided that such sublicenses meeirceriteria.

In order to secure the license, we paid an initahse fee of CND$75,000, or $62,000, applyingdbeversion rate as of the date of
payment, and a reimbursement fee of CND$28,008$241000, applying the conversion rate as of the dapayment, to cover expenses
associated with the filing and maintenance fegsaténts covered by the agreement. In addition,re@ezjuired to pay an annual license
maintenance fee and are obligated to pay a pegentagross sales for licensed products sold bypwsaffiliates or our sublicensees during
term of the agreement. Such percentage is in thesilogle-digits and is subject to adjustment irtaiarcircumstances. We are also required to
make payments based upon the achievement of spdeifelopment and regulatory milestones totalingougpproximately CND$3.6 million,
or $3.4 million, as converted. In the event we rezeonsideration for granting a sublicense, weddnlegated to pay UVIC and Johns Hopkir
percentage of such consideration, which perceritaigethe 20-29% range, including any future coasation we may receive under our
exclusive license agreement with Kissei relatingewelopment of therapeutics for the treatmentro$fate cancer. Furthermore, we issued
3,420 common shares to Johns Hopkins and 1,710 ocorstrares to UVIC in partial consideration for thyhts granted to us under the
agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, we are requirede reasonable commercial efforts to developcantmercialize the technology
covered by the agreement, and in this regard, agkeed to put a business plan in place. Our faitummmercialize the technology covered
by the agreement may result in termination of tyeement.

The term of the agreement will, on a country-by+oyi basis, continue until expiration of the laseikpire issued patent or, if no patent
has issued in such country, then 20 years afteeffeetive date of the agreement.

UVIC and Johns Hopkins have a unilateral rightetartinate the agreement upon notice if we beconmviest, cease to carry out our
business, subject the licensed technology to atyrig interest or breach any of our obligationsl@nthis agreement if such breach has
remained uncured for 60 days following written netthereof. In addition, the agreement may autaaligiterminate in the event we undergo
bankruptcy proceedings.

Strategic Relationship with Kissei Pharmaceutical @., Ltd.

In April 2010, we entered into an exclusive liceaggeement with Kissei, for the development androencialization of PRX302 (and
other products covered by the licensed patent3yan for the treatment of the symptoms of BPHstpte cancer, prostatitis or other diseases
of the prostate. Under the terms of the licenseséiiis permitted to sublicense its rights if dartanditions are met.
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In order to secure the license, Kissei paid usmfrant payment of $3.0 million. During the yearded December 31, 2013, we recorded
as revenue a $5.0 million non-refundable milestmmgnent due from Kissei upon the achievement dazedevelopment activities. We
received payment for the milestone in April 201Batdition, we remain eligible to receive up to@pgmately $67.0 million in additional
payments contingent upon achievement of specifea@ldpment, regulatory and commercial milestonesiesof which are in Kissei's sole
discretion to achieve, separated among the indicaibf BPH, prostate cancer, and prostatitis oeradiseases of the prostate, as well as the
achievement of overall accumulated gross saledsléoesuch indications. The additional $67.0 roifliof non-refundable milestone payments
is comprised as follows: aggregate milestone paysnefi$12.0 million are related to the BPH indioati of which $7.0 million relates to the
completion of regulatory approvals and $5.0 millretates to the achievement of certain product gadds; a total of $21.0 million is related to
the prostate cancer indication, of which $7.0 wiilrelates to the completion of development adgisjt$7.0 million relates to the completion
regulatory approvals and $7.0 million relates ® alchievement of certain product sale goals; aothhof $21.0 million is related to prostatitis
or other diseases of the prostate, of which $7Iomirelates to the completion of developmenttitis, $7.0 million relates to the completion
of regulatory approvals and $7.0 million relateshe achievement of certain product sale goalsadditional $13.0 million of aggregate
milestone payments are not indication specifiaybich $5.0 million relates to the completion of uéagory approvals and $8.0 million relate
the achievement of certain product sale goalsdttition, we may receive a drug supply fee and tyyahyments in the 20-29% range as a
percentage of future net sales of licensed prodiugdtsunder the agreement. The royalties payabl€iggei are subject to reductions or offsets
in certain circumstances. Kissei's royalty obligag continue until the later of expiration of thstlvalid claim in the licensed patents covering
the applicable licensed product, or 10 years diftercommercial sale of such licensed productapah. Kissei is responsible for all costs
associated with the development, regulatory appraeeamercialization and marketing of PRX302 inaap

Kissei may unilaterally terminate the agreemerdyjated that if such termination occurs after coneigdaunch of a product under the
agreement, Kissei must provide us with six montti@r pvritten notice. Absent early termination, veclusive license agreement will remain in
effect until Kissei or its sublicensees or affidiatdiscontinue the sale of products under the axgee

Regulatory Overview

Our business and operations are subject to a yariei.S. federal, state and local, and foreignrangtional, national, provincial and
municipal laws, regulations and trade practice® FDA and comparable regulatory authorities inestaid local jurisdictions and in other
countries impose substantial and burdensome regeairts upon companies involved in the clinical depaient, manufacture, marketing and
distribution of drugs and biologics. These agenaias other federal, state and local entities regutssearch and development activities and tf
testing, manufacture, quality control, safety, efifeeness, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, apradvertising and promotion, and export
import of our product candidate.

U.S. Government Regulation
U.S. Drug Development Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs aolddic products under the Federal Food, Drug aagniztic Act, or FDCA, (21 U.S.t
8301, et seq), its implementing regulations, am@éiolaws, including, in the case of biologics, Eheblic Health Service Act. Our product
candidate, PRX302, is subject to regulation byRB& as a biologic. Biologics require the submissiém BLA to the FDA and approval of t
BLA by the FDA before marketing in the United Stat&he process of obtaining regulatory approvaleéonmercial sale and distribution and
the subsequent compliance with applicable fedstale, local and foreign statutes and regulatiegaire the expenditure of substantial time
and financial resources. Failure to comply with dipplicable U.S. requirements at any time durirggtoduct development process, approval
process or after approval, may subject an applimeatiministrative or judicial civil or criminal sations. These sanctions could include the
FDA's refusal to approve pending applications,i&e suspension or revocation, withdrawal of an@gy imposition of a clinical hold on
clinical trials, warning letters, product recallspduct seizures, total or partial suspension oflpction or distribution, injunctions, fines,
refusals of government contracts, restitution, aiggment or civil and/or criminal penalties. Thegess required by the FDA before a biologic
may be marketed in the United States generallyliregothe following:

. completion of preclinical laboratory tests,raal studies and formulation studies performed moedance with the FDA'’s
current Good Laboratory Practices, or GLP, regoiet]

. submission to the FDA of an investigational ranwg application, or IND, which must become effieztbefore human
clinical trials in the United States may bec

. performance of adequate and well-controlled &nilinical trials in accordance with the FDA's @nt good clinical
practices, or GCP, regulations to establish thetgad efficacy of the product candidate foriitended use
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. submission to the FDA of a BL/

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortlod manufacturing facility or facilities where theoduct is produced to
assess compliance with the FDA's current good metufing practice standards, or cGMP, regulatiorassure that the
facilities, methods and controls are adequatedsgive the prodl’s identity, strength, quality and puri

. potential audits by the FDA of the nonclinical arlishical trial sites that generated the data inpsupof the BLA;
. review of the BLA by an external Advisory Committigethe FDA, whose recommendations are not bindimthe FDA; an

. FDA review and approval of the BLA prior to any corarcial marketing or sal

Before testing any compounds with potential thenéipevalue in humans, the drug candidate enterptielinical testing stage.
Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationpmfduct chemistry, stability and formulation, aslvas animal studies to assess the potential
toxicity and activity of the product candidate. Tdenduct of the preclinical tests must comply vi@teral regulations and requirements
including GLPs. The sponsor must submit the regiltee preclinical tests, together with manufaictyinformation, analytical data, any
available clinical data or literature and a propbsknical protocol, to the FDA as part of the INChe IND automatically becomes effective 30
days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA misancerns or questions about the conduct of thieal trial, including concerns that human
research subjects will be exposed to unreasonaalighirisks. In such a case, the IND sponsor aadFEPA must resolve any outstanding
concerns before the clinical trial can begin. TBEAFmMay also impose clinical holds on a product d¢daté at any time before or during clinical
trials due to safety concerns or non-compliancégoother reasons.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theggluct candidate to human subjects under the sigg@mof qualified investigators,
generally physicians not employed by or under thmécal trial sponsor’s control. Clinical trialserconducted under protocols detailing, amonc
other things, the objectives of the clinical triddsing procedures, subject selection and exclusiteria, and the parameters to be used to
monitor subject safety and effectiveness. Eactopmtmust be submitted to the FDA as part of thB.IRlinical trials must be conducted in
accordance with GCPs. Further, each clinical tiakt be reviewed and approved by an IRB at or seryieach institution at which the clinic
trial will be conducted. An IRB is charged with proting the welfare and rights of clinical trialrpeipants and considers such items as wh
the risks to individuals participating in the ctial trials are minimized and are reasonable irtiogldo anticipated benefits. The IRB also
approves the form and content of the informed coneat must be signed by each clinical trial sabge his or her legal representative and
must monitor the clinical trial until completed. Man clinical trials are typically conducted in thrgequential phases that may overlap or be
combined:

. Phase 1The product candidate is initially introduced iatéimited population of healthy human subjects tastied for safety,
dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distabwtnd excretion. In the case of some productsdare diseases, or when the
product may be too inherently toxic to ethicallyradister to healthy volunteers, the initial humasting is often conducted in
patients with the disease or condition for whioh phoduct candidate is intended to gain an eadication of its effectivenes

. Phase 2The product candidate is evaluated in a limitedepaipopulation (but larger than in Phase 1) taniifg possible adverse
effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evalutite efficacy of the product for specific targetedications and to assess dosage
tolerance, optimal dosage and dosing schei

. Phase 3Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluddsage, and provide substantial evidence of clieiffcacy and safety in
an expanded patient population (such as severarbdrio several thousand) at geographically diggectinical trial sites. Phase 3
clinical trials are typically conducted when Phasdinical trials demonstrate that a dose rang@fproduct candidate is effective
and has an acceptable safety profile. These tyipisally have at least two groups of patients wiha blinded fashion, receive
either the product or a placebo. Phase 3 clinicbtare intended to establish the overall riskéfie ratio of the product and provi
an adequate basis for product labeling. Genetally, adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinigalst are required by the FDA
for approval of a BLA

Post-approval studies, sometimes referred to aseéPhalinical trials, may be conducted after ihitierketing approval. These studies are
used to gain additional experience from the treatro€patients in the intended therapeutic indaato further assess the biologic’s safety anc
effectiveness after BLA approval. Phase 4 studieshe initiated by the drug sponsor or as a camditi BLA approval by the FDA.

16



Table of Contents

Annual progress reports detailing the results efdlmical trials must be submitted to the FDA awritten IND safety reports must be
promptly submitted to the FDA and the investigaforsserious and unexpected adverse events oriaing from tests in laboratory animals
that suggests a significant risk for human subjects

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatmplete additional animal studies and must alselde additional information about
the chemistry and physical characteristics of tléolgic and finalize a process for manufacturing fimoduct in commercial quantities in
accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufagysincess must be capable of consistently produgiradjty batches of the product
candidate and, among other things, must developadstfor testing the identity, strength, qualityl qnurity of the final biologic product.
Additionally, appropriate packaging must be seléeted tested and stability studies must be conduotdemonstrate that the product
candidate does not undergo unacceptable detedpratier its shelf life.

U.S. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development, preclinicatligs and clinical trials, along with descriptiorfglee manufacturing process, analytical
tests, proposed labeling and other relevant inftionare submitted to the FDA in the form of a Bt#questing approval to market the proc
for one or more specified indications. The subrmisgif a BLA is subject to the payment of substdniszr fees.

Once the FDA receives a BLA, it has 60 days toaewhe BLA to determine if it is substantially colete and the data is readable, be
it accepts the BLA for filing. Once the submissisraccepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-dephiew of the BLA. Under the goals and
policies agreed to by the FDA under the Prescripiloug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, the FDA has 12 msritbm submission in which to
complete its initial review of a standard BLA andke a decision on the application, and eight mofitm submission for a priority BLA, and
such deadline is referred to as the PDUFA date.FIbve does not always meet its PDUFA dates for eih@ndard or priority BLAs. The
review process and the PDUFA date may be extengélorée months if the FDA requests or the BLA spommherwise provides additional
information or clarification regarding informati@iready provided in the submission within the thste months before the PDUFA date.

17



Table of Contents

After the BLA submission is accepted for filingetRDA reviews the BLA to determine, among othendsi whether the proposed
product is safe and effective for its intended as&, whether the product is being manufactured¢dom@ance with cGMP to assure and
preserve the product’s identity, strength, quadityl purity. The FDA may refer applications for nlogreig or biological products or drug or
biological products which present difficult questsoof safety or efficacy to an advisory committggjcally a panel that includes clinicians and
other experts, for review, evaluation and a reconaagon as to whether the application should be@mgu and under what conditions. The
FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an aayisommittee, but it considers such recommendat@amefully when making decisions.
During the approval process, the FDA also will detiee whether a risk evaluation and mitigationtsigg, or REMS, is necessary to assure th
safe use of the product. If the FDA concludes a BE#needed, the sponsor of the BLA must submibpgsed REMS; the FDA will not
approve the BLA without an approved REMS, if regdirDevelopment of a REMS can substantially iner¢hs costs of obtaining approval.

Before approving a BLA, the FDA will typically inspt the facilities at which the product is manufiaet. The FDA will not approve the
BLA unless it determines that the manufacturingcpeses and facilities are in compliance with cGRluirements and adequate to assure
consistent production of the product within reqdispecifications. Additionally, before approvin@BA, the FDA will typically inspect one or
more clinical sites to assure that the clinicatisa were conducted in compliance with GCP requéras If the FDA determines that the
application, manufacturing process or manufactufagities are not acceptable, it will outline theficiencies in the submission and often will
request additional testing or information befofgLa can be approved.

The FDA will issue a complete response letteréf gigency decides not to approve the BLA. The commpésponse letter describes all of
the specific deficiencies in the BLA identified the FDA. The deficiencies identified may be mirfor,example, requiring labeling changes
major, for example, requiring additional clinicehts. Additionally, the complete response letteynmclude recommended actions that the
applicant might take to place the application toadition for approval. If a complete responseelei issued, the applicant may either resu
the BLA, addressing all of the deficiencies idaatfin the letter, or withdraw the application.

If a product receives regulatory approval, the apgal may be significantly limited to specific dises and dosages or the indications for
use may otherwise be limited, which could resthiet commercial value of the product. Further, tb&Fnay require that certain
contraindications, warnings or precautions be itetlin the product labeling. In addition, the FDAywequire post marketing studies,
sometimes referred to as Phase 4 testing, whiashias clinical trials designed to further assesgydrafety and effectiveness and may require
testing and surveillance programs to monitor tHetgaf approved products that have been commézeidl After approval, certain changes to
the approved biologic, such as adding new indiaationanufacturing changes or additional labelimints, are subject to further FDA review
and approval. Depending on the nature of the chpmgeosed, a BLA supplement must be filed and aptdefore the change may be
implemented. For many proposed post-approval ctsatmga BLA, the FDA has up to 180 days to revieavdpplication. As with new BLAsS,
the review process is often significantly extentigdhe FDA requests for additional information tarification.

Post-Approval Requirements

Any biologic products for which we or our collabtres receive FDA approvals are subject to contiguagulation by the FDA,
including, among other things, record-keeping regpaents, reporting of adverse experiences withptbduct, providing the FDA with updated
safety and efficacy information, product samplimgl aistribution requirements, complying with cemntalectronic records and signature
requirements and complying with FDA promotion addextising requirements, which include, among athegstrictions on direct-toensume
advertising, promoting biologics for uses or inigat populations that are not described in the petd approved labeling (known as “off-label
use”), industry-sponsored scientific and educatiactivities, and promotional activities involvirlige internet. The FDA closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of biologasg although physicians may prescribe legallylakbe drugs for off-label uses,
manufacturers may not market or promote such tfllases. Failure to comply with these or other FBduirements can subject a
manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory agtsuth as warning letters, suspension of manufiagtuseizure of product, injunctive action,
mandated corrective advertising or communicatioitls tealthcare professionals, possible civil ominal penalties, or other negative
consequences, including adverse publicity.

We will rely, and expect to continue to rely, oirdhparties for the production of clinical and coential quantities of our products. Our
collaborators may also utilize third parties fomsoor all of a product we are developing with sochaborator. Manufacturers are required to
comply with applicable FDA manufacturing requirerteecontained in the FDA's cGMP regulations. cGM@ulations require among other
things, quality control and quality assurance al agethe corresponding maintenance of recordsdacdmentation. Drug manufacturers and
other entities involved in the manufacture andritigtion of approved biologics are required to stgi their establishments with the FDA and
certain state agencies, and are subject to periosiiections by the FDA and certain state agerioresompliance with cGMP and other laws.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to exptme, money, and effort in the area of productiod guality control to maintain cGMP
compliance.
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U.S. Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Excltysiv

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifiche FDA approval of our biologic product candiglstome of our United States
patents may be eligible for limited patent termeesion under the Drug Price Competition and Patenn Restoration Act of 1984, commol
referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. ThehlHataxman Amendments permit a patent restoration & up to five years as
compensation for patent term lost during produgettjpment and the FDA regulatory review processwvéi@r, patent term restoration cannot
extend the remaining term of a patent beyond & o6te4 years from the produstapproval date. The patent term restoration pasigénerally
one-half the time between the effective date ofNiD and the submission date of a BLA plus the timeéwveen the submission date of a BLA
and the approval of that application. Only one paégplicable to an approved product is eligibletfe extension and the application for the
extension must be submitted prior to the expiratibthe patent. The United States Patent and Tradefffice, in consultation with the FDA,
reviews and approves the application for any patrm extension or restoration. In the future, wayrnmtend to apply for restoration of patent
term for one of our currently owned or licensedepid to add patent life beyond its current expiratiate, depending on the expected length c
the clinical trials and other factors involved e tfiling of the relevant BLA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA casaatlelay the submission or the approval of cedpjlications of other companies
seeking to reference another company’s BLA. Weebelithat if PRX302 is approved as a biological pmdinder a BLA, it should qualify for
a 12-year period of exclusivity currently permitteglithe Biologics Price Competition and Innovatict of 2009, or BPCIA. Specifically, the
BPCIA established an abbreviated pathway for thr@ml of biosimilar and interchangeable biologipedducts. The new abbreviated
regulatory pathway establishes legal authoritytfierFDA to review and approve biosimilar biologitgsluding the possible designation of a
biosimilar as “interchangeable” based on their kirity to existing brand product. Under the BPCéh, application for a biosimilar product
cannot be approved by the FDA until 12 years dfteroriginal branded product was approved under/A. Blowever, an application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a cectifion of patent invalidity or non-infringementdae of the patents listed with the FDA by the
innovator BLA holder. The BPCIA is complex and rdybeginning to be interpreted and implementedhgyFDA. As a result, its ultimate
impact, implementation and meaning is subject wettainty.

U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, to whichase subject, prohibits corporations and individdedm engaging in certain activities
to obtain or retain business or to influence agergorking in an official capacity. It is illegad fpay, offer to pay or authorize the payment of
anything of value to any foreign government officgovernment staff member, political party or fioll candidate in an attempt to obtain or
retain business or to otherwise influence a pevgarking in an official capacity.

U.S. Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pmaceutical products, several other types of statefederal laws have been applied tc
restrict certain marketing practices in the biophaceutical industry in recent years. These lawsidecanti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes.

The federal health care program atitkback statute prohibits, among other things,vkingly and willfully offering, paying, solicitingor
receiving remuneration to induce or in return farghasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging forgbechase, lease, or order of any health care
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Mddjaar other federally financed healthcare progranfss statute has been interpreted to
apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical metowéxs on one hand and prescribers, purchaset$panulary managers on the other.
Although there are a number of statutory exemptamtsregulatory safe harbors protecting certainmomactivities from prosecution, the
exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowlypaactices that involve remuneration intended ttuge prescribing, purchases, or
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if dheyot satisfy the requirements of an exemptiogade harbor. Our practices may not in all
cases meet all of the criteria for safe harborgutidn from anti-kickback liability.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person florawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddlsa claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or caudinpe made, a false statement to get a false glaith The majority of states also have
statutes or regulations similar to the federal-&itkback law and false claims laws, which applytémns and services reimbursed under
Medicaid and other state programs, or, in seveatés, apply regardless of the payor, includingoential payors. Sanctions under these
federal and state laws may include civil monetagaities, exclusion of a manufacturer’'s produasifreimbursement under government
programs, criminal fines, and imprisonment.
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Because of the breadth of these laws and the naessof the safe harbors, it is possible that safer business activities could be
subject to challenge under one or more of such.lfwge obtain FDA approval for our product cand&and begin commercializing that
product in the United States, our operations magtiteetly, or indirectly through our customers, jgab to various federal and state fraud and
abuse laws, including, without limitation, the fealeAnti-Kickback Statute. We are also subject to:

. the federal Health Insurance Portability an@@untability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which createdw federal criminal statutes that
prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthisanefit program and making false statementsimgléo healthcare mattet

. HIPAA, as amended by the Health InformationAredlogy and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and iitsplementing regulations,
which imposes certain requirements relating topifieacy, security and transmission of individuatigntifiable health information;
and

. state law equivalents of each of the abovertddaws, such as anti-kickback and false claimslavhich may apply to items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, idtlg commercial insurers, and state laws govertiiegorivacy and security of
health information in certain circumstances, mahytich differ from each other in significant waged may not have the same
effect, thus complicating compliance effol

In the United States and foreign jurisdictionsyéhleave been and continue to be a number of intisithat seek to reduce healthcare
costs. Most recently, in March 2010 the Patientdtion and Affordable Health Care Act, as amenrethe Health Care and Education
Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectivelyne PPACA, was enacted, which includes measuregndisantly change the way health care
is financed by both governmental and private insur@mong the provisions of the PPACA of greategidrtance to the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industry are the following:

. an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufactures or imports certain branded presoripfrugs and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to tharket share in certain government healthcarerprog, that began in 201

. new requirements to report certain financishagements with physicians and others, includipgrtng any “transfer of value”
made or distributed to prescribers and other heaféhproviders and reporting any investment interesld by physicians and their
immediate family member:

. a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Researchultestd oversee, identify priorities in, and condummparative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such resea

. creation of the Independent Payment Advisory Bednath, beginning in 2014, will have authority ta&oenmend certain changes
the Medicare program that could result in reduca¢ghgents for prescription drugs and those recomntamgacould have the effect
of law even if Congress does not act on the recamdai#ons; ant

. establishment of a Center for Medicare Innaratit the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Servioetest innovative payment and
service delivery models to lower Medicare and Maiticspending, potentially including prescriptiomgispending that began on
January 1, 201!

Many of the details regarding the implementatiothef PPACA are yet to be determined, and at tirig tit remains unclear the full effe
that the PPACA would have on our business.

Europe / Rest of World Government Regulation
In addition to regulations in the United States, amd our collaborators, will be subject to a vigriaf regulations in other jurisdictions
governing, among other things, clinical trials @my commercial sales and distribution of our prasluc

Whether or not we, or our collaborators, obtain Fapproval for a product, we must obtain the re¢giapprovals from regulatory
authorities in foreign countries prior to the conrmoement of clinical trials or marketing of the pueotlin those countries. The requirements an
process governing the conduct of clinical trialgduct licensing, pricing and reimbursement vagnfrcountry to country.

If we, or our collaborators, fail to comply with@lcable foreign regulatory requirements, we maybkeject to, among other things, fir
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaledpct recalls, seizure of products, operatingiet&ins and criminal prosecution.
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Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coveragg® r@imbursement status of any product candidate/iicch we obtain regulatory
approval. In the United States and markets in atbantries, sales of any products for which we ikeceegulatory approval for commercial <
will depend in part on the availability of reimbarsent from third-party payors. Third-party payaerslide government health administrative
authorities, managed care providers, private héadtlvers and other organizations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had eight full-time &ppes, four of whom have Ph.D. or M.D. degrees, @me part-time employee.
None of our employees are covered by collectivg&iaing agreements and we consider relations witremployees to be goa

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist priméilysts associated with the clinical developnu#i®RX302. Research and
development expenses are the primary source abqenses and totaled $10.3 million, $13.5 milliad &8.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Corporate Information

We file annual, quarterly, current reports, protatements and other information with the Securiied Exchange Commission (SEC).
Our primary website can be found at http://www.ddpltom. We make available free of charge at this welgsiteler the “Investors —
Financial Information” caption) all of our repofted or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) ord)%(f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Qedst Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Repartsa@rm 8-K and amendments to
those reports. These reports are made availalileeomebsite as soon as reasonably practicabletbérfiling with, or furnishing to, the SEC.
The SEC maintains an internet site that contaimgablic filings with the SEC and other informaticegarding the Company, at www.sec.gov
These reports and other information concerningbmpany may also be accessed at the SEC’s PulfiicéRee Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington DC 20549. The public may obtain infoliorabn the operation of the Public Reference Rogradiling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. Furthermore, we also make available on olnsite free of charge, and in print to any sharettoleho requests it, the Committee
Charters for our Audit, Compensation, and Goveraard Nominating Committees, as well as the Codusiness Conduct and Ethics that
applies to all directors, officers and employeethefCompany. Amendments to these documents orevwgrelated to the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics will be made available on oubsite as soon as reasonably practicable afteréketution. The contents of the websites
referred to in this paragraph are not incorporategithis Annual Report. Further, our referencethinURLSs for these websites are intended to
be inactive textual reference only.

We are governed by the Business Corporations ABritish Columbia. We began operations on Januarn2002. Our operations were
initially located in Vancouver, British Columbian April 2011, we relocated our core activities &maddquarters from Vancouver, British
Columbia to San Diego, California. Effective ARil2012, we changed our name from Protox Theraggelritc. to Sophiris Bio Inc.

We are an “emerging growth company” as definedhendumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012wiNeemain an emerging
growth company until the earlier of (1) the lasy d@éd the fiscal year (a) following the fifth annigary of our initial public offering in August
2013, (b) in which we have total annual gross reeeof at least $1.0 billion, or (c) in which we @eemed to be a large accelerated filer, and
(2) the date on which we have issued more thanHillién in non-convertible debt during the pridir¢ée-year period. We refer to the Jumpstar
Our Business Startups Act of 2012 herein as th&'S@ct,” and references herein to “emerging groedmpany” shall have the meaning
associated with it in the JOBS Act.”
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the following risktfas, together with all of the other informatiarciuded or incorporated in this Annual
Report. Each of these risk factors, either alon¢aien together, could adversely affect our busineperating results, growth prospects ¢
financial condition, as well as adversely affea tlalue of an investment in our common shares.€Timay be additional risks that we do
presently know of or that we currently believe imnenaterial which could also impair our business dimdncial position.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are an early stage company with no approved pigid and no revenue from commercialization of ouogluct.

We are at an early stage of development of ourymochndidate, PRX302, for the treatment of thegpms of benign prostatic
hyperplasia, or BPH. We have not completed the [dpmgent of any product candidates and, accordirfglye not begun to commercialize, or
any product candidate or generate any product tmgefrom any product candidate. PRX302 requirasfignt additional clinical testing and
investment prior to seeking marketing approval.ofnmitment of substantial resources by ourselvespatehtial partners to conduct time-
consuming Phase 3 clinical trials for PRX302 wél tequired to meet applicable regulatory standanolsin required regulatory approvals, anc
to successfully commercialize this product candidBRX302 is not expected to be commercially akbgléor several years, if at all.

We are highly dependent on the success of PRX30@we may not be able to successfully obtain regofator marketing approval for, ¢
successfully commercialize, this product candidate.

To date, we have expended significant time, ressuand effort on the development of PRX302, inclgdionducting preclinical and
clinical trials, for the treatment of the symptoafBPH. We have no product candidates in our dihitevelopment pipeline other than
PRX302. Our ability to generate product revenuektarachieve commercial success in the near tethiniially depend almost entirely on
our ability to successfully develop, obtain regotstapproval for and then successfully commerataRR X302 in the United States and the
European Economic Area, or EEA. Before we can maakd sell PRX302 in the United States or foreigisfictions, we will need to
commence and complete additional clinical trialanage clinical, preclinical, and manufacturing\atiis, obtain necessary regulatory
approvals from the Food and Drug AdministrationFBrA, in the United States and from similar forergigulatory agencies in other
jurisdictions, obtain manufacturing supply, build@nmercial organization or enter into a marketinfiaboration with a third party, and
some jurisdictions, obtain reimbursement authapatamong other things. We cannot assure yowtkawill be able to successfully complete
the necessary preclinical studies and clinicaldr@d/or obtain regulatory approvals and sufficemmercial manufacturing supply for
PRX302. If we do not receive regulatory approvais, business, prospects, financial condition asdlte of operations will be adversely
affected. Even if we obtain regulatory approvale,may never generate significant revenues fromcanymercial sales of PRX302. If we fail
to successfully commercialize PRX302, we may béblento generate sufficient revenues to sustaingaod our business and our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of ofiens will be adversely affected.

PRX302 is subject to extensive regulation, and waymot obtain regulatory approvals for PRX302.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labelipgckaging, storage, tracking, recordkeeping, atbegt promotion, export, import,
marketing and distribution and other possible &tis relating to our product candidate are, amdafoy other biologic or drug candidate that
may develop will be, subject to extensive regulatiy the FDA in the United States and other regujaagencies in foreign jurisdictions.
PRX302, our only product candidate, is subjeceguitation in the United States as a biologic. Biate require the submission of a Biologics
License Application, or BLA, and we are not perettto market PRX302 in the United States until Wwiaim approval from the FDA of a BL
To market PRX302 in the EEA, which includes then®mber states of the European Union plus Norwagghtenstein and Iceland, we must
submit a Marketing Authorization Application, or MAto the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, fopagval under the EMAS centralize
procedure, which if the marketing authorizatiogiianted, will enable us to market the product tghmut the entire territory of the EEA. A
BLA or MAA must be supported by extensive clinieald preclinical data, as well as extensive inforomategarding chemistry, manufacturing
and controls, or CMC, sufficient to demonstrategatety and effectiveness of the applicable prodantlidate to the satisfaction of FDA and
EMA, respectively.
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Regulatory approval of a BLA or an MAA is not guateed, and the approval process is expensive dhthlke several years. The FDA
and foreign regulatory entities also have subsihdiscretion in the approval process. The numbdrtgpes of preclinical studies and clinical
trials that will be required for BLA or MAA approl/aaries depending on the product candidate, theadie or the condition that the product
candidate is designed to target and the regulatippBcable to any particular product candidatesfite the time and expense associated with
preclinical studies and clinical trials, failurencaccur at any stage, and we could encounter prabthat cause us to repeat or perform
additional preclinical studies or clinical trials generate additional CMC data. The FDA, EMA amdikir foreign authorities could delay, lin
or deny approval of a product candidate for mamagoes, including because they:

. may not deem our product candidate to be adequsaétyand effective

. may not find the data from our preclinical sasdand clinical trials or CMC data to be suffidiémsupport a claim of safety and
efficacy;

. may not approve the manufacturing processes diti@iassociated with our product candid;

. may conclude that we have not sufficiently destmated long-term stability of the formulationtbé& drug product for which we are
seeking marketing approv:

. may change approval policies (including with resge®our product candide’s class of biologics) or adopt new regulations

. may not accept a submission due to, among otheonsathe content or formatting of the submiss

Obtaining approval of a BLA is a lengthy, expensawvel uncertain process. As part of the U.S. Prgtsani Drug User Fee Act, the FDA
has a goal to review and act on a percentage etibthissions in a given time frame. The generaéwegoal for a BLA is 12 months from the
filing date for a standard application and eighiths from the filing date for a priority review digation. The filing date is typically 60 days
after submission of a BLA to the FDA. The FDA's i@w goals are subject to change, and it is unknaewvether the review of a BLA for
PRX302 will be completed within the FDA's targenglines or will be delayed. Moreover, the duratidthe FDA's review may depend on t
number and types of other BLAs that are submitbeithé FDA around the same time period or are pgndienerally, public concern regarding
the safety of drug products could delay or limit ability to obtain regulatory approval, resulttire inclusion of unfavorable information in ¢
labeling, or require us to undertake other actsithat may entail additional costs.

We submitted an investigational new drug applicafmr PRX302 in April 2011. We have not submittedagplication for approval or
obtained FDA approval for any product. This laclegperience may impede our ability to obtain FDArmpal in a timely manner, if at all, for
PRX302. In addition, failure to comply with FDA anther applicable U.S. and foreign regulatory regments, either before or after product
approval, may subject us to administrative or jisdig imposed sanctions, including:

. warning letters

. civil and criminal penalties

. injunctions;

. withdrawal of approved product

. product seizure or detentia

. product recalls

. total or partial suspension of production;

. refusal to approve pending BLASs or supplementpfraved BLAS.

Even if we believe that data collected from ourcprécal studies and clinical trials of our prodweindidate are promising, our data may
not be sufficient to support marketing approvathy FDA or any foreign regulatory authority, or uégory interpretation of these data and
procedures may be unfavorable. In addition, the FXxAgulatory review of BLAs for product candidaitgended for widespread use by a le
proportion of the general population is becomingéasingly focused on safety, which may lead toeiased scrutiny of the safety data we
submit in our BLA for PRX302. Even if approved, mguct candidate may not be approved for all inética requested and such approval 1
be subject to limitations on the indicated usesafoich the biologic may be marketed, restrictedridistion methods or other limitations. Our
business and reputation may be harmed by any éadusignificant delay in obtaining regulatory apl for the sale of our product candidate.
We cannot predict when or whether regulatory apgiresll be obtained for any product candidate weedep.
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To market any biologics outside of the United Statee and current or future collaborators must dgmyith numerous and varying
regulatory and compliance related requirementdterocountries. Approval procedures vary among tr@siand can involve additional
product testing and additional administrative rewvfeeriods, including obtaining reimbursement aridipg approval in select markets. The t
required to obtain approval in other countries mijffer from that required to obtain FDA approvahe regulatory approval process in other
countries may include all of the risks associatéti WDA approval as well as additional, presenthanticipated, risks. Regulatory approval in
one country does not ensure regulatory approvahather, but a failure or delay in obtaining retpiga approval in one country may negativ
impact the regulatory process in others, includirgrisk that our product candidates may not beaul for all indications requested and that
such approval may be subject to limitations oniticicated uses for which the drug may be marketed.

The clinical trial protocol and design for our onengoing and additional planned Phase 3 clinicalats of PRX302 may not be sufficient
to allow us to submit a BLA to the FDA or demonstesasafety or efficacy at the level required by tRBA for product approval.

Based on the results from our Phase 2 clinicdbktrige are currently conducting a Phase 3 clirtital of PRX302 and expect to conduct
one additional Phase 3 clinical trial for PRX302i@mine whether PRX302 will effectively relieve BBymptoms as measured at three
months and 12 months following treatment. The fifsbur two planned Phase 3 clinical trials, whieh initiated in October 2013, will use the
International Prostate Symptom Score, or IPSS,comécmeasure evaluated at 12 months as the primdpo@t, which is consistent with
clinical trials of another injectable currently wndievelopment by a third party for the treatmdnthe symptoms of BPH. We have not
submitted a special protocol assessment, or SP&hvanug development companies sometimes use toroah agreement with the FDA
concerning the design and size of a clinical iris#gnded to form the primary basis of an effectegsiclaim. Without the concurrence of the
FDA on an SPA or otherwise, we cannot be certaanhttie design, conduct and data analysis appraaauf ongoing and planned Phase 3
clinical trials will generate data sufficient tat@slish the effectiveness of PRX302 for treatmdri@®H symptoms to the FDA'’s satisfaction,
and therefore allow us to submit or receive approfa BLA for PRX302. If the FDA requires us, oewtherwise determine, to amend our
protocols, change our clinical trial designs, irs® enroliment targets or conduct additional dhihtidals, our ability to obtain regulatory
approval on the timeline we have projected woulgelopardized and we could be required to make faigmit additional expenditures relatec
clinical development.

Further, even if we achieve positive results onghdpoints for a clinical trial, the FDA may disagmwith our interpretation of the data
and deem the results insufficient to demonstrédteagly at the level required by the FDA for prodapproval. It is possible that we may make
modifications to the clinical trial protocols orgigns of our ongoing and planned Phase 3 clinicbtthat delay enroliment or completion of
such clinical trials and could delay regulatory rmmal of PRX302. Any failure to obtain approval RX302 on the timeline that we currently
anticipate, or at all, would have a material andeaske impact on our business, prospects, finanoiadition and results of operations.

Principal investigators for our clinical trials magrve as scientific advisors or consultants tirara time to time and receive cash or
equity compensation in connection with such sesvitfethese relationships and any related compemsegsult in perceived or actual conflicts
of interest, the integrity of the data generatethatapplicable clinical trial site may be jeopaedi. Moreover, our business may be implicatt
any of the relationships violate federal or staéeidl and abuse laws or healthcare privacy andisgtaws.

Clinical development is a lengthy and expensive g&ss with an uncertain outcome. Because the resoftearly clinical trials are not
necessarily predictive of future results, PRX302 ynaot have favorable results in later clinical tdigor receive regulatory approval.

Clinical development is expensive, takes many yeacemplete and its outcome is inherently uncertaailure can occur at any time
during the clinical trial process and PRX302 isjeabto the risks of failure inherent in drug desghent. Success in early clinical trials does
not mean that later clinical trials will be sucdasbecause product candidates in later-stagecdirtiials may fail to demonstrate sufficient
safety or efficacy despite having progressed thnandial clinical testing, even at statisticalligsificant levels. We will be required to
demonstrate through well-controlled clinical trialsSPRX302 that our product candidate is safe dfeative for use in its target indication
before we can obtain regulatory approvals for ammercial sale.

Companies frequently suffer significant setbackisia-stage clinical trials, even after earlienidal trials have shown promising results.
Either or both of our ongoing and planned Phasingal trials of PRX302 may not be successfuldorariety of reasons, including faults in
the clinical trial designs, the failure to enrokafficient number of patients, undesirable sidea$ and other safety concerns and the inability
to demonstrate sufficient efficacy.
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Further, the data collected from clinical trialgiwiarge patient populations may not demonstrafficgnt safety and efficacy to support
regulatory approval of PRX302. Our one ongoing additional planned Phase 3 clinical trials of PRX34ll enroll significantly more patien
than we have enrolled in clinical trials of PRX302ate. We are currently enrolling and expectimk approximately 440 patients in our first
Phase 3 clinical trial. If PRX302 fails to demoastr sufficient safety or efficacy, we would expede potentially significant delays in, or be
required to abandon our development of, PRX302¢kwhiould have a material and adverse impact orbuosiness, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations.

PRX302 may cause undesirable side effects or hahermproperties that may delay or prevent its regtary approval or
commercialization or limit its commercial potential

Undesirable side effects caused by PRX302 couldecas or regulatory authorities to interrupt, detayspend or terminate clinical trials
and could result in a more restrictive label ordleé&y or denial of marketing approval by the FDx%other regulatory authorities. This, in turn,
could limit or prevent us from commercializing PROZ3and generating revenues from its sale. To tlaenost common adverse events
observed in patients who received PRX302 in ousPRaclinical trials that were potentially attribbte to PRX302 included the presence of
red blood cells in urine, painful urination, frequ@rination and urinary urgency, perineal pain distomfort (observed in patients who
received both drug and placebo, which is othernégerred to as the vehicle), vertigo and malais¢ tuld be attributable to PRX302 induced
inflammation. Each of the foregoing adverse eventsurred in greater than 5% of the PRX302 poputatidthough none of the patients in our
Phase 1/2 clinical trial using the transrectal exftadministration experienced sepsis, our chémdjgis route of administration is expected to
increase the risk of sepsis. Results from our arggand planned Phase 3 clinical trials could readabh and unacceptable severity and
prevalence of these or other side effects. In suclvent, our trials could be suspended or termihand the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities could order us to ceasé@urtievelopment of or deny approval of PRX302 totargeted indication. Further, such side
effects could affect patient recruitment or thdigbof enrolled patients to complete the trialresult in potential product liability claims. Any
of these occurrences may have a material and adirapmct on our business, prospects, financial iiondand results of operations.

In addition, if PRX302 receives marketing approaadl we or others later identify undesirable sideat$ caused by PRX302, a number
of significant negative consequences could resdiuding:
. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approePRX302;

. regulatory authorities may require that we desti@te a larger clinical benefit by conductingitiddal clinical trials for approval to
offset the risk

. regulatory authorities may require the additbéabeling statements or warnings that could disti the usage of the product or
otherwise limit the commercial success of PRX:

. we may be required to change the way PRX302 is ridtared;

. we may choose to recall, withdraw or discontinde shPRX302;

. we could be sued and held liable for harm causeatients

. we may not be able to enter into collaboration egrents on acceptable terms and execute on ourdsssimodel; an

. our reputation may suffe

Any one or a combination of these events couldgmeus from achieving or maintaining market acosqeof the affected product or
could substantially increase the costs and exparfsasmmercializing PRX302, which in turn could aglor prevent us from generating any
revenues from the sale of the product, which csigddificantly harm our business, prospects, finahoondition and results of operations.
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We may experience delays in the commencement orgetion of our clinical trials, which could resulin increased costs to us and delay
our ability to pursue regulatory approval and gerste product revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinieating could significantly impact our productveéépment costs and could resul
the need for additional financing. Although weisti¢d the first of our two planned Phase 3 clintdals in October 2013, we do not know
when or whether our second planned Phase 3 climiaid of PRX302 will begin, or if either trial Wbe completed on time, or at all. The
commencement or completion of clinical trials candelayed for a variety of reasons, including delayor related to:

. raising sufficient capital to fund our second plediPhase 3 clinical tria

. obtaining regulatory approval, or feedback on wiasign necessary, to commence a clinical 1
. identifying, recruiting and training suitable clial investigators

. identifying, recruiting and enrolling suitable patts to participate in a clinical trie

. catastrophic loss of drug product due to sgmlelays or delays in customs in connection wtlivery of drug product to foreign
countries for use in clinical trial

. reaching agreement on acceptable terms witbpeiciive contract research organizations, or CR@x$clinical trial sites, the terms
of which can be subject to extensive negotiatioth may vary significantly among different CROs atfidical trial sites;

. obtaining sufficient quantities of PRX302 and tlieeht used with PRX302 for use in clinical tria

. having patients complete a trial or return for -treatment follov-up;

. adding new clinical trial site:

. failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordangith regulatory requirements or our clinical prods;

. failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a dalgnges in governmental regulations or adminis&atctions
. unforeseen safety issues or any determinatioratichical trial presents unacceptable health ri

. obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, appabto conduct a clinical trial at a prospectivie sand

. retaining patients who have initiated a clihic&l but may withdraw due to adverse side eBdodbm the therapy, insufficient
efficacy, fatigue with the clinical trial processmersonal issue

Any delays in the commencement or completion ofadimical trials will delay our timeline to obtaiegulatory approval for our product
candidate. In addition, many of the factors thaisea or lead to, a delay in the commencement oitcali trials may also ultimately lead to the
denial of regulatory approval for a product cantBd®ur one ongoing and additional planned Phadmigal trials of PRX302 for the
treatment of the symptoms of BPH will seek to ersignificantly more patients than we have enrolledlinical trials of PRX302 to date. We
are currently enrolling and expect to enroll appreately 440 patients in our first Phase 3 clinitél both in and outside of the United States.
We do not expect to commence enrollment of ourrsgéthase 3 clinical trial until completion of amadistrative analysis by an independent
data monitoring committee conducted once all p&ieave completed three months in the first Phadmigal trial.

We may face competition to enroll BPH patientsum ongoing and planned Phase 3 clinical trials fadhver clinical trials for other
sponsors including potential competitors. Patiembkment, a significant factor in the timing ofrgtal trials, is affected by many factors
including the size and nature of the patient paputathe proximity of patients to clinical sitalg eligibility criteria for the trial, the desigri
the clinical trial, competing clinical trials antinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the ptitd advantages of the drug being studied in
relation to other available therapies, including aew drugs that may be approved for the indicatiorp are investigating. Delays in enrollm
in our ongoing and planned Phase 3 clinical tadlBRX302 would result in delays in our abilitygarsue regulatory approval of PRX302.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidancenads/ occur and we may need to amend clinical priadocols to reflect these
changes. Amendments may require us to resubmitlimical trial protocols to IRBs for rexamination, which may impact the costs, timing
successful completion of a clinical trial. If wepexience delays in the completion of, or if we nmtesminate, any clinical trial of PRX302, our
ability to obtain regulatory approval for that puad candidate will be delayed and the commercia$pects, if any, for the product candidate
may be harmed. If we ultimately commercialize PRX3&her therapies for the same indications may limaen introduced to the market
during the period we have been delayed and suchaples may have established a competitive advartagreour product candidates.
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We expect to rely upon multiple CROs to conduct anrsee our ongoing and planned Phase 3 clinigéls for PRX302. If any of our
CROs does not meet our deadlines or otherwise candiue trials as required or if any CRO experiencegulatory compliance issues we
may not be able to obtain regulatory approval far@mmercialize our product candidate when expectedit all.

We have entered into agreements with multiple CR®sur first Phase 3 clinical trial of PRX302. Vilkso rely upon medical institutiol
clinical investigators and contract laboratoriesdaduct our trials in accordance with our clinipedtocols and in accordance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements. These thirdgmplay a significant role in the conduct of thesads and the subsequent collection and
analysis of data from the clinical trials. Thera@sguarantee that any such third party will dexamtequate time and resources to our clinical
trial. If any of our CROs or any other third pastigpon which we rely for administration and condufabur clinical trials do not successfully
carry out their contractual duties or obligationdail to meet expected deadlines, if they needeweplaced or if the quality or accuracy of the
clinical data they obtain is compromised due tofttileire to adhere to our clinical protocols orukgory requirements or if they otherwise
perform in a substandard manner, our clinicaldriaby be extended, delayed, suspended or termjraaiddve may not be able to complete
development of and ultimately obtain approval fod auccessfully commercialize PRX302. We will regavily on these third parties for the
execution of our ongoing and planned Phase 3 dlitials and will control only certain aspectstiogir activities. Nevertheless, we are
responsible for ensuring that each of our clintdals is conducted in accordance with the applealotocol, legal, regulatory and scientific
standards, and our reliance on CROs does not eeliswf our regulatory responsibilities.

We and our CROs are required to comply with cur@obd Clinical Practice, or GCP, which are regoladiand guidelines enforced by
the FDA, the competent authorities of the Membetest of the EEA and comparable foreign regulatatiiaities for products in clinical
development. Regulatory authorities enforce theS® @Ggulations through periodic inspections ofictihtrial sponsors, principal investigatt
and clinical trial sites. If we or any of our CR@d to comply with applicable GCP regulations, timical data generated in our clinical trials
may be deemed unreliable and our submission of etiatkapplications may be delayed or the FDA mayire us to perform additional
clinical trials before approving our marketing apgations. We cannot assure you that, upon inspedtie FDA will determine that any of our
clinical trials comply or complied with applicab@®CP regulations. In addition, our clinical trialsish be conducted with product produced
under the current Good Manufacturing Practice,&¥I®, regulations enforced by the FDA, and our chhirials require a large number of test
subjects. Our failure to comply with these reguliasi may require us to repeat clinical trials, whigkuld delay the regulatory approval proct
Moreover, our business may be implicated if anguwf CROSs violates federal or state fraud and abu$alse claims laws and regulations or
healthcare privacy and security laws.

If any of our clinical trial sites terminates famareason, we may experience the loss of followafiprmation on patients enrolled in our
ongoing clinical trial unless we are able to transhe care of those patients to another qualdiiical trial site. Further, if our relationship
with any of our CROs is terminated, we may be uaablenter into arrangements with alternative CR®sommercially reasonable terms, or
at all.

Switching or adding CROs can involve substantiat @md require extensive management time and focasldition, there is a natural
transition period when a new CRO commences worla Assult, delays may occur, which can materiafipact our ability to meet our desired
clinical development timelines. Though we carefufignage our relationship with our CROs, there @andassurance that we will not
encounter such challenges or delays in the fututikat these delays or challenges will not haveatenal adverse impact on our business,
prospects, financial condition or results of opierz.

Any adverse developments that occur during any iciat trials conducted by Kissei may affect our ahjlto obtain regulatory approval or
commercialize PRX302.

Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Kissei, retdhesrights to develop and commercialize PRX302apan for the treatment of the
symptoms of BPH, prostate cancer, prostatitis beiotliseases of the prostate. If serious adversgt®wccur during this or any other clinical
trials Kissei decides to conduct with respect toXB&2, the FDA and other regulatory authorities rdalay, limit or deny approval of PRX302
or require us to conduct additional clinical trialsa condition to marketing approval, which waulctease our costs. If we receive FDA
approval for PRX302 and a new and serious safetieiss identified in connection with clinical tdatonducted by Kissei, the FDA and other
regulatory authorities may withdraw their approofithe product or otherwise restrict our abilitynbarket and sell our product. In addition,
treating physicians may be less willing to admanigiur product due to concerns over such advergt&which would limit our ability to
commercialize PRX302.
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Our limited operating history makes evaluating obusiness and future prospects difficult, and mayiease the risk of any investment
our common shares.

Our predecessor, Protox Pharmaceuticals Inc., masporated in January 2002. We were formed in 238 under the predecessor to
the British Columbia Business Corporations Actirer BCBCA, by the amalgamation of Stratos Biotedbgies Inc., Nucleus BioScience Inc.
and Brightwave Ventures Inc. under the name SNBt@laporp. In July 2004, we acquired all the shareBrotox Pharmaceuticals Inc. in a
plan of arrangement under the BCBCA and changethitse to Protox Therapeutics Inc. In 2011, we farmevholly-owned U.S. subsidiary
incorporated in Delaware, Protox Therapeutics Cr@012, we changed our name to Sophiris Bio &mcl changed the name of our subsic
to Sophiris Bio Corp. In 2012, Sophiris Bio Corptrhed a wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated ind»edre, Sophiris Bio Holding Corp. We
face considerable risks and difficulties as a camgpaith limited operating history, particularly axonsolidated entity with an operating
subsidiary that also has a limited operating hystirwe do not successfully address these riskspasiness, prospects, operating results and
financial condition will be materially and advengdlarmed. Our limited operating history makes itioalarly difficult for us to predict our
future operating results and appropriately budgebtir expenses. In the event that actual resiifes fom our estimates or we adjust our
estimates in future periods, our operating resants financial position could be materially affectéde have limited experience as a
consolidated operating entity, and have not yetatetated an ability to successfully overcome nafriyre risks and uncertainties frequently
encountered by companies in new and rapidly evglfiglds, particularly in the pharmaceutical orteithnology areas.

We face significant competition from other pharmadcal and biotechnology companies and from minirhalnvasive surgical therapies
and surgical alternatives, and our operating ressilvill suffer if we fail to compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive. We have competitors botthenUnited States and
international markets, including major multinatibpharmaceutical companies, biotechnology compaanelsuniversities and other research
institutions. Many of our competitors have substdiytgreater financial, technical and other resesr such as larger research and develop
staff, experienced marketing and manufacturing mizgdions and well-established sales forces. Adiéti mergers and acquisitions in the
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries maylr@s even more resources being concentrated ficompetitors. Competition may
increase further as a result of advances in therangial applicability of technologies and greatesiikability of capital for investment in these
industries. Our competitors may succeed in devafpmcquiring or licensing on an exclusive basisdpcts that are more effective, easier to
administer and/or less costly than PRX302.

We expect that PRX302 will compete with the curtesatment options for the symptoms of BPH, whintiude oral drug therapy and
surgery. Oral drug therapies include @}blockers, such as tamsulosin (marketed under watimde names by numerous companies,
including as Flomag by Astellas Pharma), alfuzosin (marketed in thetéthStates by Sanofi as Uroxatfgl doxazosin (marketed by Pfizer
as Cardur® and Cardur& XL) and silodosin (marketed by Watson Pharmaceistiaa Rapafl® in the United States), (b) & reductase
inhibitors, such as dutasteride (marketed by Glaxitt8<line plc as Avodar®) and finasteride (marketed by Merck & Co., IncPasscaP),
(c) combinations oft -blockers and 5e reductase inhibitors such as tamsulosin and dutdsténarketed by GSK as Jal§n) and (d) tadalafil
(marketed as Ciali8 by Eli Lilly), a PDES5 inhibitor which obtained FDApproval for the treatment of the symptoms of BRI®Dttober 2011.
Several minimally invasive surgical therapies, dSW, are available, including transurethral micreeghermotherapy, or TUMT, transurett
needle ablation, or TUNA, photo-selective vapoi@abf prostate, holmium laser enucleation of thesgate, transurethral electrovaporization
of the prostate, interstitial laser coagulatiord #re UroLift® system (marketed by NeoTract, Inc.), which is aplant delivered into the body
via a small needle and designed to hold prosts¢edi out of the way of the blocked urethra.

Currently, the most commonly used MIST proceduredaser ablations of the prostate, TUMT, and TUISArgery for BPH treatment is
usually considered in patients who fail drug thgrap a result of side effects or inadequate refisfymptoms, have refractory urinary retent
or have recurrent urinary tract infections. Alteimely, surgery may be the initial treatment inipats with severe urinary symptoms. Surgical
procedures for BPH include transurethral reseaticthe prostate, as well as other procedures ssittaasurethral incision of the prostate and
transurethral vaporization of the prostate.

The availability and price of our competitors’ pumts and procedures could limit the demand, angtice we are able to charge, for
PRX302. We will not successfully execute on ourihess objectives if the market acceptance of PRX8@#hibited by price competition, if
physicians are reluctant to switch from existingdurcts or procedures to PRX302 or if physiciangdwio other new products or surgeries or
choose to reserve PRX302 for use in limited pafx@mulations. In addition, established pharmacaltompanies may invest heavily to
accelerate discovery and development of novel camg® or to in-license and develop novel compouhdsdould make PRX302 obsolete.
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Any new product that competes with an approved yebchust demonstrate compelling advantages inagfficconvenience, tolerability
and safety in order to be approved and overconoe gompetition and to be commercially successfatokdingly, our competitors
may succeed in obtaining patent protection, olngifiDA approval or discovering, developing and careializing products before we do,
which would have a material adverse impact on owsirtess. The inability to compete with existingdgarets or subsequently introduced
products would have a material adverse impact orosiness, prospects, financial condition andltesd operations.

Even if we obtain and maintain approval for PRX3@2m the FDA, we may never obtain approval for PROBoutside of the United
States, which would limit our market opportunitiesd adversely affect our business.

Sales of PRX302 outside of the United States welsbbject to foreign regulatory requirements gowerlinical trials and marketing
approval. Even if the FDA grants marketing apprdeala product candidate, comparable regulatorfia@ities of foreign countries must also
approve the manufacturing and marketing of the pebdandidates in those countries. Approval procesiuary among jurisdictions and can
involve requirements and administrative review pesidifferent from, and greater than, those indh#éed States, including additional
preclinical studies or clinical trials. In many earies outside the United States, a product cangichiaust be approved for reimbursement befor
it can be approved for sale in that country. In saases, the price that we intend to charge fopmducts is also subject to approval. We may
decide to submit an MAA to the EMA for approvaltire EEA. As with the FDA, obtaining approval of A from the EMA is a similarly
lengthy and expensive process and the EMA hasvtspyocedures for approval of product candidatesngf a product is approved, the FDA
or the EMA, as the case may be, may limit the iatiitms for which the product may be marketed, negektensive warnings on the product
labeling or require expensive and time-consumingaal trials or reporting as conditions of apprb\Regulatory authorities in countries
outside of the United States and the EEA also hegeirements for approval of drug candidates witticiv we must comply prior to marketing
in those countries. Obtaining foreign regulatorprapals and compliance with foreign regulatory liegments could result in significant
delays, difficulties and costs for us and couldhgi@r prevent the introduction of our productséntain countries. Further, clinical trials
conducted in one country may not be accepted hylatayy authorities in other countries and regulatpproval in one country does not
ensure approval in any other country, while a failor delay in obtaining regulatory approval in @oentry may have a negative effect on the
regulatory approval process in others. Also, remmaapproval for any of our product candidates maywithdrawn. If we fail to comply with
the regulatory requirements in international megkatd/or receive applicable marketing approvalstanget market will be reduced and our
ability to realize the full market potential of PRB2 will be harmed and our business will be advgrsiected.

We will be, with respect to any product candidate Which we obtain FDA approval, subject to ongoif@pA obligations and continued
regulatory review, which may result in significamstdditional expense.

Any regulatory approvals that we obtain for ourdarct candidate may also be subject to limitatiomshe approved indicated uses for
which the product may be marketed or to the comattiof approval, or contain requirements for paddigtcostly post-marketing testing,
including postmarketing studies and clinical trials and surveitia to monitor the safety and efficacy of the patdandidate. In addition, if tl
FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authoriye the EMA, approves a product candidate, the f@turing processes, labeling,
packaging, distribution, adverse event reportitgrage, advertising, promotion, import, exportckiag and recordkeeping for the product will
be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatoryirements. These requirements include submissionafety and other post-marketing
information and reports, registration, as well astmued compliance with cGMPs for marketed drugs éugs used in clinical trials and G(
for any clinical trials that we conduct post-ap@b\ater discovery of previously unknown problewith a product, including adverse events
of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with third-party manufacturers or manufacturing proesssr failure to comply with regulatory
requirements, may result in, among other things:

. restrictions on the marketing or manufactufghe product, withdrawal of the product from tharket, or voluntary or mandatory
product recalls

. fines, warning letters or holds on clinical trie

. refusal by the FDA to approve pending applmadi or supplements to approved applications filedsor our strategic partners, or
suspension or revocation of product license appso

. product seizure or detention, or refusal to peth@timport or export of products; a

. injunctions, the imposition of civil or criminal palties, or exclusion:
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The FDA's policies may change and additional gowregnt regulations may be enacted that could preligrit,or delay regulatory
approval of our product candidates. If we are stownable to adapt to changes in existing requirgser the adoption of new requirements ol
policies, or if we are not able to maintain regoitgtcompliance, we may lose any marketing apprthetl we may have obtained and we may
not achieve or sustain profitability, which wouldve a material adverse effect on our businessppots, financial condition and results of
operations.

Moreover, the recently enacted federal Drug Su@lgin Security Act, imposes new obligations on niiacturers of pharmaceutical
products, among others, related to product trackimtjtracing. Among the requirements of this nesefal legislation, manufacturers will be
required to provide certain information regardihg tirug product to individuals and entities to vilhicoduct ownership is transferred, label
drug product with a product identifier, and keepaie records regarding the drug product. Furtbeder this new legislation, manufacturers
will have drug product investigation, quarantinispasition, and notification responsibilities reldtto counterfeit, diverted, stolen, and
intentionally adulterated products, as well as potgl that are the subject of fraudulent transast@rwhich are otherwise unfit for distribution
such that they would be reasonably likely to resutterious health consequences or death.

We will need to increase the size of our organipatiand the scope of our outside vendor relationsh)ipnd we may experience difficulties
in managing growth.

As of December 31, 2013 we had eight full-time evgpks and one-part time employee. In addition, awelengaged patitme individua
consultants to assist us with establishing accogrgystems, managing vendors and CROs, projectgearent, regulatory compliance and
business development. We will need to expand ouragerial, operational, financial and other resasiineorder to manage our operations and
clinical trials, continue our research and develeptractivities, and commercialize our product cdath. Our management and scientific
personnel, systems and facilities currently in @laay not be adequate to support our future groin.need to effectively manage our
operations, growth and various projects requiras\tre:

. manage our clinical trials effectively, includingrawo planned Phase 3 clinical trials of PRX3

. manage our internal development efforts effetyi while carrying out our contractual obligaticwslicensors, contractors and other
third parties;

. continue to improve our operational, financial amanagement controls and reporting systems and guoeg;
. attract and retain sufficient numbers of talentaghleyees; an

. manage our regulatory compliance oversight andstifucture

To date, we have utilized the services of thirdypsendors to perform tasks including clinical km@anagement, statistics and analysis,
regulatory affairs, formulation development andeottirug development functions. Our growth strategy also entail expanding our group of
contractors or consultants to implement these tgeksy forward. Because we rely on numerous coastdt effectively outsourcing many key
functions of our business, we will need to be @bleffectively manage these consultants to en$atethey successfully carry out their
contractual obligations and meet expected deadltesever, if we are unable to effectively manage autsourced activities or if the quality
or accuracy of the services provided by consultsnt®mpromised for any reason, our clinical trialsy be extended, delayed or terminated,
and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approvaur product candidate or otherwise advanaebmsiness. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to manage our existing corst or find other competent outside contractodsamsultants on economically reasonable
terms, or at all. If we are not able to effectivekpand our organization by hiring new employeas@tpanding our groups of consultants and
contractors, we may be unable to successfully impl# the tasks necessary to further develop andnesoialize our product candidate and,
accordingly, may not achieve our research, devedmtrand commercialization goals.

The terms of our senior debt facility require us toeet certain operating and financial covenants aplhce restrictions on our operating
and financial flexibility. If we raise additional apital through debt financing, the terms of any nedebt could further restrict our ability
to operate our business.

In July 2011, we entered into a $15 million sersiecured loan with Oxford Finance LLC, or Oxford,ieth as amended, we refer to as
the Oxford Loan. The Oxford Loan is secured byea kovering all of our assets, including intellettproperty, and we also pledged as
collateral all of our equity interests in Sophi&i® Corp. and Sophiris Bio Holding Corp. We areighted to make monthly payments of
principal and interest through the maturity dat&offember 1, 2014, assuming there is no defaultréfsailts in acceleration of the debt. In
connection with the Oxford Loan, we entered intararestment letter agreement, or the InvestmentekLawith Oxford, which grants Oxford
the right to purchase up to $1 million of specifseturities in connection with a qualified finarginvolving the private sale of our common
shares or common-convertible securities througlolat 2014, subject to additional restrictions déstt in the Investment Letter.
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The loan agreement governing the Oxford Loan costaustomary affirmative and negative covenantierimification provisions and
events of default. The affirmative covenants ineluaimong others, covenants requiring us to maimtainegal existence and governmental
approvals, deliver certain financial reports andmaén certain intellectual property rights. Thegagve covenants include, among others,
restrictions on transferring or licensing our assehanging our business, incurring additional lmdéness, engaging in mergers or acquisiti
paying dividends or making other distributions, anelating other liens on our assets, in each adged to customary exceptions. If we defi
under the Oxford Loan, Oxford may accelerate abwfrepayment obligations and take control ofmledged assets, potentially requiring u
renegotiate our agreement on terms less favorahle br to immediately cease operations. Furthereiare liquidated, Oxford’s right to
repayment would be senior to the rights of the éaf our common shares to receive any proceedsthe liquidation. Oxford could declare
a default under the Oxford Loan upon the occurreri@ny event that Oxford interprets as a matenderse change as defined under the loar
agreement, thereby requiring us to repay the loanddiately or to attempt to reverse the declaratfatefault through negotiation or litigatic
Any declaration by Oxford of an event of defaultultbsignificantly harm our business and prospestsa@uld cause the price of our common
shares to decline. If we raise any additional dielincing, the terms of such additional debt cdulther restrict our operating and financial
flexibility.

We rely on third parties to manufacture PRX302 aad ingredient used in the diluent used to adminisfgRX302, and we intend to rely
on third parties to manufacture commercial supplies PRX302, if and when it is approved. The devetamt and commercialization of
PRX302 could be stopped or delayed if any suchdhparty fails to provide us with sufficient quanigs of the product or the diluent or
fails to do so at acceptable quality levels or @scor fails to maintain or achieve satisfactory rdgtory compliance.

We do not currently have nor do we plan to acqtiesinfrastructure or capability internally to mé&aeture our clinical drug supplies for
use in the conduct of our clinical trials, and &ek the resources and the capability to manufa&®¥302 on a clinical or commercial scale.
Instead, we rely on our third-party manufacturiagtper, Boehringer Ingleheim RCV GmbH & Co KG, dr Bcated in Austria, for the
production of PRX302 and Bl Germany for fill andtiag services pursuant to an agreement which wareshinto in 2011. Bl currently
procures an ingredient used in the formulationRKBO02 from a multinational industrial biotech comgavhich is a single source supplier, on
a purchase order basis. The facilities used byttord-party manufacturer to manufacture PRX302 amg other potential product candidates
that we may develop in the future must be apprdwethe applicable regulatory authorities, includihg FDA, pursuant to inspections that \
be conducted after we submit our BLA to the FDA. #idenot control the manufacturing processes ofri8l @are currently completely depenc
on Bl for the production of PRX302 in accordanc&waGMPs, which include, among other things, qualdntrol, quality assurance and the
maintenance of records and documentation.

Although we have entered into an agreement fontheufacture of clinical supplies and initial compiak supplies of PRX302, Bl may
not perform as agreed, may be unable to comply thitebe cGMP requirements and with FDA, state areldo regulatory requirements or v
terminate its agreement with us. Moreover, we hrateentered into a commercial supply agreement Biithnd Bl has not demonstrated that it
will be capable of manufacturing PRX302 on a lasgmmercial scale. Further, if our single sourcevigler is unable to or decides to no longel
supply Bl or us with an ingredient for the diluemwg could experience delays in obtaining productfmical trials until we procured another
source or until we reformulate the product. Refdation could result in significant further delaysse would be required to conduct additic
clinical trials.

If our third-party manufacturer cannot successfaignufacture material that conforms to our spegtift;s and the applicable regulatory
authorities’ strict regulatory requirements, orgesgulatory inspection, they will not be able éowe or maintain regulatory approval for the
manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have ramtrol over the ability of any third-party manufar to maintain adequate quality control,
quality assurance and qualified personnel. If tBéer any other applicable regulatory authoritiesnibt approve these facilities for the
manufacture of our products or if they withdraw amgh approval in the future, or if our suppliershird-party manufacturer decide they no
longer want to supply our biologic or manufactuoe products, we may need to find alternative mactuféng facilities, which would
significantly impact our ability to develop, obtaigulatory approval for or market our products. Might be unable to identify manufacturers
for long-term commercial supply on acceptable teomat all. Manufacturers are subject to ongoinggokic unannounced inspection by the
FDA and other governmental authorities to ensutetstompliance with government regulations. Cutlsgrour contract manufacturer is
located outside the United States and the FDA é@antly increased the number of foreign drug mastufars which it inspects. As a result,
our third-party manufacturer may be subject togased scrutiny.

If we were to experience an unexpected loss of RR&ipply, we could experience delays in our orgaimd planned Phase 3 clinical
trials as Bl would need to manufacture additiorRKB02 and would need sufficient lead time to schedumanufacturing slot. This is due to
the fact that, given its nature, PRX302 cannot baufactured in the Bl facility at the same timeoti®er biologics.
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PRX302 is manufactured by starting with cells whéca stored in a cell bank. We have one mastebaelk and multiple working cell
banks and believe we would have adequate backupdshoy cell bank be lost in a catastrophic evieiotvever, it is possible that we could |
multiple cell banks and have our manufacturing sglyémpacted by the need to replace the cell banks

The manufacture of biopharmaceutical products isgiex and requires significant expertise and capiteestment, including the
development of advanced manufacturing techniqudsparcess controls. We and our contract manufastuneist comply with cGMP
regulations and guidelines. Manufacturers of bioptaceutical products often encounter difficultieproduction, particularly in scaling up ¢
validating initial production and contamination.€eBe problems include difficulties with productiarsts and yields, quality control, including
stability of the product, quality assurance testgerator error, shortages of qualified persoraeelyvell as compliance with strictly enforced
federal, state and foreign regulations. Furthermibraicrobial, viral or other contaminations areabvered in our products or in the
manufacturing facilities in which our products amade, such manufacturing facilities may need tolbged for an extended period of time to
investigate and remedy the contamination. We caasstre you that any stability or other issuedirgldo the manufacture of any of our
products will not occur in the future. Additiongliyur manufacturer may experience manufacturinficdifies due to resource constraints or as
a result of labor disputes or unstable politicalimmments. If our manufacturer were to encountsr af these difficulties, or otherwise fail to
comply with their contractual obligations, our @liko provide any product candidates to patientslinical trials would be jeopardized. Any
delay or interruption in the supply of clinicalatisupplies could delay the completion of clinitéls, increase the costs associated with
maintaining clinical trial programs and, dependinqpn the period of delay, require us to commeneecimical trials at additional expense or
terminate clinical trials completely.

Any adverse developments affecting clinical or caneial manufacturing of our products may resulliippment delays, inventory
shortages, lot failures, product withdrawals ol the need to reformulate our product or othirruptions in the supply of our products.
We may also have to take inventory write-offs amzlir other charges and expenses for productsatab fmeet specifications, undertake
costly remediation efforts or seek more costly nfiacturing alternatives. Accordingly, failures offitiulties faced at any level of our supply
chain could materially adversely affect our businasd delay or impede the development and comntieatian of any of our products or
product candidates and could have a material aeedfect on our business, prospects, financial itiomdand results of operations.

Our ability to generate revenues from PRX302 wi# bubject to attaining significant market acceptanamong physicians, patients and
healthcare payers.

PRX302, if approved, may not attain market accepgaamong physicians, patients, healthcare paydheonedical community. We
believe that the degree of market acceptance andhility to generate revenues from PRX302 will elegh on a number of factors, including:

. timing of market introduction of our products asliveess competitive drugs

. efficacy and safety of PRX30

. the clinical indication(s) for which PRX302 is apped;

. continued projected growth of the urological diseamarkets, including incidence of BP

. acceptance by patients, primary care specialistkay specialists, including urologis

. potential or perceived advantages or disadgastaf PRX302 over alternative treatments, inclgdiost of treatment and relative
convenience and ease of administration and lerfgghstained benefits from treatme

. strength of sales, marketing and distribution suf)

. the price of PRX302, both in absolute terms anatired to alternative treatmen

. the effect of current and future healthcare le

. availability of coverage and adequate coveragmbieisement and pricing from government and othed-party payers; an

. product labeling or product insert requirementthefFDA or other regulatory authoritie

If PRX302 is approved but fails to attain marketeq@tance by physicians, patients, health care pagethe medical community, we m
not be able to generate significant revenue toeaehor sustain profitability, which would have ateral adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of opens.
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Coverage and reimbursement may not be availablemary be available at only limited levels, for PRX3@vhich could make it difficult
for us to sell PRX302 profitably.

Market acceptance and sales of PRX302 will depenarge part on global reimbursement policies aag be affected by future
healthcare reform measures, both in the UniteceStatd other key international markets. Patients avh prescribed medicine for the
treatment of their conditions generally rely ondhparty payers to reimburse all or part of thetgassociated with their prescription drugs.
Patients are unlikely to use our products unlessmage is provided and reimbursement is adequatevier a significant portion of the cost of
our products. Therefore, successful commerciabmadf our product will depend in part on the auvaility of governmental and third-party
payer reimbursement for the cost of PRX302 anddgmnent to the physician for administering PRX302tHe United States, no uniform pol
of coverage and reimbursement for drug productst®zaimong thirgarty payers. Therefore, coverage and reimbursefoedtug products ce
differ significantly from payer to payer. As a réisthe coverage determination process is oftéma-tonsuming and costly process that will
require us to provide scientific and clinical suggdor the use of our products to each payer séglgravith no assurance that coverage and
adequate reimbursement will be obtained. One théndy payer’s decision to cover a particular meldicaduct or service does not assure that
other payers will also provide coverage for the italdoroduct or service, or to provide coveragarahdequate reimbursement rate. As a re
the coverage determination process will requireoysrovide scientific and clinical support for thee of our products to each payer separately
with no assurance that adequate coverage and reserhant will be obtained. Further, a third-partygyé decision to provide coverage for a
medical product or service does not imply that deqaate reimbursement rate will be approved. Thi&eh&or our product candidates will
depend significantly on access to third-party pay@rmularies, or lists of treatments for whiclirthparty payers provide coverage and
reimbursement.

Government health administration authorities, gevaealth insurers and other organizations estabtiserage and reimbursement
policies for new products, including product caradiég like PRX302. In particular, in the United 8satprivate health insurers and other third-
party payers often provide reimbursement for tregiis based on the level at which the governmerdi(tih the Medicare or Medicaid
programs) provides reimbursement for such treatsnémthe United States, the EEA and other sigaifior potentially significant markets for
our product candidate, government authorities hivd-party payers are increasingly attempting taitlior regulate the price of medical
products and services, particularly for new anaimative products and therapies, which has residtémlver average selling prices. Further,
increased emphasis on managed healthcare in thedUiates and on country and regional pricingraimdbursement controls in Canada and
the EEA will put additional pressure on productpri, coverage, reimbursement and utilization, Whitay adversely affect our product sales
and results of operations. These pressures canfasis policies and practices of managed care grdudicial decisions and governmental
laws and regulations related to Medicare, Medieaid healthcare reform, coverage and reimbursenatictgs and pricing in general. Any
reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or oth@eragnment programs may result in a similar reductiopayments from private payers.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhre Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edndstfordability Reconciliatiol
Act, or collectively, PPACA, became law in the WnitStates. PPACA substantially changes the wayhueat is financed by both
governmental and private insurers and significaatfgcts the pharmaceutical industry. Among thevigions of PPACA of greatest importar
to the pharmaceutical industry are the followirigag annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thahufactures or imports certain branded
prescription drugs and biologic agents, apporticeradng these entities according to their marketesimecertain government healthcare
programs; (ii) an increase in the rebates a matwicmust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Rrogo 23.1% and 13% of the average
manufacturer price for branded and generic druggpactively; (i) a new Medicare Part D coverage discount program, in which
manufacturers must agree to offer 50% poinsale discounts to negotiated prices of applicatdadbdrugs to eligible beneficiaries during tl
coverage gap period, as a condition for the mamufacs outpatient drugs to be covered under Medi€art D; (iv) extension of
manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to covedrdgs dispensed to individuals who are enrollel@dicaid managed care organizations;
(v) expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicajgrograms by, among other things, allowing statesffier Medicaid coverage to additional
individuals and by adding new mandatory eligibiligtegories for certain individuals with incomeoabelow 133% of the Federal Poverty
Level beginning in 2014, thereby potentially in@ieg manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability; (epansion of the entities eligible for
discounts under the Public Health Service pharmta@ypricing program; (vii) expansion of healthredraud and abuse laws, including the
False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute, mgwernment investigative powers, and enhancediieshfor noncompliance; and (viii) a
new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Instituteeisee, identify priorities in, and conduct conapiae clinical effectiveness research,
along with funding for such research. We cannotlistevhether legal challenges will result in chamgthe PPACA or if other legislative
changes will be adopted, or how such changes waftédt our business.
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In the EEA, the success of PRX302, if approved, dépend largely on obtaining and maintaining gawent reimbursement, because in
many European countries patients are unlikely ®thsrapies that are not reimbursed by the govarhriegotiating prices with governmental
authorities can delay commercialization by 12 memhmore. Reimbursement policies may adversecaéiur ability to sell our products o
profitable basis. In many international marketsyaggoments control the prices of prescription phaeugicals, including through the
implementation of reference pricing, price cuthates, revenue-related taxes and profit contral,eaapect prices of prescription
pharmaceuticals to decline over the life of thedpiai or as volumes increase. Recently, many casinithe EEA have increased the amount
of discounts required on pharmaceutical productsadher therapies, and we expect these discourtinue as countries attempt to manage
healthcare expenditures, especially in light ofent economic conditions. As a result of theseipgipractices, it may become difficult to
achieve profitability or expected rates of growttlrévenue or results of operations. Any shortfalleevenue could adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and resilbperations.

Certain countries have a very difficult reimbursetrenvironment and we may not obtain reimburseroepticing approval, if required,
in all countries where we expect to market a prgducwe may obtain reimbursement approval at allthat would make marketing a product
in certain countries not viable

We expect to experience pricing pressures in cdiorewith the sale of PRX302, if approved, and attyer products that we may
develop, due to the trend toward managed healthta@éncreasing influence of health maintenangawizations and additional legislative
proposals. If we fail to successfully secure anénhtain adequate coverage and reimbursement foprmaucts or are significantly delayed in
doing so, we will have difficulty achieving marlatceptance of our products and expected revenuprafithbility which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospitsicial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to successfully acquire, develop and rket additional product candidates or approved pumds could impair our ability to
grow.

As part of our growth strategy, we may acquire,ali@y and/or market additional products and prodaatlidates. Because our internal
research capabilities are limited, we may be depetdpon pharmaceutical and biotechnology compaa@siemic scientists and other
researchers to sell or license products or teclgydio us. The success of this strategy dependly pgodn our ability to identify, select and
acquire promising pharmaceutical product candidatesproducts.

The process of proposing, negotiating and impleingra license or acquisition of a product candigatapproved product is lengthy and
complex. Other companies, including some with sutilly greater financial, marketing and sale®ueses, may compete with us for the
license or acquisition of product candidates art@ped products. We have limited resources to iffeahd execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third-party products, businesses actiiologies and integrate them into our curremagifucture. Moreover, we may devote
resources to potential acquisitions or in-licensipgortunities that are never completed, or we fadyo realize the anticipated benefits of
such efforts. We may not be able to acquire thiatsigp additional product candidates on termswleafind acceptable, or at all.

In addition, future acquisitions may entail numeroperational and financial risks, including:

. exposure to unknown liabilitie

. disruption of our business and diversion of our agemer’s time and attention to develop acquired producteahnologies
. incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuanafesecurities to pay for acquisitiot

. higher than expected acquisition and integratiosts;

. increased amortization expens

. difficulty and cost in combining the operations getsonnel of any acquired businesses with ouradip@s and personne

. impairment of relationships with key supplierscustomers of any acquired businesses due t@ekan management and
ownership; ant

. inability to retain key employees of any acquiredinesses
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Further, any product candidate that we acquire ragyire additional development efforts prior to enercial sale, including extensive
clinical testing and approval by the FDA and apgitie foreign regulatory authorities. All produchdédates are prone to risks of failure typica
of pharmaceutical product development, includirgypbssibility that a product candidate will notd®wn to be sufficiently safe and effective
for approval by regulatory authorities. In additiere cannot provide assurance that any productsvina@evelop or approved products that we
acquire will be manufactured profitably or achiemarket acceptance.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresirdaarnal computer systems and those of our ctiaed any future CROs and other
contractors and consultants and collaborators alreexable to damage from computer viruses, unaizthdaccess, natural disasters, terrorism
war and telecommunication and electrical failuk&bile we have not experienced any such materidésy$ailure, accident or security breach
to date, if such an event were to occur and cauiseruiptions in our operations, it could resultiimaterial disruption of our development
programs and our business operations. For exatigléoss of clinical trial data from completed otufre clinical trials could result in delays in
our regulatory approval efforts and significanthgliease our costs to recover or reproduce the ldatawise, we rely on third parties to
manufacture PRX302 and conduct clinical trials, simtilar events relating to their computer systemsld also have a material adverse effect
on our business. To the extent that any disrupiiosecurity breach were to result in a loss ofjamage to, our data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or profaig information, we could incur liability and tifierther development and commercialization
of our product candidate could be delayed.

Business interruptions could seriously harm our fue revenue and financial condition and increase ocosts and expenses.

Our operations could be subject to earthquakesepehortages, telecommunications failures, sysfaitises, water shortages, floods,
hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather cmndit medical epidemics and other natural or madentisasters or business interruptions.
The occurrence of any of these business intermptould seriously harm our business and finamciatiition and increase our costs and
expenses. A majority of our management operatesiiprincipal executive offices located in San DigGalifornia. If our San Diego offices
were affected by a natural or man-made disasteticpiarly those that are characteristic of theiwagsuch as wildfires and earthquakes, or
other business interruption, our ability to managedomestic and foreign operations could be ingghiwhich could materially and adversely
affect our results of operations and financial ébad. We currently rely, and intend to rely in theure, on our third-party manufacturer, Bl,
which is located in Austria and Germany, to prodogesupply of PRX302. Our ability to obtain supgliPRX302 could be disrupted, and our
results of operations and financial condition cdoddmaterially and adversely affected if the operatof Bl were affected by a man-made or
natural disaster or other business interruptiore Tltimate impact of such events on us, our sigaift suppliers and our general infrastructu
unknown.

Our business involves the use of hazardous matariahd we and our third-party manufacturer must cpitg with environmental laws
and regulations, which can be expensive and regthiow we do business.

Our third-party manufactures’activities involve the controlled storage, usé disposal of hazardous materials owned by us,dieg the
components of PRX302 and other hazardous compo@Gpesifically, the cleavage of the PSA-sensitivitvation sequence of PRX302 in the
manufacturing process could potentially lead tortiease of the C-terminal inhibitory peptide réaglin the formation of active aerolysin, a
pore-forming hemolytic toxin. We and our manufaetuaire subject to federal, state and local asagelbreign laws and regulations governing
the use, manufacture, storage, handling and dispb#zese hazardous materials. Although we beltbaéthe safety procedures utilized by ou
third-party manufacturer for handling and disposifighese materials comply with the standards pilesd by these laws and regulations, we
cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamanatr injury from these materials. Bl, our thirdgyamanufacturer, does not manufacture
PRX302 in its facility at the same time as it mautfires other biologics due to the toxic naturaesblysin. In the event of an accident, state,
federal or foreign authorities may curtail the o§¢hese materials and interrupt our business dpesa We do not currently maintain
hazardous materials insurance coverage. If weudnjed to any liability as a result of our thirdrgamanufacturer’s activities involving
hazardous materials, our business and financialiton may be adversely affected. In the futurenasey seek to establish longer term third-
party manufacturing arrangements, pursuant to wivielivould seek to obtain contractual indemnificatwotection from such third-party
manufacturers potentially limiting this liabilityposure.
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If product liability lawsuits are brought againstsj we may incur substantial liabilities and may beguired to limit commercialization of
our products.

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing and, if approveds tommercialization of PRX302. For
example, we may be sued if any product we devdlegexly causes injury or is found to be otherwissuitable during clinical testing,
manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such prodiatility claims may include allegations of defeaisnanufacturing, defects in design, a
failure to warn of dangers inherent in the prodaegligence, strict liability or a breach of waries. Claims could also be asserted under stat
or foreign consumer protection acts. If we canmetessfully defend ourselves against product lighglaims, we may incur substantial
liabilities or be required to limit commercializai of our product candidate. Even a successfuhdefevould require significant financial and
management resources. Regardless of the meritentual outcome, liability claims may result in:

. decreased demand for our product or product catefidaat we may develo
. injury to our reputation

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants

. initiation of investigations by regulatot

. costs to defend the related litigatic

. a diversion of manageme¢'s time and our resource

. substantial monetary awards to clinical trial papnts or patient:

. product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketargoromotional restriction:
. loss of revenue

. exhaustion of any available insurance and our abpgsources

. the inability to commercialize our products or puoticandidates; ar

. a decline in our share pric

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient praduiability insurance at an acceptable cost tdgubagainst potential product liability

claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialipatof products we develop. We currently carry paidiability insurance covering our
clinical studies and commercial product sales enghmount of $10 million in the aggregate.

Although we maintain such insurance, any claim thay be brought against us could result in a godgment or settlement in an
amount that is not covered, in whole or in partphy insurance or that is in excess of the limitswr insurance coverage. If we determine that
it is prudent to increase our product liability eoage due to the commercial launch of any produetnay be unable to obtain such increased
coverage on acceptable terms or at all. Our inggraolicies also have various exclusions, and we easubject to a product liability claim
which we have no coverage. We will have to payampunts awarded by a court or negotiated in aesedtht that exceed our coverage
limitations or that are not covered by our insusggrand we may not have, or be able to obtain,Sefft capital to pay such amounts.

If we are not successful in attracting and retairgrhighly qualified personnel, we may not be ablestaccessfully implement our
business strategy.

Our ability to compete in the highly competitivetdchnology and pharmaceuticals industries depepds our ability to attract and
retain highly qualified managerial, scientific ameédical personnel. We are highly dependent on amagement and scientific and medical
personnel, including our Executive Chairman, Lakmin, M.D., Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer aPksident, Randall E. Woods, and our
Chief Operating Officer and Head of Research angeldpment, Allison Hulme, Ph.D. In order to retaamluable employees at our company
addition to salary and cash incentives, we proindentive stock options that vest over time. Thie@do employees of stock options that vest
over time will be significantly affected by moventgin our share price that are beyond our contirad, may at any time be insufficient to
counteract more lucrative offers from other compani

Our scientific team in particular has expertiseniany different aspects of drug discovery and depraknt, and may be difficult to retain
or replace. We conduct our operations at our tasliin San Diego, California and this region iadiguarters to many other biopharmaceutical
companies and many academic and research instisugiod therefore we face increased competitiopdosonnel in this location. Competition
for skilled personnel in our market is very inteasel competition for experienced scientists mayt lour ability to hire and retain highly
qualified personnel on acceptable terms.
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In addition, we have scientific and clinical advsavho assist us in formulating our product develept and clinical strategies. These
advisors are not our employees and may have conmanisio, or consulting or advisory contracts wilter entities that may limit their
availability to us, or may have arrangements witieocompanies to assist in the development ofuymrsdhat may compete with ours.

Despite our efforts to retain valuable employeesmipers of our management and scientific and demreopteams may terminate their
employment with us on short notice. Although weéduawitten employment arrangements with all of ouptoyees, these employment
arrangements provide for at-will employment, whiahans that our employees can leave our employnentyaime, with or without notice.
The loss of the services of any of our executifieefs or other key employees and our inabilitfinal suitable replacements could potentially
harm our business, financial condition and progpate do not maintain “key man” insurance polideshe lives of these individuals or the
lives of any of our other employees.

Our employees, independent contractors, consultaotsmmercial partners and vendors may engage inaaigduct or other improper
activities, including noncompliance with regulatorstandards and requirements and insider trading.

We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other illegaivity by our employees, independent contragtoonsultants, commercial partners
and vendors. Misconduct by these parties couldideintentional, reckless and/or negligent conthet fails to: comply with the laws of the
FDA and other similar regulatory bodies; providgetrcomplete and accurate information to the FDé ather similar regulatory bodies;
comply with manufacturing standards we have esthbl; comply with federal and state healthcaredfemd abuse laws and other similar
foreign fraudulent misconduct laws; or report finghinformation or data accurately or discloseutharized activities to us. These laws may
impact, among other things, our activities withnpipal investigators and research subjects, asasadur sales, marketing and education
programs. In particular, the promotion, sales, madketing of health care items and services, akagalertain business arrangements in the
healthcare industry, are subject to extensive latended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbackH:dealing and other abusive practices.
These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide rangprafing, discounting, marketing and promotionusturing and commission(s), certain
customer incentive programs and other businesageraents generally. Misconduct could also invohesitnproper use or disclosure of
information obtained in the course of clinical fsiavhich could result in regulatory sanctions aedous harm to our reputation. Additionally,
we are subject to state and foreign equivaleneaoh of the healthcare laws described above, sbmkich may be broader in scope and may
apply regardless of the payer.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsi:thit it is not always possible to identify amded misconduct, and the
precautions we take to detect and prevent inapg@tepconduct may not be effective in controllindkmawn or unmanaged risks or losses or in
protecting us from governmental investigations thieo actions or lawsuits stemming from a failurééoin compliance with such laws. Efforts
to ensure that our business arrangements will cpmiph applicable healthcare laws may involve sabsal costs. It is possible that
governmental and enforcement authorities will codelthat our business practices may not comply evithent or future statutes, regulations
or case law interpreting applicable fraud and almusgher healthcare laws. If any such actiondres#tuted against us, and we are not
successful in defending ourselves or assertingights, those actions could have a significant iobjpa our business, including the imposition
of significant civil, criminal and administrativeepalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgematividual imprisonment, possible exclusion
from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and otfiedleral healthcare programs, contractual damagpstational harm, diminished profits and
future earnings, and curtailment of our operati@my, of which could adversely affect our abilitydperate our business and our results of
operations. Defending against any such actiondeasostly, time-consuming and may require signifidmancial and personnel resources.
Therefore, even if we are successful in defendgajrest any such actions that may be brought agamsiur business may be impaired.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to market and sell any products
we may develop, we may not be able to effectivelyket and sell our products and generate producteaue.

We are developing PRX302 for large patient popoietiserved by urologists as well as general pegtiysicians, which number in the
tens of thousands in the United States. Traditipharmaceutical companies employ groups of safgesentatives numbering in the thouse
to call on this large of a number of physicians. #éenot currently have an organization for the salarketing or distribution of PRX302 and
we must build this organization or make arrangeseiith third parties to perform these function®ider to commercialize PRX302 and any
future products. We intend to establish (eithesrimally or through a contract sales force) a sale to sell PRX302, if approved, in the
United States. We plan to partner with third parte commercialize PRX302 outside the United Stétke establishment and development of
our own sales force or the establishment of a ashgales force to market any products we may dpvalthe United States will be expensive
and time consuming and could delay any productdayand we cannot be certain that we would be taldeiccessfully develop this capacity
we are unable to establish our sales and markeéipgbility or any other notechnical capabilities necessary to commercialige@oducts wi
may develop, we will need to contract with thirdtps to market and sell such products in the Wn8ates. We currently possess limited
resources and may not be successful in establishingwn internal sales force or in establishinguagements with third parties on acceptable
terms, if at all.
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Risks Related to Our Financial Position and CapitaRequirements

We will need to obtain additional financing to cortgte the development and commercialization of PRX2zhd to repay existing debt ar
we may be unable to raise capital when needed, Whiould force us to delay, reduce or eliminate algvelopment program or
commercialization efforts.

Our operations have consumed substantial amourmnsdf since inception. Since inception, we hasedhapproximately $111 million
from the sale of equity securities in private plaeats and public offerings as well as approxima®®ynillion from the exercise of common
share purchase warrants. In July 2011, we entetedhe Oxford Loan for $15 million, which we aepaying over a 39-month period.

We expect to continue to spend substantial amdanmtspay our Oxford Loan, to continue clinical deyement, including the conduct of
our planned Phase 3 clinical trials and any futeopiired clinical development, and seek regulasqproval for PRX302, and to launch and
commercialize PRX302, if approved.

We expect that our existing cash, together witaregt thereon, will be sufficient to fund our openas for at least the next 12 months.
However, changing circumstances may cause us suoom capital significantly faster than we curreaihyicipate, and we may need to spend
more money than currently expected because ofrogtances beyond our control. For example, our arggor planned Phase 3 clinical trial
may encounter technical, enrollment or other issh@asscould cause our development costs to incremse than we expected. In any event, we
expect that we will require additional capital tmplete development of PRX302, including completibiboth of our planned Phase 3 clinical
trials, and to obtain regulatory approval of anddmmercialize PRX302.

We expect to finance future cash needs throughigoabprivate equity offerings, debt financingsstrategic partnerships and alliances
and licensing arrangements, as well as throughdsténcome earned on cash balances. We cannettaéncthat additional funding will be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. Subgeétrtited exceptions, the Oxford Loan also profshis from incurring indebtedness without the
prior written consent of Oxford. If we are unabderdise additional capital in sufficient amountoarterms acceptable to us we may have to
significantly delay, scale back or discontinue dieeelopment or commercialization of PRX302. We alsold be required to:

. seek collaborators for one or more of our autroe future product candidates at an earlier stage otherwise would be desirable or
on terms that are less favorable than might otreerlve available; ¢

. relinquish or license on unfavorable terms rigints to technologies or product candidates treabtherwise would seek to develop
or commercialize ourselve

Any of the above events could significantly harm business, prospects, financial condition andltesd operations and cause the price
of our common shares to decline.

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmgr inception and anticipate that we will continu® incur losses for the foreseeable
future.

We have a limited operating history and we havarfoed our operations primarily through equity aedtdinancings and have incurred
significant operating losses since our inceptiomr. Nid a net loss of $11.1 million, $21.2 milliond&14.2 million during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelpfAecember 31, 2013, we had an accumulated defi§84.8 million. Our prior losses,
combined with expected future losses, have hadadlhdontinue to have an adverse effect on our shalders'deficit and working capital. Ol
losses have resulted principally from costs inalifneour research activities for PRX302. We anttépthat our operating losses will
substantially increase over the next several yassge continue development of PRX302, includingatreduct of our ongoing and planned
Phase 3 clinical trials. In addition, if we obtaggulatory approval of PRX302, we may incur sigrafit sales and marketing expenses and
outsourced manufacturing expenses, as well asmemdtidevelopment expenses. Because of the numésksignd uncertainties associated
with developing pharmaceutical products, we aréblento predict the extent of any future losses betlver or when we will become profitable.
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We have not generated any product revenue and mayen become profitable.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon duilitg to develop and commercialize PRX302. To dather than the upfront payment
we received from Kissei and the $5.0 million mitest payment we received in April 2013 from Kissgithe achievement of development
milestones, we have not generated any revenuePiRKXB02 and we do not know when, or if, we will gexte any future revenue. Our ability
to generate future revenue depends on a numbacufir, including:

. successfully completing our ongoing and planneds@I3aclinical trials for PRX30:

. obtaining U.S. and/or foreign regulatory approvyatsPRX302;

. manufacturing commercial quantities of PRX302 a@eatable costs levels if regulatory approvals aceived:

. achieving broad market acceptance of PRX302 imtédical community and with thi-party payors and patients; a

. creating an internal commercial infrastructarédentifying and entering into one or more stgatecollaborations to effectively
market and sell PRX30.

We may never be able to successfully develop omeernialize PRX302. Even if we do obtain regulatapproval to commercialize
PRX302, which we do not expect to occur for seveealrs, we may never generate product sales andhevay achieve or sustain profitability
on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to bee@nd remain profitable would depress the manke¢ pf our common shares and could
impair our ability to raise capital, expand our iness, diversify our product offerings or contiraug operations.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to pexisting shareholders, restrict our operations equire us to relinquish intellectual
property rights to our product candidates.

We may seek additional capital through a combimatibpublic and private equity offerings, debt fieings, strategic partnerships and
alliances and licensing arrangements. To the ext@btve raise additional capital through the sélequity or convertible debt securities, the
ownership interest of our existing shareholders lvaldiluted, and the terms may include liquidatimrother preferences that adversely affect
the rights of our shareholders. Debt financings imaygoupled with an equity component, such as westta purchase shares, which could als
result in dilution of our existing shareholders’mavship. The incurrence of indebtedness would résihcreased fixed payment obligations
and could also result in certain restrictive covegasuch as limitations on our ability to incuddinal debt, limitations on our ability to
acquire or license intellectual property rights atiter operating restrictions that could advergalyact our ability to conduct our business. If
we raise additional funds through strategic padinigis and alliances and licensing arrangementsthiitth parties, we may have to relinquish
valuable rights to our product candidates, or gliaahses on terms that are not favorable to us.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net preds from our initial public offering and may notsge them effectively.

Our management has broad discretion in the apiglicaf the net proceeds from our initial publicefhg, or IPO. Because of the num
and variability of factors that will determine ause of the net proceeds from our IPO, their ultengte may vary substantially from their
currently intended use. Our management may noyapplcash from our IPO in ways that ultimatelyregse the value of any investment in
our securities. The failure by our management fgyaihese funds effectively could harm our busin®ge have invested the net proceeds fron
our IPO in short-term, investment-grade, interesdring securities. These investments may not ydklorable return to our shareholders. If
we do not invest or apply our cash in ways thatech shareholder value, we may fail to achieve @rgeinancial results, which could cause
the price of our common shares to decline.

Unstable market and economic conditions may haveaes adverse consequences on our business, finanobndition and share price.

As widely reported, global credit and financial kets have experienced extreme disruptions in teegmveral years, including severely
diminished liquidity and credit availability, deaés in consumer confidence, declines in econonuierifr, increases in unemployment rates,
uncertainty about economic stability. There camb@ssurance that further deterioration in creuit fnancial markets and confidence in
economic conditions will not occur. Our generalibass strategy may be adversely affected by arly scenomic downturn, volatile business
environment and continued unpredictable and urstalalrket conditions. If the current equity and drethrkets deteriorate further, or do not
improve, it may make any necessary debt or eqirignting more difficult to complete, more costlpdamore dilutive. Failure to secure any
necessary financing in a timely manner and on favlerterms could have a material adverse effecuomgrowth strategy, financial
performance and share price and could require dsltty or abandon development or commercializgtlans. In addition, there is a risk that
one or more of our current service providers, maciufrers and other partners may not survive thigéeutt economic times, which could
directly affect our ability to attain our operatiggals on schedule and on budget.
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At December 31, 2013, we had $14.8 million of cast cash equivalents and $33.3 million in securiieailable-for-sale. While we are
not aware of any downgrades, material losses,aratignificant deterioration in the fair valueafr cash equivalents since December 31,
2013, no assurance can be given that further ded¢ion in conditions of the global credit and fie&l markets would not negatively impact
our current portfolio of cash equivalents or ouitighbto meet our financing objectives. Furtherldisations in the credit market may adversely
impact the value and/or liquidity of cash equivéseowned by us.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates clouresult in changes in our reported revenues aratf@ngs.

We currently incur expenses denominated in foreigmencies, specifically in connection with our mtatturing and supply agreement
with Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & Co KG for theanufacture of PRX302, for which payments are denated in euro. In addition, v
expect that we will utilize numerous clinical triites as part of our first Phase 3 clinical thil PRX302 which will be located in various
countries outside of the United States. We exgettthese clinical trial sites will invoice us Imetlocal currency of the site. We do not engage
in foreign currency hedging arrangements for oeoaants payable, and, consequently, foreign curréocyuations may adversely affect our
earnings. During the year ended December 31, 20d2@12, 36.2% and 38.2%, respectively, of our ajrey expenses were denominated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Going fodwae anticipate that our sales and expenses, jfwitiyoe denominated in the local currency
of the country in which they occur. We may decid@tanage this risk by hedging our foreign curreexyosure, principally through derivative
contracts. Even if we decide to enter into suchghegltransactions, we cannot be sure that suchdseddl be effective or that the costs of si
hedges will not exceed their benefits. Fluctuationthe rate of exchange between the U.S. dolldrfareign currencies, primarily the euro,
could result in material amounts of cash being ireguo settle the hedge transactions or could @@ affect our financial results.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectuploperty rights related to our product candidatese may not be able to compete
effectively in our market.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade sqoatction and confidentiality agreements to prbtee intellectual property related to
our product candidates. The strength of patentisarbiotechnology and pharmaceutical field involgemplex legal and scientific questions
and can be uncertain. The patent applicationsikaiwn or in-license may fail to result in issuedgnts with claims that cover the products in
Canada, the United States or in other foreign atamtlf this were to occur, early generic compatitcould be expected against product
candidates in development. There is no assuraatalliof the potentially relevant prior art retagito our patents and patent applications has
been found, which can invalidate a patent or preagratent from issuing based on a pending papiication. Even if patents do successfully
issue, third parties may challenge their validégforceability or scope, which may result in suekepts being narrowed or invalidated.

Composition-of-matter patents on the biologicatleemical active pharmaceutical ingredient are galyeconsidered to be the strongest
form of intellectual property protection for phareeatical products, as such patents provide prateetithout regard to any method of use. We
cannot be certain that the claims in our patenliegtions covering composition-of-matter of PRX30# be considered patentable by the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office, or U.S. PTO, and saarthe United States or by the patent offices@ndts in foreign countries. Method-of-
use patents protect the use of a product for teeifspd method. This type of patent does not premetompetitor from making and marketing a
product that is identical to our product for anigadion that is outside the scope of the patentethod. Moreover, even if competitors do not
actively promote their product for our targetedidadions, physicians may prescribe these produtisiloel. Although off-label prescriptions
may infringe or contribute to the infringement oétinod-of-use patents, the practice is common aald isifringement is difficult to prevent or
prosecute. Furthermore, even if they are unchafldngur patents and patent applications may najuedely protect our intellectual property
prevent others from designing around our claimthéfpatent applications we hold with respect t&XB8 fail to issue or if their breadth or
strength of protection is threatened, it could wiske companies from collaborating with us to dgwvétiem, and threaten our ability to
commercialize, our products. We cannot offer arsueences about which, if any, patents will issue/loether any issued patents will be found
not invalid and not unenforceable or will go untitened by third parties. Further, if we encountdaygs in regulatory approvals, the period of
time during which we could market PRX302 under papgotection could be reduced. Since patent agiptins in the United States and most
other countries are confidential for a period ofdiafter filing, and some remain so until issued,cannot be certain that we were the first to
file any patent application related to PRX302. Rerinore, if third parties have filed such patemligations, an interference proceeding in the
United States can be provoked by a third partystituted by us to determine who was the firsttent any of the subject matter covered by
the patent claims of our applications.
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In addition to the protection afforded by patemis,rely on trade secret protection and confideitialgreements to protect proprietary
know-how that is not patentable, processes for wpatents are difficult to enforce and any othen®ints of our drug discovery and
development processes that involve proprietary khow, information or technology that is not covelsdpatents. Although we expect all of
our employees to assign their inventions to us,ahaf our employees, consultants, advisors arydtlind parties who have access to our
proprietary know-how, information or technologyemter into confidentiality agreements, we cannovjge any assurances that all such
agreements have been duly executed or that o seatets and other confidential proprietary infation will not be disclosed or that
competitors will not otherwise gain access to oadé¢ secrets or independently develop substanggliyvalent information and techniques.

The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Lealmgi® Act, was signed into law in September 2011 iacthdes a number of
significant changes to U.S. patent law. These thelchanges in the way patent applications will fesgcuted and may also affect patent
litigation. The U.S. PTO is currently developinguéations and procedures to administer the LeahigkSactt, and many of the substantive
changes to patent law associated with the LeahykShat will not become effective until one yeark@ months after its enactment.
Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impatietLeahy-Smith Act will have on the cost of progemuour patent applications, our ability to
obtain patents based on our patent application®andbility to enforce or defend our issued pateAn inability to obtain, enforce and defend
patents covering our proprietary technologies wandderially and adversely affect our business prospand financial condition. Further, the
laws of some foreign countries do not protect pedpry rights to the same extent or in the sameniaas the laws of the United States and
Canada. As a result, we may encounter significesttlpms in protecting and defending our intelletpraperty both in the United States and
abroad. If we are unable to prevent material diale of the non-patented intellectual propertyteeldo our technologies to third parties, and
there is no guarantee that we will have any suébresable trade secret protection, we may not e takestablish or maintain a competitive
advantage in our market, which could materiallyexdely affect our business, results of operatiosfimancial condition.

Third party claims of intellectual property infringment may prevent or delay our development and cemmialization efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our engpidfringement of the patents and proprietartsgof third parties. There is a
substantial amount of litigation, both within angtgide the United States, involving patent and roittellectual property rights in the
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, iniciggbatent infringement lawsuits, interferenceqasitions and inter party reexamination
proceedings before the U.S. PTO. Numerous U.Sfaein issued patents and pending patent apgitsitivhich are owned by third parties,
exist in the fields in which we, and our collaborat are developing product candidates. As theebiwiology and pharmaceutical industries
expand and more patents are issued, the risk gesehat our product candidates may be subjetaitms of infringement of the patent rights
third parties.

Third parties may assert that we are employing h@iprietary technology without authorization. Téenay be third-party patents or
patent applications with claims to materials, folations, methods of manufacture or methods fottineat related to the use or manufacture o
PRX302. Because patent applications can take meansyto issue, there may be currently pending pafiications, which may later result in
issued patents that our product candidates mapngr In addition, third parties may obtain paténtthe future and claim that use of our
technologies infringes upon these patents. Wewsageaof at least one third-party patent that mayelevant to our product candidates. If any
third-party patents were held by a court of compigiierisdiction to cover the manufacturing procesany of our product candidates, any
molecules formed during the manufacturing procesmy final product itself, the holders of any spetients may be able to block our abilit
commercialize such product candidate unless wdradata license under the applicable patents, drsuth patents expire. Similarly, if any
third-party patent were held by a court of compeperisdiction to cover aspects of our formulatippsocesses for manufacture or methods of
use, including combination therapy, the holderarof such patent may be able to block our abilitge¢welop and commercialize the applicable
product candidate unless we obtained a licensatiirsuch patent expires. In either case, suchemfe may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Parties making claigasnat us may obtain injunctive or other equitaklef, which could effectively block our
ability to further develop and commercialize onerare of our product candidates. Defense of thisms, regardless of their merit, would
involve substantial litigation expense and wouldatmibstantial diversion of employee resources fsanmbusiness. In the event of a successfu
claim of infringement against us, we may have tp fubstantial damages, including treble damagestarheysfees for willful infringement
obtain one or more licenses from third parties, qpgpalties or redesign our infringing products, @fhimay be impossible or require substantial
time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predi&tidr any such license would be available at alffogther it would be available on
commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, evéhdrabsence of litigation, we may need to obtaenkes from third parties to advance our
research or allow commercialization of our prodtartididates, and we have done so from time to tifeemay fail to obtain any of these
licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonabls,térat all. In that event, we would be unabléuxher develop and commercialize one or
more of our product candidates, which could harmbasiness significantly. We cannot provide anyiessces that third-party patents do not
exist which might be enforced against our produetsulting in either an injunction prohibiting cgales, or, with respect to our sales, an
obligation on our part to pay royalties and/or otteems of compensation to third parties.
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If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agements under which we license rights to technoldgom third parties, we could lose
license rights that are important to our business.

We are a party to a number of technology licensasdre essential to our business and expect ¢o ied additional licenses in the
future. For example, we have an exclusive licengeRX302 from UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc. afite Dohns Hopkins University. If we
fail to comply with our obligations under that lite agreement or our other license agreements aravinsolvent or subject to a bankruptcy
proceeding, the licensor may have the right to teate the license, in which event we would not ble &0 market products covered by the
license agreement, including PRX302. We may alssugected to litigation or other potential disputender our license agreements if we fail
to comply with our obligations under those agreetsien

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfei@ur patents or the patents of our licensors, whizould be expensive, time consum
and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the patehtsur licensors. To counter infringement or utauwized use, we may be required to
file infringement claims, which can be expensive ime-consuming. In addition, in an infringememqeeding, a court may decide that a
patent of ours or our licensors is not valid anrienforceable, or may refuse to stop the othey fiamn using the technology at issue on the
grounds that our patents do not cover the techyaloguestion. An adverse result in any litigatamdefense proceedings could put one or
more of our patents at risk of being invalidatednderpreted narrowly and could put our patent @pibns at risk of not issuing.

Interference proceedings provoked by third paxielsrought by us may be necessary to determinpribgty of inventions with respect
to our patents or patent applications or thoseuofcollaborators or licensors. An unfavorable ooteacould require us to cease using the
related technology or to attempt to license rigbts from the prevailing party. Our business colkdharmed if the prevailing party does not
offer us a license on commercially reasonable te@us defense of litigation or interference prodegd may fail and, even if successful, may
result in substantial costs and distract our mamage and other employees. We may not be able teptealone or with our licensors,
misappropriation of our intellectual property righparticularly in countries where the laws may protect those rights as fully as in the Unitec
States.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatidimere could also be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motionsher interim proceedings or developments. Iuisidies analysts or investors perceive tt
results to be negative, it could have a materigeesk effect on the price of our common shares.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee payment ai
other requirements imposed by governmental pateg¢rcies, and our patent protection could be reducecliminated for non-
compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patemtugr¢o be paid to the U.S. PTO and foreign patgaheies in several stages over the
lifetime of the patent. The U.S. PTO and variou®ifgn governmental patent agencies require cong@iavith a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar promssiduring the patent application process. Whilenadvertent lapse can in many cases be
cured by payment of a late fee or by other meame@ordance with the applicable rules, there @awatdns in which noncompliance can result
in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patericapipn, resulting in partial or complete losspaftent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-
compliance events that could result in abandonmelapse of a patent or patent application incline are not limited to, failure to respond to
official actions within prescribed time limits, ngrayment of fees and failure to properly legalimd aubmit formal documents. If we or our
licensors fail to maintain the patents and pateptieations covering our product candidates, oumetitors might be able to enter the market,
which would have a material adverse effect on asiress.

We may be subject to claims that our employeessattants or independent contractors have wrongfullged or disclosed confidential
information of third parties.

We employ individuals who were previously employgather biotechnology or pharmaceutical compamésmay be subject to claims
that we or our employees, consultants or indepanaeriractors have inadvertently or otherwise usedisclosed confidential information of
our employees’ former employers or other third ipartWe may also be subject to claims that formgpleyers or other third parties have an
ownership interest in our patents. Litigation mayrecessary to defend against these claims. Thaduarantee of success in defending 1
claims, and if we are successful, litigation cotgddult in substantial cost and be a distractiomuomanagement and other employees.
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We may not be able to protect our intellectual peoty rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on prodandidates in all countries throughout the wavtiild be prohibitively expensive,
and our intellectual property rights in some comestoutside the United States can be less extetisvethose in the United States. In addition,
the laws of some foreign countries, including Chihanot protect intellectual property rights te game extent as federal and state laws in th
United States. Consequently, we may not be alppeeteent third parties from practicing our invensan all countries outside the United Sta
or from selling or importing products made using imyentions in and into the United States or ofhasdictions. Competitors may use our
technologies in jurisdictions where we have notot#d patent protection to develop their own préglaad further, may export otherwise
infringing products to territories where we havéepa protection, but enforcement is not as stranthat in the United States. These products
may compete with our product candidates and ownpsor other intellectual property rights may beteffective or sufficient to prevent them
from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problienprotecting and defending intellectual propeigyts in foreign jurisdictions.
The legal systems of certain countries, particylaertain developing countries, do not favor thiomement of patents and other intellectual
property protection, particularly those relatingotopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficiat us to stop the infringement of our patents
or marketing of competing products in violationoafr proprietary rights generally. Proceedings tioee our patent rights in foreign
jurisdictions could result in substantial costs dnabrt our efforts and attention from other aspeaxftour business, could put our patents at
of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and patent applications at risk of not issuing andld@rovoke third parties to assert claims
against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits thainitiate and the damages or other remediesdesiaif any, may not be commercially
meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce antellectual property rights around the world nieyinadequate to obtain a significant
commercial advantage from the intellectual prop#rat we develop or license.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Shares

U.S. holders of our shares may suffer adverse taxgequences if we are characterized as a passikgdo investment company after
2012.

Generally, if for any taxable year 75% or more of gross income is passive income, or at least 860fte average quarterly value of our
assets (which may be determined in part by the etarddue of our ordinary shares, which is subjectitange) are held for the production of
produce, passive income, we would be characteazatpassive foreign investment company, or PRiQJhited States federal income tax
purposes. Based on the composition of our grogsmnecand gross assets and the nature of our busimegxpect that we were a PFIC for the
taxable year ending December 31, 2012 and that ayeb@ a PFIC for the taxable year ending DecembgP@13. In 2013 and for future yee
our status as a passive foreign investment compé@hglso depend on whether we are a “controlleifgn corporation” for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, how quickly we utilize thehgasoceeds from our IPO in our business and otaofs. If we are a PFIC for 2013 or any
subsequent year, U.S. holders of our shares mégr audverse tax consequences. Gains realized bgormporate U.S. holders on the sale of
ordinary shares would be taxed as ordinary incaatber than as capital gain, and the preferersiatate applicable to dividends received on
our ordinary shares would be lost. Interest chavgmdd also be added to taxes on gains and divelezalized by all U.S. holders.

A U.S. holder may avoid these adverse tax consegsdoy timely making a qualified electing fund éier. For each year that we would
meet the PFIC gross income or asset test, anrayedtiS. holder would be required to include in grim&come its pro rata share of our net
ordinary income and net capital gains, if any. ALholder may make a qualified electing fund etactinly if we commit to provide U.S.
holders with their pro rata share of our net ordinacome and net capital gains. Because we intemdovide this information, a U.S. holder
should be eligible to make a qualified electingdatection.

A U.S. holder may also mitigate the adverse taxsequences of being a PFIC by timely making a mankvéirket election. Generally, for
each year that we would meet the PFIC gross inammasset test, an electing U.S. holder would inelmdgross income the increase in the
value of its shares during each of its taxable yaad deduct from gross income the decrease waibie of such shares during each of its
taxable years. A mark-to-market election may beeratt maintained only if our shares are regulasged on a qualified exchange. While we
anticipate that these requirements will be satisfiglowing our IPO, whether our shares are redulmaded on a qualified exchange is an
annual determination based on facts that, in pagtbeyond our control. Accordingly, we can provideassurances that a U.S. holder will be
eligible to make a mark-to-market election. Youwhkaonsult your own tax advisor as to the spetificconsequences to you in the event we
are characterized as a PFIC for the taxable yadingiDecember 31, 2013.
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The financial reporting obligations of being a puisl company require significant company resourcesdamanagement attention.

We are subject to the public company reportinggattions under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended, or the Exchange Act,
and the rules and regulations regarding corporagergance practices, including those under theg®adyOxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform anch@amer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, dmallisting requirements of the
NASDAQ Global Market. As a result, we have incurradd will continue to incur, significant legal,catinting and other expenses that we
not incur as a private company, particularly afterare no longer an “emerging growth compaay'tefined in the JOBS Act. Further, the n
to establish the corporate infrastructure demamdedpublic company may divert management’s atbenfiiom implementing our growth
strategy. We have made, and will continue to makanges to our corporate governance standard#gglise controls and financial reporting
and accounting systems to meet our reporting dfiga. Any changes that we make to comply with ¢hasligations may not be sufficient to
allow us to satisfy our obligations as a public pamy on a timely basis, or at all, which could sebjs to delisting of our common shares,
fines, sanctions and other regulatory action artdm@lly civil litigation. In addition, we incurignificant legal, accounting, reporting and othel
expenses in order to maintain a listing on the NA®DGlobal Market. These expenses relate to, amdmgy ohings, the obligation to present
financial information according to U.S. GAAP in thiaited States. We are also required to comply wéttiain disclosure and filing
requirements under applicable securities laws ima@a as a reporting issuer in certain provinces.

The price of our common shares is likely to be higlvolatile, and you could lose all or part of yoimvestment.

Prior to our recently completed IPO, there was ulip market for our common shares in the Uniteate&3t. The trading price of our
common shares is likely to be volatile and couldbkject to wide fluctuations in response to vasitactors, some of which are beyond our
control, including limited trading volume. In addit to the other risk factors discussed in thigieacthese factors include:

. the commencement, enrollment or results ofomgoing and planned Phase 3 clinical trials of PBX@8r any future clinical trials
we may conduct, or changes in the developmentsstdtBRX302

. any adverse development or perceived adversgamment with respect to the FDA'’s review of olarpfor our two Phase 3
clinical trials, or delay in our submission of aBto the FDA for PRX302

. unanticipated serious safety concerns relatedetaisle of PRX30z

. adverse regulatory decisions, including failuregceive regulatory approval for PRX3(

. our decision to initiate a clinical trial, not taitiate a clinical trial or to terminate an exigfialinical trial;

. our ability to obtain resources for us and ourichhtrial programs on our desired sched

. inability to obtain adequate commercial supplyday approved product or inability to do so at atalele prices
. developments concerning our commercial partnecfyding but not limited to, those with manufactrt

. competition from existing technologies and productaew technologies and products that may em

. announcements of significant acquisitions,tegf@ partnerships, joint ventures, new producpjtal commitments or other events
by us or our competitor:

. the inability to establish collaborations or teration of a collaboratior

. actual or anticipated variations in our quartehgiating results

. failure to meet the estimates and projections efitlrestment community or that we may otherwisevigieto the public
. our cash positior

. announcement or expectation of additional finaneifigrts;

. issuances of debt or equity securiti

. our inability to successfully enter new marketslevelop additional product candidat

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our compes$’ operating results or changes in their growth 1

. sales of our common shares by us, or our sharetsald¢he future
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. trading volume of our common shares on the NASDAGQb& Market and price

. market conditions in our industr

. overall performance of the equity markets and garpolitical and economic conditior
. introduction of new products or services by usur@mpetitors

. additions or departures of key management, sciemtifother personne

. publication of research reports about us orimdustry or positive or negative recommendationgithdrawal of research coverage
by securities or industry analys

. changes in the market valuation of similar compsit

. disputes or other developments related tolattlial property and other proprietary rights, irithg patents, litigation matters and
our ability to obtain patent protection for ourtieclogies and product candidat

. changes in laws or regulations and policiediealple to product candidates, including but nistited to clinical trial requirements
for approvals

. changes in accounting practic
. significant lawsuits, including patent or shareleollitigation; anc

. other events or factors, many of which are beyamdcontrol.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have a#ig@end continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companidese fluctuations often have been unrelatatisproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. These broad mankkeindustry fluctuations, as well as general eotnppolitical and market conditions
such as recessions, interest rate changes oratitamal currency fluctuations, may negatively imphe market price of our common shares.

Sales of a substantial number of our common shaneshe public market by our existing shareholdersud cause our share price to fal

Sales of a substantial number of our common shartee public market or the perception that thedessmight occur, could depress the
market price of our common shares and could impairability to raise capital through the sale ofliidnal equity securities. We are unable to
predict the effect that sales may have on the [dhreganarket price of our common shares.

Certain holders of our common shares are entidetyhts with respect to the registration of trsfiares under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Act. Registratidghege shares under the Securities Act would rasthie shares becoming freely tradable
without restriction under the Securities Act, exdep shares held by our affiliates as defined ileRL44 under the Securities Act. Any sales of
securities by these shareholders could have a isadeverse effect on the trading price of our camrsehares.

Future sales and issuances of our common sharesights to purchase common shares by us, includingrguant to our equity incentive
plan, could result in additional dilution of the peentage ownership of our shareholders and couldise our share price to fall.

We expect that significant additional capital viié needed in the future to continue our plannedatio@s, including commercialization
efforts, expanded research and development aeBwiind costs associated with operating as a pedofipany. To the extent we raise additiona
capital by issuing equity or convertible securitiegr shareholders may experience substantiaiailutWVe may sell common shares, conver
securities or other equity securities in one orertoainsactions at prices and in a manner we daterfrom time to time. If we sell common
shares, convertible securities or other equity sées in more than one transaction, investors tmaynaterially diluted by subsequent sales.
Such sales may also result in material dilutiondoexisting shareholders, and new investors cgaid rights superior to our existing
shareholders.

Pursuant to our equity incentive plan, our manageriseauthorized to grant options to our employe@gctors and consultants. The
number of shares available for future grant undermtan is equal to 10% of all shares of our issaled outstanding common shares at any
time. Currently, the number of shares availabldgsuance under our equity incentive plan each getomatically increases when we issue
additional common shares. If our board of directdests to grant additional options each year bareholders may experience additional
dilution, which could cause our share price to.fall
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We are at risk of securities class action litigatio

In the past, securities class action litigation bfsn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its
securities. This risk is especially relevant folbesause biotechnology and biochemical companies &gperienced significant stock price
volatility in recent years. If we face such litigmt, it could result in substantial costs and adiion of management’s attention and resources,
which could harm our business.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common&saso any returns will be limited to the value adir shares.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensliomommon shares. We currently anticipate thatwlleetain future earnings for
the development, operation and expansion of ounbss and do not anticipate declaring or payingaash dividends for the foreseeable
future. The Oxford Loan also contains a negativeeoant which prohibits us from paying dividendshweitt the prior written consent of
Oxford. Any return to shareholders will thereforellmited to the increase, if any, of our sharegri

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we canr# certain if the reduced reporting requirementsgjgable to emerging growth
companies will make our common shares less attraetio investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetth@nJOBS Act. For as long as we continue to benagrging growth company, we
may take advantage of exemptions from various teyprequirements that are applicable to otheripud@mpanies that are not emerging
growth companies, including not being requireddmply with the auditor attestation requirement§e€tion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
reduced disclosure obligations regarding execuwtorapensation in our periodic reports and proxyest@nts and exemptions from the
requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vamieexecutive compensation and shareholder appodaly golden parachute payments not
previously approved. We could be an emerging graathpany for up to five years, although circumsganoould cause us to lose that status
earlier, including if the market value of our conmmghares held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 millis of any June 30 before that time or if
we have total annual gross revenue of $1.0 biliomore during any fiscal year before that timewhich cases we would no longer be an
emerging growth company as of the following Decen8ie or if we issue more than $1.0 billion in nconvertible debt during any three year
period before that time, in which case we wouldarger be an emerging growth company immediatelgrEafter we no longer qualify as an
emerging growth company, we may still qualify dsmaller reporting company” which would allow usteke advantage of many of the same
exemptions from disclosure requirements includiogleing required to comply with the auditor atisin requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligatiegarding executive compensation in our perioceports and proxy statements. We
cannot predict if investors will find our commonrasés less attractive because we may rely on thesapions. If some investors find our
common shares less attractive as a result, theyebma less active trading market for our commanehand our share price may be more
volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies tsmdelay adopting new or revised accounting statedantil such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We havedoahly elected not to avail ourselves of this extéonpfrom new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, will be subject to tineesaew or revised accounting standards as othdicpugdmpanies that are not emerging gro
companies.

Our charter documents, certain related party contta and certain Canadian legislation could delay deter a change of control, limit
attempts by our shareholders to replace or remoue aurrent management and limit the market price otir common shares.

Our authorized preferred shares are availablesfrance from time to time at the discretion oftmaard of directors, without shareholder
approval. Our articles grant our board of directbesauthority, subject to the BCBCA, to determtime special rights and restrictions grante
or imposed on any unissued series of preferreceshand those rights may be superior to those of@umon shares.

In addition, provisions in the BCBCA and in ouriclgs, may have the effect of delaying or prevantthanges in our management,
including provisions that:

. prohibit cumulative voting in the election of diters; anc

. require the approval of our board of directmrshe holders of a supermajority of our outstagdihare capital to amend our articles
and our notice of article

46



Table of Contents

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any aiteriny our shareholders to replace or remove ouectimanagement by making it
more difficult for shareholders to replace memtwdrsur board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. Any of the foregoing could preventasayla change of control and may deprive or lirrdategic opportunities to our
shareholders to sell their shares.

Risks Related To Being A Canadian Entity

We are governed by the corporate laws in Britishi@ubia, Canada which in some cases have a differeffect on shareholders than the
corporate laws in Delaware, United States.

The material differences between the BCBCA as coatpt the Delaware General Corporation Law, o&CL, which may be of
most interest to shareholders include the follow{ijgfor material corporate transactions (suchresgers and amalgamations, other
extraordinary corporate transactions, amendmenisitarticles) the BCBCA generally requires twa-dsimajority vote by shareholders,
whereas DGCL generally only requires a majorityevat shareholders for similar material corporadé@sactions; (ii) the quorum for
shareholders meetings is not prescribed under @@\ and is only two persons representing 5% ofidbaed shares under our articles,
whereas under DGCL, quorum requires a minimum efttiird of the shares entitled to vote to be preaad companies’ certificates of
incorporation frequently require a higher perceatamgbe present; (iii) under the BCBCA a holdeb%f or more of our common shares can
requisition a special meeting at which any mattieas can be voted on at our annual meeting cambsidered, whereas the DGCL does not
give this right; (iv) our articles require two-t& majority vote by shareholders to pass a reswiidtir one or more directors to be removed,
whereas DGCL only requires the affirmative voteahajority of the stockholders; however, many pubtimpany charters limit removal of
directors to a removal for cause; and (v) our kesienay be amended by resolution of our direcmedter our authorized share structure,
including to (a) consolidate or subdivide any of sbares and (b) create additional classes orssefighares, whereas under DGCL, a majority
vote by shareholders is generally required to anzecaokporation’s certificate of incorporation andegparate class vote may be required to
authorize alterations to a corporation’s authorigledre structure. We cannot predict if investotkfimd our common shares less attractive
because of these material differences. If somestave find our common shares less attractive aswty there may be a less active trading
market for our common shares and our share prigetraanore volatile.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in San D@&agjdornia. The facility we lease encompasses@pmately 3,062 square feet of
office space. The lease for this facility expineday 2017. We believe that our facility is suféiot to meet our needs and that suitable
additional space will be available as and when eded

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently party to any material legalgeedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common shares are currently traded on the NASAobal Market, or NASDAQ, under the symbol “SPHSxior to our initial
public offering on the NASDAQ on August 16, 2013 were traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange, or T8er the symbol “SHS.” For the
period from August 16, 2013 to November 13, 2013meee dual listed on both the NASDAQ and the TSKed&ive November 13, 2013, we
voluntarily delisted our common shares from the TSX

The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices for our common shares for the periodalgnly 2012 through November 13,
2013, on the TSX, quoted in Canadian Dollars andust 16, 2013 through December 31, 2013 on NASDgu@ted in United States Dollars.
The high and low sales prices below reflect théd2t reverse share consolidation which was effiote August 9, 2013.

NASDAQ TSX
US$ US$ CND$ CND$
2012 High Low High Low
First Quartel — — $21.3: $15.6(
Second Quarte — — 24.9¢ 16.6¢
Third Quartel — — 20.8( 15.6(
Fourth Quarte — — 16.6¢ 11.9¢
2013
First Quartel — — $14.5¢ $ 8.84
Second Quarte — — 18.2( 11.4¢
Third Quarter (commencing August 16, 2013 for NASDV/ $5.6€ $4.1¢F 14.8: 4.3C
Fourth Quarter (ending November 13, 2013 for T. 4.7¢ 3.5t 4.8t 4.4¢

Holders of Record

As of February 28, 2014, there were approximat@lgt3areholders of record of our common shares,imihiduded Cede & Co., a
nominee for Depository Trust Company, or DTC, aS&: Co., a nominee for The Canadian DepositorySecurities Ltd., or CDS.
Common shares that are held by financial instingias nominees for beneficial owners are depositegarticipant accounts at either DTC or
CDS, and are considered to be held of record by @e@o. or CDS & Co. as one shareholder.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comrhares since inception and do not anticipate pagasy dividends in the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain all availableds and any future earnings to support our dgpermand finance the growth and
development of our business. Our Oxford Loan costainegative covenant which prohibits us from mpgugiividends without the prior written

consent of Oxford Finance LLC.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation plariaéerporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Redf this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Use of Proceeds

On August 16, 2013, we commenced our initial pubffering on the NASDAQ pursuant to a Registrat@iatement on Form S-1 (File
No. 33:-186724) that was declared effective by the Sdesrdand Exchange Commission on August 16, 2013tatdegistered our common
shares with a maximum aggregate offering price7@.8§ million. On August 23, 2013, we sold 13,000,080 our common shares to the public
at a price of $5.00 per share for an aggregatesgifisring price of $65 million. The offering hasw terminated, and consequently we may nc
sell under the registration statement the 1,950sb@0es which were previously subject to a 30-g¢dipp in favor of the underwriters of the
offering.
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Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Leerink Swann Lla@ted as joint booking-running managers for tifierimg and Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated and Lazard Capital Market€ skerved as co-managers for the offering.

The underwriting discounts and commissions in cotioe with the offering totaled $4.6 million. Wecirred additional costs of
$3.4 million in offering expenses, which when adttethe underwriting discounts and commissions pgids, amounted to total fees and ¢
of $8.0 million. Thus, the net offering proceeduy after deducting underwriting discounts and mdgsions and offering costs, were $57.0
million. No offering costs were paid directly odinectly to any of our directors or officers (oethassociates) or persons owning 10% or mor
of any class of our equity securities or to anyeotiffiliates.

As of December 31, 2013, we have utilized $5.4iamlbf the net proceeds from our IPO to fund atiésiassociated with our first Phase
3 clinical trial for PRX302, $1.2 million for geredrcorporate purposes and $1.8 million for printgrad interest payments on our term loan
with Oxford Finance LLC.

We intend to use the remainder of the net proceedsmplete the first Phase 3 clinical trial of PRIR and to fund other ongoing clinic
development of PRX302, in addition to making moythiincipal and interest payments on our term vith Oxford Finance LLC through
2014, in accordance with the terms of the Loan%eclrity Agreement dated July 15, 2011, as amentledwill use any remaining proceeds
from the offering for general corporate purposd® @amounts and timing of actual expenditures depentlmerous factors, including the
ongoing status of and results from clinical triagswell as any unforeseen cash needs.

Repurchases of Equity Securities

There were no repurchases of equity securitiesiduhie fourth quarter of 2013.

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Returrf1)

The graph below shows the cumulative total stoddoteturn assuming the investment of $100 on Jsriy22009 through December 31, 2
in each of (i) Sophiris Bio Inc.’s common shardé$tke NASDAQ Biotechnology Index and (iii) the $&TSX Composite Index. The
comparisons in the graph below are required bysénaurities and Exchange Commission, are basedhiptmmical data, and are not indicative
of, or intended to forecast, future performancewfcommon shares.

€350 —g—S0phirks Blo Inc
== tasdaq Biotechalogy
5300 Index
SEPITS Composite
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L300

2150
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(1) This section is not “soliciting material,” i®hdeemed “filed” with the SEC, is not subjecthe tiabilities of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not todmeporated by reference in any of our filings enthe Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nended, whether made before or after the dagmhand irrespective of any
general incorporation language in any such fil
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following data has been derived from our aufditeancial statements, including the consoliddiethnce sheets at December 31,
2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statsroénperations and comprehensive loss for theetiiears ended December 31, 2012 and
related notes appearing elsewhere in this AnnupbR®n Form 10-K. The statement of operations ftatéhe years ended December 31, 201
and 2009 and the balance sheet data as of Dec&hb2011, 2010 and 2009 are derived from our additmsolidated financial statements-
are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10¥ikku should read the selected financial dataar#t below in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our finahstatements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

For the Years Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(In thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenue: $ 500 $ — $ — $3,000 $ —
Operating expense
Research and developm 10,27¢ 13,52: 8,66( 4,78¢ 4,92¢
General and administrati\ 4,511 5,68¢ 4,63¢ 2,55¢ 2,117
Total operating expens 14,79( 19,20¢ 13,29t 7,34 7,041
Loss from operation (9,790 (19,209 (13,299 (4,343 (7,04))
Other income (expense
Interest income (expense), | (1,309) (1,880) (89%) 24 41
Gain on revaluation of warrant liabili 68¢ — — — —
Other income (expense), r (240 (10¢€) (12) 221 43
Total other income (expens (859) (1,986 (90€) 24E 84
Net loss before income tax expel (10,649 (21,199 (14,20) (4,097 (6,959
Income tax expens (500 — — (315) —
Net loss $(11,149 $(21,199 $(14,20) $(4,417) $(6,95%)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl(%) (2) $ (139 $ (699 $ (6.0 $ (237 $ (4.49
Weighted average shares used to calculate nepéssommon shai® @ 8,02¢ 3,05¢ 2,34¢ 1,861 1,561

(1) See Note 3 of our Notes to the Consolidated FiishStatements for an explanation of the methatius calculate the basic and diluted
net loss per common share and the number of shaeekin the computation of the per share amo
(@ Reflects the 5-for-1 share consolidation of our common sha

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

As of December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

Cash, cash equivalents and securities ava-for-sale $ 48,14¢ $ 9,721 $ 23,41( $ 12,381 $ 1,682
Working capital 41,26° 81t 17,94« 10,75( 77¢
Total asset 51,89: 11,52¢ 24,80( 13,25t 2,65:
Promissory notes, including current port 6,871 12,02: 14,70z — —
Warrant liability 88:¢ — — — —
Stoclk-based compensation liabili 20z — — — —
Accumulated defici (84,84 (73,699 (52,50 (38,309 (33,89)
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit) 40,27¢ (5,105 6,997 11,29t 1,49¢
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anglysconjunction with “ltem 8. Financial Statemsri#ind Supplementary Data”
included below in this Annual Report on Form 10aerating results are not necessarily indicativeesfults that may occur in future periods.

This discussion and analysis contains forward-lagkstatements that involve a number of risks, uag#ies and assumptions. Actual
events or results may differ materially from oupestations. Important factors that could cause attasults to differ materially from those
stated or implied by our forward-looking statementdude, but are not limited to, those set forilfliem 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual
Report on Form 1-K. All forward-looking statements included in tlisnual Report on Form 10-K are based on informatwailable to us as
of the time we file this Annual Report on Form 18#i, except as required by law, we undertake rigation to update publicly or revise any
forward-looking statements.

All dollar amounts are expressed in U.S. dollartesa otherwise noted. All amounts are expressezhas-converted from Canadian
dollar to U.S. dollar basis are calculated using ttonversion rate as of December 31, 2013 unldésxwise noted.

Overview

Background

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical compaoydged on developing innovative products for teatment of urological diseases.
We are headquartered in San Diego, California am&common shares currently trade on the NASDAQ @&lldlarket. As of November 13,
2013, we voluntarily delisted from the Toronto Htd&xchange. We are currently developing PRX302 tasaament for the symptoms of
benign prostatic hyperplasia, or BPH, commonlynreie to as an enlarged prostate. PRX302 is designkeed a convenient treatment that is
safer and less invasive than surgery and moreteféeand better tolerated than currently approvearmaceutical therapies. In our Phase 2b
clinical trial, we saw significant symptom religbfm a single treatment of PRX302 that was sustdimexighout the follow-up period of 12
months, and there were no drug-related erectiludgsion or cardiovascular side effects reportead2009, we licensed exclusive rights to
PRX302 from UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., or @/land The Johns Hopkins University, or Johns Huogpkior the treatment of the
symptoms of BPH. In April 2010, we entered intoexlusive license agreement with Kissei PharmacaistiCo., Ltd., or Kissei, pursuant to
which we granted Kissei the right to develop anchewrcialize PRX302 in Japan for the treatment efsymptoms of BPH, prostate cancer,
prostatitis or other diseases of the prostate.

On October 28, 2013, we announced that enrolimaatiegun and the first patients had been dose®irage 3 trial of PRX302
(topsalysin) as a treatment for lower urinary t®ahptoms of BPH. The Phase 3 international, nodtiter study, called the PLUSstudy, wil
enroll approximately 440 patients. The randomizimible-blind and vehicle-controlled study will ass¢he safety and efficacy of a single
intraprostatic injection of PRX302 (0.6 ug/g presjdor the treatment of BPH. The primary endp@rthe International Prostate Symptom
Score (IPSS) total score change from baseline ®¥eveeks. Secondary endpoints include Qmax changelfaseline (maximum urine flow)
over 52 weeks.

Kissei Pharmaceuticals License Agreement

In April 2010, we received an up-front payment 8fGmillion from Kissei under our license agreeméntring the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recorded as revenue a $8i6@mmon-refundable milestone payment receivedmil 2013 from Kissei upon the
achievement of certain development activities e snilestone had been achieved during this peWelare eligible to receive additional
milestone payments of up to $67.0 million upon aciievement of specified development, regulatory@mmercial milestones separated
among the indications of BPH, prostate cancer,papstatitis or other diseases of the prostate,edlsas the achievement of overall
accumulated gross sales levels for such indicatibims additional $67.0 million of non-refundablelestone payments is comprised as follows
aggregate milestone payments of $12.0 million el&ed to the BPH indication, of which, $7.0 millicelates to the completion of regulatory
approvals and $5.0 million relates to the achievamécertain product sale goals; a total of $2tillion is related to the prostate cancer
indication, of which $7.0 million relates to thenapletion of development activities, $7.0 millionates to the completion of regulatory
approvals and $7.0 million relates to the achievamécertain product sale goals; and a total df.@2nillion is related to prostatitis or other
diseases of the prostate, of which $7.0 millioatest to the completion of development activitig&sp3nillion relates to the completion of
regulatory approvals and $7.0 million relates ® dlchievement of certain product sale goals. Artiaddl $13.0 million of aggregate
milestone payments are not indication specifiaybich $5.0 million relates to the completion of uéagory approvals and $8.0 million relate
the achievement of certain product sale goalsdtition, we may receive a drug supply fee and tyyahyments in the 20-29% range as a
percentage of future net sales of licensed prodiugdtsunder the agreement. Kissei is not curresttidying PRX302 for the treatment of BPH,
prostate cancer, prostatitis or other diseasesegptostate.
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PRX302 License Agreement for BPH

In 2009, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302arrah agreement with UVIC and Johns Hopkins wisipeet to the use of PRX302
the treatment of the symptoms of BPH and other carcer diseases and conditions of the prostate,thétexception of prostate cancer. The
license agreement requires us to make payment8IDfBC.3 million, or $1.2 million, as converted, dretachievement of certain clinical and
regulatory milestones and to pay royalties on consraksales of resulting products. During the yeraded December 31, 2013, we expensed
$0.1 million milestone payment due under the lieeagreement upon the completion of our last Phasdir#ical trial prior to commencing a
Phase 3 clinical trial. This amount was recorderkasarch and development expense. In additidhgisecond quarter of 2013 we paid UVIC
and Johns Hopkins a slibense royalty of $0.4 million payable under tleehse agreement associated with our $5.0 millidestone paymel
from Kissei. This amount was recorded as a compaofenesearch and development expense.

From the inception of the agreement, we have ircusub-license fees of $0.6 million and milestoagnpents of $0.1 million under this
agreement.

PRX302 License Agreement for Prostate Cancer

In 2004, we licensed exclusive rights to PRX302tfar treatment of prostate cancer under an agrdenignUVIC and Johns Hopkins.
We have agreed to make cumulative milestone paysywr the lifecycle of PRX302 of up to CND$3.6lmail, or $3.4 million, as converted,
on the achievement of certain clinical and reguiatoilestones and to pay royalties on commercidssaf resulting products. From the
inception of the agreement, we have paid milespayenents of CND$0.1 million, or $0.1 million, apply the historical conversion rate at
each payment date. We have to date completed tnioadltrials in patients with prostate cancer, arewill continue to evaluate future
development in this indication.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenues

Our revenues to date consist of a $3.0 million ngpf payment received from Kissei in 2010 and & $illion non-refundable milestone
payment for our achievement of certain developraetivities during the year ended December 31, 208 have no products approved for
sale, and we have not generated any revenues fratagt sales.

Other than potential development milestones frossKi, we do not expect to receive any revenues BBIX302 until we obtain
regulatory approval and commercialize such producintil we potentially enter into additional cdilarative agreements with third parties for
the development and commercialization of PRX302¢ctvladditional agreements will not likely occur ilmte complete the development of
PRX302. If our development efforts for PRX302, loe efforts or Kissei or any future collaboratosui in clinical success and regulatory
approval or collaboration agreements with othedtparties, we may generate revenues from PRX30®ieder, we may never generate
revenues from PRX302 as we or any collaborator neaer succeed in obtaining regulatory approvabonmercializing this product.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses can be driv@miayber of factors including: (a) the scope aficll development and research
programs pursued; (b) the type and size of clirtidalls undertaken; (c) the number of clinical Isithat are active during a particular period of
time; (d) the rate of patient enrollment; (e) regaty activities to support the clinical prograraed (f) Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls,
or CMC, activities associated with process develapinscale-up and manufacture of drugs used ircalitrials; and such expenses are
ultimately a function of decisions made to contitlue development and testing of a product candidased on supporting safety and efficacy
results from clinical trial.

The majority of our operating expenses to date leeem incurred in research and development aetivitlated to PRX302. Research
development expenses include:

. external research and development expensegd@acunder agreements with clinical research oegdians, or CROs, and
investigative sites and clinical trial costs, aslwe payments to consultan

. employee related expenses, including salaries fitgrteavel and stoc-based compensation exper
. third-party manufacturing expenses; ¢

. facilities, depreciation and other allocated expsr
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We expense research and development costs asddcMve account for nonrefundable advance paymentgoods and services that will
be used in future research and development aetvits expenses when the service has been performdeen the goods have been consumec
Since our inception in January 2002 through Decer8be2013, we have incurred a total of $59.9 wnillin research and development
expenses.

At this time, due to the risks inherent in the idal trial process and given the early stage ofgzoduct development program, we are
unable to estimate with any certainty the costswillencur in the continued development of PRX3@2 potential approval and
commercialization. Clinical development timelinds probability of success and development costsliféer materially from expectations.
However, we do expect our research and developexgr@nses to increase for the foreseeable futune aglvance PRX302 into our first Ph
3 clinical trial. The process of conducting cliflitdals necessary to obtain regulatory approvabistly and time consuming. Any failure by us
or delay in completing clinical trials, or in ohtéig regulatory approvals, could lead to increassearch and development expense and, in
turn, have a material adverse effect on our restiltgerations.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries and related benefits, including ktbased compensation, related to our
executive, finance, business development, markeireh and support functions. Other general andréstnative expenses include allocated
facility-related costs not otherwise included isgarch and development expenses, travel expenadsstmesearch expenses and professiona
fees for auditing, tax and legal services. We ekfiext general and administrative expenses willdase in the future as we expand our
operating activities and incur additional costoaiged with being a U.S. publicly traded compariyese increases will likely include
professional fees and directors’ and officers’iliabinsurance premiums.

Interest Income (Expense), Net

We earn interest income from interest-bearing eghinvestment accounts. Interest expense prinajisesents interest payable to
Oxford, accretion of our debt discount and amotiiraof our issuance costs associated with our @xfoan.

Gain on Revaluation of Warrant Liability

Sophiris Bio Inc. changed its functional currenmynfi the Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar subsegteethe completion of our initial
public offering on the NASDAQ effective August 18)13.

Upon the change in functional currency, the Compzaigulates the fair value of its warrants withreige prices in Canadian dollars
utilizing the Black Scholes pricing model and cified this fair value as a long term liability it@rdance with Accounting Standards
Cadification, or ASC, 815, Derivatives and Hedgin§ At each reporting period subsequent to August?Da 3, we adjust the fair value of the
warrant liability and any corresponding increasel@crease to the warrant liability will be recordeda component of other income (expense)
on the consolidated statement of operations anguoemensive loss.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarilyooéifjn exchange gains and losses and on occasiomaor expense of an unusual
nature. Foreign exchange gains and losses resaittfie settlement of foreign currency transactemmd from the remeasurement of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in currenciberathan our functional currency.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our management'’s discussion and analysis of oanéial condition and results of operations is basedur consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in confomviitygenerally accepted accounting principles i tinited States. The preparation of our
financial statements requires us to make estinatdsassumptions that affect the reported amourdssts and liabilities and the revenues an
expenses incurred during the reported periods. &ge bur estimates on historical experience andagous other factors that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the resultbioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdfeying value of assets and liabilities
that are not apparent from other sources. Actsllte may differ from these estimates under difieesssumptions or conditions.

53



Table of Contents

While our significant accounting policies are désed in the notes to our consolidated financiaesteents appearing at the end of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that théofwing accounting policies are critical to understeng and evaluating our reported
financial results.

Foreign Currency
Functional Currency

Historically the functional currency of SophirisdBlinc. has been the Canadian dollar and the fumaiticurrency of Sophiris Bio Corp.
and Sophiris Bio Holding Corp. has been the U.8addSubsequent to the completion of the ourahipiublic offering on the NASDAQ Glob
Market we reviewed the underlying indicators of finenary economic environment in which Sophiris Bic. operates. Based upon this
review, we have determined that the functionaleney of Sophiris Bio Inc. has changed from the @aradollar to the U.S. dollar effective
August 16, 2013, the date of our U.S. initial paldifering.

Historically, we issued common share warrants imeetion with the issuance of common share thrquiglate placements with exerci
prices denominated in Canadian dollars. Upon theaisce of these warrants, we allocated the neepdscto common share and warrants b
on their relative fair values, and calculated thie ¥alue of the issued common share warrantzimjithe Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The allocated fair value was then recorded as Cam@t@re Purchase Warrants within shareholderstyequoithe consolidated balance sheet.
The fair value was not remeasured in periods sules#do the date of issuance.

The change in the functional currency of Sophitiis Bc. to the U.S. dollar effective August 16, 2(dffects how we account for our
previously issued warrants which have exerciseepritenominated in Canadian dollars, a currencyighad longer our functional currency.
Upon the change in functional currency, we cal@dahe fair value of our warrants with exercisegsiin Canadian dollars as $1.6 million
utilizing the Black-Scholes pricing model and redd this fair value as a long term liability in aodance with Accounting Standards
Codification, or ASC, 815, Derivatives and Hedging The fair value of $1.6 million was deducted frahe original fair value calculated on
the issuance date of the warrants. The issuanedalatalue in excess of the $1.6 million was assified to Contributed Surplus. At each
reporting period subsequent to August 16, 2013aeljest the fair value of the warrant liability aady corresponding increase or decrease to
the warrant liability is recorded as a componenitber income (expense) on the consolidated staieai®perations and comprehensive loss.
The estimated fair value is determined using theeBIScholes option-pricing model based on theviaiwe of the underlying common shares a
the valuation measurement date, the remaining actotal term of the warrants, risk-free interestsaexpected dividends and expected
volatility of the price of the underlying commorosk. At December 31, 2013 the warrant liability wagalued at $0.9 million and a gain of
$0.7 million was recorded in other income (expemséhe consolidated statement of operations angpcehensive loss. The overall reduction
in the fair value was directly related to a redmetin our stock price from August 16, 2013 to DebenB31, 2013. As our stock price fluctuates
in future periods we may have significant changeth¢ fair value of the warrant liability which dduesult in material nogash gains or loss
in our consolidated statement of operations andpcehensive loss.

The following inputs were utilized in the Black-$tbs pricing model at the initial recognition dafehe warrant liability, the date of the
Company’s U.S. IPO, and December 31, 2013.

Initial
Recognitior December 31, 201
Risk-free interest rate 0.72% 0.62%
Volatility 111.8¢% 115.0%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected life in year 2.8¢ 2.51

Transactions and Balances

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cncies are translated at the rate of exchange obatfaece sheet date. Revenues and
expenses are translated using the average exchateder the period. Net gains and losses resuftmg the translation of liabilities payable in
foreign currencies are recorded in accumulatedratiaprehensive gain (loss), which is a separatgpoment of stockholders’ equity. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the sitieof foreign currency transactions and fromréreeasurement of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other thanfomctional currency are recognized in the otheome (expense).
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Revenue Recognition

We may enter into product development agreemenishwhay include nonrefundable signing and licengees, milestone payments and
royalties on any product sales derived from coltaions. These multiple element arrangements aalyzad to determine whether the
deliverables can be separated or whether they lbeuatcounted for as a single unit of accountingehse fees are recognized as revenue whe
persuasive evidence of an arrangement existsethis fiixed or determinable, delivery or performahas substantially completed and
collection is reasonably assured.

We recognize up front license payments as revepaa delivery of the license only if the license ktend-alone value to the customer
and if the agreement includes a general right tofine the delivery or performance of undeliverehis is considered probable and within our
control. The payment is generally allocated todéparate units of accounting based on their relaling prices. The selling price of each
deliverable is determined using vendor specifieotiye evidence of selling prices, if it existshetwise, third-party evidence of selling prices.
If neither vendor specific objective evidence drdkparty evidence exists, we use our best estimateedaselling price for each deliverable. 1
payment allocated is limited to the amount thatdscontingent on the delivery of additional itearulfillment of other performance
conditions.

Whenever we determine that an arrangement shoudddminted for as a single unit of accounting, westrdetermine the period over
which the performance obligations will be perfornaatl revenue will be recognized. If we cannot reabty estimate the timing and the level
of effort to complete our performance obligatiomsler the arrangement, then revenue under the @mae1g is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the period we are expected to complatperformance obligations.

We evaluate milestone payments on an individuakka®d recognize revenue from nafundable milestone payments when the ear!
process is complete and the payment is reasonablyed. We recognize non-refundable milestone patsmelated to arrangements under
which we have continuing performance obligationseagnue upon achievement of the associated milesprovided that (i) the milestone
event is substantive and its achievability wasreasonably assured at the inception of the agreeamein(ii) the amount of the milestone
payment is reasonable in relation to the efforteexfed or the risk associated with the milestonateV&e record any amounts we receive u
agreements in advance of performance, if deemestantive, as deferred revenue and recognize suohraras revenue as we complete our
performance obligations. A milestone event is adei®d substantive if (i) the milestone is commeatguwith either (a) our performance to
achieve the milestone or (b) the enhancement ofdahee of the delivered item(s) as a result of ec#fz outcome resulting from our
performance to achieve the milestone, (i) it redadolely to past performance and (iii) it is reedie relative to all of the deliverables and
payment terms (including other potential milestonasideration) within the arrangement. If any mortof the milestone payment does not
relate to our performance, does not relate sotepast performance or is refundable or adjustaisedh on future performance, the milestone i
not considered to be substantive. Milestone paysnam not bifurcated into substantive and non-smitise components. Payments related to
the achievement of non-substantive milestones efierieéd and recognized over our remaining perfooageriod.

Royalty revenue will be recognized upon the salthefrelated products provided we have no remaipérfprmance obligations under
the arrangement.

Accrued Research and Development Expenses

Clinical trial costs are recorded as a componenéséarch and development expenses. We accruxpedse clinical trial activities
performed by third parties based upon estimatéiseopercentage of work completed over the lifehefindividual study in accordance with
agreements established with CROs and clinical ¢itek. We determine the estimates through dissussiith internal clinical personnel and
external service providers as to the progressagesof completion of trials or services and theeadrupon fee to be paid for such services.
However, actual costs and timing of clinical triate highly uncertain, subject to risks and mayngeadepending upon a number of factors,
including our clinical development plan. The prace§estimating clinical trial costs may become encomplex as our ongoing and planned
Phase 3 clinical trials will involve larger numbefspatients and clinical sites.

Substantially all of our service providers invoicemonthly in arrears for services performed ormt@ntractual milestones are met. We
make estimates of our accrued expenses as of atafick sheet date in our financial statements baségcts and circumstances known to us
at that time. Differences between actual costh@$e¢ services and the estimated costs that wedtamged in a prior period are recorded in the
subsequent period in which the actual costs bedgrmoen to us. Historically, these differences hawenesulted in material adjustments, but
such differences may occur in the future and havaterial impact on our consolidated results ofrapens or financial position.
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Examples of estimated accrued research and develdmRrpenses include:

fees paid to CROs in connection with clinical sasj

fees paid to investigative sites in connection wilthical studies

fees paid to vendors in connection with preclinb@avelopment activitie:

fees paid to vendors associated with the developoferompanion diagnostics; a

fees paid to vendors related to product manufaggudevelopment and distribution of clinical suppl

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and ssrtfat will be used or rendered in future reseanthdevelopment activities are
deferred and recognized as expense in the peréddhé related goods are consumed or servicesdi@med.

Essentially all of our research and developmenersgps related to PRX302 during the years endedniimre31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.
We recognized research and development expensdetoass (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 3!

2013 2012 2011
Clinical research and development $ 7,13¢ $ 7,07¢ $4,69(
Pre-clinical research and developm: 5 1,14¢ 34¢€
Manufacturing 2,82¢ 5,151 3,301
Stocl-based compensation expel 311 14¢ 317

$10,27¢ $13,52¢ $8,66(

Stock-based Compensation

Equity Awards

We expense the fair value of employee stock optiowes the vesting period. Stotlased compensation expense is measured usingn
value of the award at the grant date, net of eséichforfeitures, and is adjusted annually to reféemtual forfeitures. The fair value of each
stock-based award is estimated using the Blacki8sh@luation model and is expensed using gradstingeover the vesting period.

We recognized stock-based compensation expensdi@sd (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Research and development $ 311 $ 14¢ $ 317
General and administrati 863 52¢ 59¢
Total $ 1,17 $ 67¢€ $ 91t

The fair value of options granted during the yeatezl December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were estimatbe date of grant using the
following assumptions:

For the Years Ended December 3]

2013 2012 2011
Expected life of the option term (years) 3.€ 3.6 4.5
Risk-free interest rat 0.€% 1.2% 1.%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Volatility 83.8% 73.% 74.8%
Forfeiture rate 8.1% 9.(% 8.7%
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Expected Life of the Option TerniThis is the period of time that the options geartire expected to remain unexercised. Optiongegtan
during the year have a maximum contractual terfivefyears. We estimate the expected life of th&goopterm based on actual past behavior
for similar options.

RiskFree Interest Rate This is the Canadian or United States Treasuey es applicable, for the week of each option tgdaning the
year having a term that most closely resemblegxpected life of the optiol

Dividend Yield- We have never declared or paid dividends on comshares and have no plans to do so in the foreleekdure.

Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by whictinancial variable such as a share price has fatetlior is expected to
fluctuate during a period. We considered the hisabwolatility from our Canadian initial public fefring through the dates of grants.

Forfeiture Rate- Forfeitures are estimated at the time of gradtramised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstifah forfeitures differ
from those estimates. We assess the forfeitureoratn annual basis and revised the rate when depevessary.

Liability Awards

Historically we have issued our stock options vet@anadian dollar denominated exercise price. Suigse to our initial public offering
on the NASDAQ, we have issued our stock options ait U.S. dollar denominated exercise price.

Effective November 13, 2013, we voluntarily delésfeom the Toronto Stock Exchange, or the TSX. 8ghsnt to November 13, 2013,
our securities are being actively traded on onégyNIASDAQ.

As a result of the delisting from the TSX and thamge in our functional currency to the U.S. dolaock options granted to U.S. based
employees and directors with exercise prices demated in Canadian dollars are now considered ddabied as defined in ASC 718,
Compensation, Stock Compensatids a result of the stock options being dual iretkwe are required to account for these stock optEs a
liability. Historically these options had been agoted for as equity. As of November 13, 2013, thte @f delisting, we calculated the initial
fair value of the vested awards of $163,000. Taisvfalue was initially recorded as a deductiomfréontributed Surplus. At each reporting
period subsequent to November 13, 2013, the Comywédhadijust the fair value of the stock-based cemgation liability and any
corresponding increase or decrease to the stoddlmsnpensation liability will be recorded as ajusitinent to Contributed Surplus and/or
compensation expense on the consolidated statevheperations and comprehensive loss but in nowikthe amount of stock-based
compensation expense be less than the original deda fair value of the stock options.

The estimated fair value is determined using theeBIScholes option-pricing model based on theviaiue of the underlying common
shares at the valuation measurement date, thememaervice period of the stock options, risk-fireterest rates, expected dividends and
expected volatility of the price of the underlyiogmmon shares. The fair value of the stock-basetpeasation liability was $202,000 and at
December 31, 2013. As the calculated fair valuthefstock options at December 31, 2013 was lesstligoriginal grant date fair value no
additional compensation expense was recorded todhsolidated statement of operations and compsdheioss. The change in the stock-
based compensation liability from November 13, 2@l Becember 31, 2013 of $39,000 was recorded asljastment to Contributed Surplus.

The following inputs were utilized in the Black-Sdbs pricing model at the initial recognition dafehe stock-based compensation
liability, the date of the Company delisting frohetToronto Stock Exchange and December 31, 2013.

December 31

Initial
Recognitior 2013
Risk-free interest rate 0.84% 1.0(%
Volatility 79.91% 94.5%%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected life in year 3.5: 3.4z
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Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2013, we had Canadian and €derél tax net operating loss carryforwards of $&&illion and $0.4 million,
respectively, which begin to expire in 2014 and208spectively. As of December 31, 2013, we almb Ganadian and U.S. federal investn
tax credits of $2.9 million and $0.6 million, resgigely. The Canadian and U.S. federal investmaxttedits will begin to expire in 2015 and
2032, respectively.

Utilization of the U.S. federal net operating lcss@d credits may be subject to a substantial atimitation due to ownership change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Cotl&986, as amended. The annual limitation may tésuhe expiration of our net operating
losses and credits before we can use them. Werkaweded a valuation allowance for the full amoofrithe deferred tax asset related to oul
operating loss and research and development tai cearyforwards.

JOBS Act

In April 2012, the JumpStart Our Business Startipisof 2012, or the JOBS Act, was signed into lalwe JOBS Act contains provisions
that, among other things, reduce certain reporgaggirements for an “emerging growth company.” As@merging growth company,” we are
electing not to take advantage of the extendeditian period afforded by the JOBS Act for the iemplentation of new or revised accounting
standards, and as a result, we will comply with @ewevised accounting standards on the relevaesdm which adoption of such standards i
required for non-emerging growth companies. Section of the JOBS Act provides that our decisiontaodake advantage of the extended
transition period is irrevocable. In addition, we & the process of evaluating the benefits gfinglon the other exemptions and reduced
reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Achj&t to certain conditions set forth in the JOB&,Af as an “emerging growth company”
we choose to rely on such exemptions, we may noédpaired to, among other things, (i) provide aditou’s attestation report on our systen
internal controls over financial reporting pursuam&ection 404, (ii) provide all of the compensatdisclosure that may be required of non-
emerging growth public companies under the Dodavei&all Street Reform and Consumer Protection fict,comply with any requirement
that may be adopted by the Public Company Accogr@imersight Board regarding mandatory audit firtation or a supplement to the
auditor’s report providing additional informatiobaut the audit and the financial statements (audiszussion and analysis), and (iv) disclose
certain executive compensation-related items sadhecorrelation between executive compensatidrparformance and comparisons of the
Chief Executive Offices compensation to median employee compensatiorseTdsemptions will apply for a period of five yefollowing the
completion of our initial public offering or untite no longer meet the requirements of being an fgimg growth company,” whichever is
earlier.

Results Of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 202

The following table summarizes the results of querations for the year ended December 31, 2012@h8d, together with the changes
those items in dollars (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 3]

2013 2012 Change 2013 vs. 20:
License revenue $ 5,00( $ — $ 5,00(
Research and development exper 10,27¢ 13,52 (3,244
General and administrative expen 4,511 5,68t (1,179
Interest income (expense), | (1,309 (1,880 572
Gain on revaluation of warrant liabili 68¢ — 68¢
Other income (expense), r (240 (10€) (1349
Income tax expens 50C — 50C

License revenueDuring the year ended December 31, 2013, we decbas revenue a $5.0 million non-refundable nulespayment
from Kissei upon our achievement of certain develept activities, as such milestone had been aathidweng this period.
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Research and development expenResearch and development expenses were $10.3miillibe year ended December 31, 2013
compared to $13.5 million in the year ended DecerBhe2012. The decrease in research and develdprosts is attributable to the followir

. A $1.1 million decrease in the costs associatitl the Company’s pre-clinical activities, spécdfly a repeat dose monkey study
and a rat fertility study both of which were contplbin 2012

. A $2.3 million decrease in the costs associated thie transfer and sci-up of manufacturing activities for PRX302; &

. A $1.6 million decrease in costs associated wigh@ompan’'s Phase 1/2 tria

Offsetting these decreases is an increase of $illidmior cost associated with our Phase 3 clihical from the year ended
December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013, as oulimert for this Phase 3 clinical trial began in @utr 2013. Research and development
expenses included stock-based compensation expef6e3 million for the year ended December 31,284 compared to $0.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 20

General and administrative expens€gneral and administrative expenses were $4.5omiifi the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to $5.7 million for the year ended DecarBlie2012. The decrease of $1.2 million is prityatiie to a $0.8 million decrease in
market research costs. General and administrabises éncluded stock-based compensation expende ®idillion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 as compared to $0.5 millionHentear ended December 31, 2012.

Interest income (expense), neterest expense, net was $1.3 million in the yemled December 31, 2013 compared to $1.9 milliaghe
same period in 2012. This decrease resulted frozdaction in interest expense related to our preamisnotes with Oxford Finance. Interest
expense related to Company’s promissory notes@ittord Finance is expected to decline over the tefithe loan as the total principal
outstanding on the loan is paid down. The loan bélfully repaid by November 2014.

Gain on revaluation of warrant liabilityGain on revaluation of the warrant liability was Bnillion as of December 31, 2013. The non-
cash gain is associated with the change in thevédire of our warrant liability.

Other expense, nédther expense, net was $0.2 million for the yealedrDecember 31, 2013 compared to $0.1 millioriHferyear ende
December 31, 2012. This change was primarily dwe$6.1 million increase from 2012 to 2013 in fgreexchange loss. These foreign
exchange losses resulted from foreign currencyséetions.

Income tax expens&he $5.0 million milestone payment from Kissei vgabject to a 10% Japanese withholding tax. As @trese
recorded income tax expense of $0.5 million forybar ended December 31, 2013. We will be eligibletilize the withholding tax to offset
future taxes due in Canada. Generally, we wouldligéble to utilize the withholding tax to offsaitiire taxes due in Canada, thus creating a
deferred tax asset. Given the uncertainty aroumability to generate future taxable income in Gimave have expensed the withholding tax
during the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 201

The following table summarizes the results of querations for the years ended December 31, 2012@ht, together with the changes
in those items in dollars (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change 2012 vs. 20:
Research and development expenses $ 13,52 $ 8,66( $ 4,86:
General and administrative expen 5,68¢ 4,63¢ 1,05(C
Interest income (expense), | (2,880 (89%) (98%)
Other income (expense), r (10€) (11) (95)

Research and development expenResearch and development expenses were $13.5miillihe year ended December 31, 2012 and
$8.7 million in the year ended December 31, 20His increase was primarily attributable to an iaseof $0.4 million associated with our
completed Phase 1/2 transrectal clinical trial,cihbegan enrollment in September 2011, an incraa$2.0 million of costs associated with
our first Phase 3 clinical trial and an increas&bB million in our costs associated with the $fanand scalep of manufacturing activities ft
PRX302 clinical trial material. Also included as@nponent of research and development expensegdiernyear ended December 31, 2011 i
$0.4 million for severance related costs associaitdthe shut-down of our Vancouver operationse Tésearch and development expense
included stock-based compensation charges of $llliamfor the year ended December 31, 2012 as @egpto $0.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in the btsed compensation charges is related to the aatiefeof stock options for our former
senior management team during 2011.

General and administrative expens@gneral and administrative expenses were $5.7omilfi the year ended December 31, 2012 and
$4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 20ddluded in our general and administrative expefzethe year ended December 31, 2011
was $0.7 million of severance related costs asttiaith the shut-down of our Vancouver operatidhicluding the severance related costs o
$0.7 million from our year ended December 31, 26fdrating results, our general and administratiyEeases increased $1.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to theydad December 31, 2011. This increase primagigtes to an increase in persor
related costs associated with the build-out of$am Diego general and administrative group of agprately $0.6 million, an increase in
professional fees of approximately $0.5 million amdincrease in market research costs of approglyn@0.6 million. Included in general and
administrative expense are stock-based compensadtanges of $0.5 million for the year ended Decemn3fie 2012 compared to $0.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Interest income (expense), neterest expense, net was $1.9 million in the yemted December 31, 2012 and $0.9 million in theesam
period in 2011. This increase resulted from andase in interest expense related to the Oxford bdapproximately $1.0 million during the
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the pdadddecember 31, 2011. The Oxford Loan origindtgihg July 2011. As such, there
an increase in interest expense related to thisdoaing the year ended December 31, 2012 comparie year ended December 31, 2011.

Other expense, néDther expense, net was $0.1 million for the yealedrDecember 31, 2012 as compared to other inco®iElg000 fo
the year ended December 31, 2011. This change rivaarfly due to a $0.1 million increase from 20012012 in foreign exchange loss. These
foreign exchange losses resulted from foreign cuyréransactions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, our operations have been pifyrfananced through public and private sales of oommon shares and a debt
financing. Since inception, we have devoted ounueses to funding research and development prograciading discovery research,
preclinical studies and clinical trial activities.

On August 23, 2013, we completed a U.S. publicroftein which we issued 13,000,000 common sharespaice of $5.00 per share. We
received $57.0 million, net of underwriters’ disataicommissions and offering costs.
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At December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivaetsecurities available-for-sale of $48.1 millamd working capital of
$41.3 million. We expect that our current cashhaaguivalents and securities available-for-salefd3ecember 31, 2013 will be sufficient to
fund our operations for at least the next 12 marithe following table shows a summary of our cdsW$ for the years ended December 31,
2013. 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used il
Operating activitie: $(13,20¢) $(18,83¢) $(12,34)
Investing activities (33,32) (26) (259)
Financing activitie: 51,72¢ 4,88¢ 23,515
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatants (83) 28¢ 10¢€
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equig $ 5,11¢ $(13,68¢) $11,02¢

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities decreas&d3a2 million for the year ended December 31, 2€di@pared to $18.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease imskeiused of $5.6 million between the years endestidber 31, 2012 to the year ent
December 31, 2013 was due to the decrease in dlosseoffset by upfront payments to our clinicadearch organization for our Phase 3
clinical trial. The decrease in our net loss frdma year ended December 31, 2012 to the year endegniiber 31, 2013 is partially due to the
recognition of $5.0 million in revenue from Kisgkiring the year ended December 31, 2013 and redesedrch and development expenses |
2013 compared to 2012.

Net cash used in operating activities was $18.8anifor the year ended December 31, 2012 compareét cash used in operating
activities of $12.3 million for the year ended Dextxer 31, 2011. The increase in net cash used wasaniy due to the increase in operating
losses due to increase in cash payments assowidteresearch and development activities in 2012aspared to the same period in 2011.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $33.3ianilfor the year ended December 31, 2013, compar&@6,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase in net cash usg8308 million was due to the purchase of secrieailable-for sale from the net proceeds
of the U.S. public offering.

Net cash used in investing activities during thargeended December 31, 2012 and 2011 primarilyectka the purchase of property and
equipment used for general operating purposes.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5milfion, for the year ended December 31, 2013;ampared to $4.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012. In 2013 we raised $5iflion, net in a U.S. public offering. Thesenfis were offset by $5.5 million
principal payments to Oxford. Net cash providedibsncing activities during the year ended Decen®ier2012 of $4.9 million was primarily
related to the issuance of common shares fromvatgrplacement which resulted in net proceeds & 8tillion. The receipt of cash from the
private placement was offset by principal paymémt®xford of $3.2 million during the year ended Beber 31, 2012.

In 2011, $15.0 million was received from the issz@nf promissory notes, $8.1 million, net of isst@nosts was received from the
issuance of common shares from the private placeofestock and $0.4 million was received from tixereise of stock options and warrants.

Future Operations

We have devoted substantial resources to develd@R¥B02, protecting and enhancing our intellecpuaperty and providing general
and administrative support for these activities. Ndge not generated any revenue from product salésto date, have funded our operations
primarily through public and private equity secystles, a debt financing and payments from Kissei.

We expect that we will require additional capitakbmplete development of PRX302, including comgiebdf both of our ongoing and
planned Phase 3 clinical trials, to obtain regulatipproval of and to commercialize PRX302.
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Our future capital requirements will depend on, aodld increase significantly as a result of, méagtors, including:
. progress in, and the costs of, our clinical triptgclinical studies and other research and dewsbop activities for PRX30z
. the costs and timing of regulatory approv

. our ability to maintain our strategic licensihnKissei and its ability to achieve applicabldestones and establish and maintain
additional strategic collaborations, including hseng and other arrangemer

. the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enfogiand defending patent claims and other intellégit@erty rights

. the costs of obtaining and securing manufacturimply for clinical or commercial production of puet candidates; ar

. the costs of establishing, or contracting for, saled marketing capabilities if we obtain regulat@pprovals to market PRX30
Until we can generate significant continuing revesiuve expect to satisfy our future cash needsigirprivate and public sales of our

securities, debt financings, by establishing adddl strategic collaborations for PRX302 or fronemise of outstanding common share
purchase warrants and stock options.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following is a summary of our contractual obtigns as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Payments due by perioc

Less thar More than
1-3 35
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease obligation relating to facility $ 424 $ 141 $234 $49 $ —
Principal and interest payable under promissorgs () 7,34¢ 7,34°f — — —
Purchase commitmen(®) 1,78¢ 1,78¢ — — —
Total $9,55¢ $ 9,27  $234 $49 $ —

(1) We currently lease an office facility comprigiaur headquarters in San Diego, California undesracancelable lease. The lease, as
amended, expires in May 2017 and the minimum =&1P2,740 per month, subject to annual cost afidivncreases, plus our pro rata
share of certain operating costs and other expe

(2) InJuly 2011, we entered into the Oxford Lognegment, which was amended in January 2013 and iagduly 2013. Under the terms of
the Oxford Loan, we made interest only paymentsifioe months at a fixed rate of 9.5%. Subsequetiteanterest only payments, the
note will amortize with principal and interest pagmts due through the remaining term of the Oxfasdrn. The loan term, including
interest only period, is 39 months; however, thanloan be prepaid subject to certain provisionspaegayment fees. Upon final
repayment of the Oxford Loan on the maturity dateprepayment, or upon acceleration of the Oxfavdr, we must also make an
additional final payment of $0.8 milliol

(3) We are required to schedule our manufacturatiyities in advance. If we cancel any of theseestthed activities without proper notice
we could be required to pay penalties equal t@tist of the originally scheduled activity. As swed have included the activities
scheduled as of December 31, 2013 which, if casdetiould result in us incurring penalties for caladion.

Exclusive License Agreements

We have entered into an exclusive license agreewiémtUVIC and Johns Hopkins with respect to the a§PRX302 for the
development of therapeutics for BPH and other remmeer diseases and conditions of the prostate.dhideagreement we are required to
make payments based upon the achievement of spdeifelopment and regulatory milestones separaeh@ indications of BPH and two
additional therapeutic indications selected bytetsling up to approximately CND$1.3 million, or.8Imillion, as converted. As the timing of
when these payments will actually be made is uateend the payments are contingent upon the caimplef future activities, we have
excluded these potential payments from the contahaibligations table above. To the extent we rerany milestone payments relating to the
development of therapeutics for the treatment efsymptoms of BPH under our exclusive license ages with Kissei, we are obligated to
pay a percentage of such consideration, which peage is in the 10-19% range, to UVIC and Johnskisp however, pursuant to a separate
agreement which we entered into in 2003 with DT.hbmas Buckley, one of our founders, the aggreg@aieunt of such consideration payable
by us to UVIC and Johns Hopkins is reduced by 25%.
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Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemastddfined by applicable SEC regulations) thateamsonably likely to have a current
or future material effect on our financial conditjoesults of operations, liquidity, capital expiuaiks or capital resources.

Ite m 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk is the exposure to foraigmrency exchange rate fluctuations. This riskearisom our holdings of foreign currency
denominated cash and accounts payable. Changeigrf currency exchange rates can create foreigma@ge gains or losses to us. Our
current foreign currency risk is primarily with ti@nadian dollar and the Euro as a majority oftkgenses incurred by us are denominated it
the U.S. dollar. As of December 31, 2013, we had$0I3 million, or $0.2 million, as converted, Careaddollars. A 10% change in the
underlying exchange rate would result in a charfgg24,000 in cash at December 31, 2013. We havemalrdirect exposure to interest rate
risks as we do not have variable rate financi#lilitees. In addition, the Oxford Loan has a fixiederest rate of 9.5% therefore fluctuations in
interest rates do not have an affect on the tatetanding principal due on the Oxford Loan.

We invest our excess cash in investment-gradegisttdearing securities. The primary objective wfiovestment activities is to preserve
principal and liquidity. To achieve this objectiwee invest in a money market fund and high qualigrketable debt instruments of
corporations, financial institutions and governmgminsored enterprises with contractual maturitgslaf generally less than three years. We
do not have any direct investments in auction-satirities or securities that are collateralizeésets that include mortgages or subprime
debt. If a 10% change in interest rates were t@ lreeurred on December 31, 2013, this change wmtltiave had a material effect on the fair
value of our investment portfolio as of that date.
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ltem 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Dati

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Sophiris Bio Inc.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the regloother auditors, the accompanying consolidatddnta sheets as of December 31,
2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statsroénperations and comprehensive loss, of shatersd equity (deficit) and of cash flows
for the years then ended present fairly, in allariat respects, the financial position of Sophis Inc. and its subsidiaries (a development
stage company) at December 31, 2013 and 2012 harmésults of their operations and their cash fltwshe years then ended and
cumulatively for the period from January 11, 2002té of inception) to December 31, 2013 in conftymiith accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Thesanfifal statements are the responsibility of the gamy’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statenteaged on our audits. We did not audit the findrst&ements of the Company for the period
from January 11, 2002 (date of inception) to Decen®i, 2011. Those financial statements, whictecefh deficit of $52.5 million
accumulated during the development stage, weraealidiy other auditors whose report, dated Decempb2012, except for the effects of the
share consolidation described in Note 1, as to lwtiie date is August 12, 2013, has been furnished,tand our opinion expressed herein,
insofar as it relates to the cumulative amountgHerperiod from January 11, 2002 (date of inceptio December 31, 2011, is based solely or
the report of other auditors. We conducted ourtautfithese statements in accordance with the atdeaf the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisine that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstat@mAn audit includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significaninegties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Wete that our audits and the report of other audiprovide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Diego, California
March 14, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of SiagpBio Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséatits of operations and comprehensive loss andstf tows for the year ended
December 31, 2011 of Sophiris Bio Inc. and its glibges (a development stage company), and tlaeeticonsolidated statement of
shareholders’ equity (deficit) for the years DecemBil, 2002 through December 31, 2011. Managemersponsible for these consolidated
financial statements. Our responsibility is to egsran opinion on these consolidated financiatistants based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether the congadlitiaincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. Our audit of the consolidated finalrgtiatements included examining, on a test bagidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesjeagsessing the accounting principles used andisant estimates made by management
evaluating the overall consolidated financial steat presentation. We believe that our audit p@deasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated foialnstatements of Sophiris Bio Inc. and its suiasids (a development stage company)
referred to above present fairly, in all materedpects, the results of their operations and ttaeih flows for the year ended December 31, :
in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia
December 7, 2012, except for the effects of theesbansolidation described in Note 1, as to whighdate is August 12, 2013.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share amounts)

December 31

2013 2012
Assets:
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,83¢ $ 9,721
Securities availab-for-sale 33,31( —
Other receivable 48 71
Deferred financing cos — 937
Prepaid expense 3,59¢ 593
Total current assets 51,79¢ 11,32:
Property and equipment, r 78 162
Other lon¢-term asset 19 44
Total assets $ 51,89: $11,52¢
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit):
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 1,47( $ 1,77
Accrued expense 2,181 2,83¢
Current portion of promissory not 6,871 5,89¢
Total current liabilities 10,52¢ 10,50¢
Long-term promissory notes, less current por — 6,12¢
Warrant liability 88:¢ —
Stoclk-based compensation liabili 20z —
Total liabilities 11,61: 16,63¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Shareholders equity (deficit):
Common shares, unlimited authorized shares, noglae; 16,149,871 and 3,149,871 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respéc 111,20« 54,21t
Common share purchase warre — 6,04
Contributed surplu 13,82« 8,37¢
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (I¢ 98 (46)
Deficit accumulated during development st (84,847 (73,699
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit) 40,27¢ (5,10%)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit) $ 51,89: $11,52¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.

66



Table of Contents

Sophiris Bio Inc.

(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
License revenu
Operating expenses
Research and developmt
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Other income (expense)
Interest income (expense), |
Gain on revaluation of warrant liabili
Other income (expense), r
Total other income (expens
Net loss before income tax
Income tax expens
Net loss

Basic and diluted loss per shar
Weighted average number of outstanding sh- basic and dilute

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustm
Unrealized loss on securities availe-for-sale

Total comprehensive los:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofétesdited consolidated financial statements.
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For the Years Ended December 3]

Cumulative
period from
January 11, 200:

(date of
inception) to
December 31

2013 2012 2011 2013
$ 5000 $ — $ — $ 8,00(
10,27¢ 13,52: 8,66( 59,92+
4,511 5,68¢ 4,63 28,98¢
14,79( 19,20¢ 13,29¢ 88,91
(1,30€) (1,880) (89E) (3,221)
68¢ — — 68¢
(240) (10€) (11) (587)
(85¢) (1,986) (90€) (3,119
(10,649 (21,199  (14,20) (84,03%)
(500) — — (81E)
$(11,149  $(21,199  $(14,20) $  (84,84)
$ (139 $ (699 $ (6.09
8,02¢ 3,05¢ 2,34¢
14F 131 14 99
) — — (€]
$(11,009  $(21,06)  $(14,18) $ (84,749
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deit)
(In thousands, expect share amounts)

Deficit
Common Accumulated  Accumulated
Other Total
Share Right During the Comprehensive  Shareholders’
Preferred Common Contributed  Purchase Developmen
Shares Shares to Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Surplus Warrants  Invest Stage (Deficit)

Balance at January 11, 2002 (date ¢

inception) - $ — - $ — 3 — 3 — $— 3 — 3 — 3 =
Issuance of common shai — — 2 — — — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — — (13 — (23)
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 2 — — — — 13 — (23)
Issuance of common shai — — 110,45( 14€ — — — — — 14€
Issuance of common shares, ne

shares issuance costs of ¢ — — 39,74 603 — 4€ — — — 64¢
Issuance of Series | Class A preferred

shares, net of shares issuance costs

of $6 31,98t 454 — — — — — — — 454
Issuance of Series | Class A prefer

shares to settle accounts paye 2,45¢ 36 — — — — — — — 3€
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 57 — — — — 57
Net loss — — — — — — — (339 — (339)
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 112 112
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,44 49C 150,19 74¢ 57 4€ — (34€) 112 1,10¢
Issuance of common shares, net of

shares issuance costs of ¢ — — 37,08: 61z — 53 — — — 66E
Issuance of common shares u|

conversion of preferred shat (34,44, (490) 62,62¢ 52¢ — — — — — 3€
Reverse acquisition of SN 111,91« 46E 314 — — — — 77¢
Issuance of common shares in publi

offering, net of stock issuance cos

of $522 — — 86,11¢ 2,56¢ — 46( — — — 3,02¢
Common share purchase warre

issued for age’s commissiot — — — (119 — 114 — — — (©)]
Exercise of common share purchase

warrants — — 328 14 — 5) — — — 9
Exercise of common share purch

options — — 2,981 10t (60) — — — — 4E
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 11€ — — — — 11€
Net loss — — — — — — — (2,297 — (2,299
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 14C 14C
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 451,23: 4,92 427 66¢ — (2,639 252 3,63(
Exercise of common share purchase

warrants — — 44¢ 15 — (6) — — — 9
Exercise of common share purch

options — — 1,501 65 (35) — — — — 3C
Expiration of common share purcha

warrants — — — — 47¢ 479 — — — —
Issuance of common shares for lice — — 5,131 15¢ — — — — — 15t
Issuance of common shares pursual

private placement, net of stock

issuance costs of $2: — — 225,83t 2,94¢ — 1,782 — — — 4,72¢
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 55€ — — — — 55¢€
Net loss — — — — — — — (4,580 — (4,58()
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 62 62
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 684,15( 8,10¢ 1,427 1,96t — (7,219 314 4,59(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deit)
(In thousands, expect share amounts)

Deficit Accumulated
Common Accumulated Other Total
Comprehensive Shareholders’
Preferred Common Share During the
Shares Shares Contributed Purchase Rightto Developmen Income Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount  Surplus  Warrants Invest Stage (Loss) (Deficit)
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 684,15( 8,10z 1,427 1,96¢ — (7,219 314 4,59(
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 6,33¢ 24z — 97 — — — 14&
Expiration of common share purchase warr. — — — — 13€ (13€) — — — —
Exercise of common share optic — — 741 24 (20) — — — — 4
Issuance of common shares pursuant to pri
placement, net of stock issuance costs of
$832 — — 390,37! 6,65( — 1,43i — — — 8,08
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 437 — — — — 437
Net loss — — — — — — — (4,41¢) — (4,419
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — — — (97) (97)
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 1,081,60: 15,01¢ 1,98( 3,16¢ — (11,63)) 217 8,74¢
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 230,88 9,997 — (1,812 — — — 8,18t
Expiration of common share purchase warr. — — — — 27 (27) — — — —
Exercise of common share optic — — 1,85¢ 12t (35) — — — — 90
Issuance of common shares for intangible &
acquisition — — 2,45¢ 11C — — — — — 11C
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 43t — — — — 43t
Net loss — — — — — — — (6,92¢) — (6,92¢)
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 662 662
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 1,316,800 25,25 2,407 1,33( — (18,565 87¢ 11,30:
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 55¢ 23 — (4) — — — 19
Expiration of common share purchase warr. — — — — 1,342 (1,359 — — — 22
Exercise of common share optic — — 7,620 13¢ (64) — — — — 74

Issuance of common shares pursuant to pr

placement, net of stock issuance costs of

$523 — — 134,51( 4,26¢€ — 16C — — — 4,42¢
Common shares issued as finance fee, n

issuance costs of $t — — — — — — — —
Common share purchase warrants issue

commissior — — — — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 39C — — — — 39C
Net loss — — — — — — — (8,36¢) — 8,36¢)
Other comprehensive lo — — — — — — — — (1,93¢) (1,935
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 1,459,50 29,67¢ 4,07t 132 — (26,939 (2,056 5,89t
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 881 17 — (6) — — — 11
Issuance of common shares and common ¢

purchase warrants, net of issuance costs

$274 — — 164,50( 1,68¢ — 64 — — — 1,75:¢
Common share purchase warrants issued for

commissior — — — — — — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 297 — — — — 297
Net loss — — — — — — — (6,95%) (6,957
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 49¢€ 49€
Balance at December 31, 20C — — 1,624,88° 31,38¢ 4,37z 19C — (33,89) (560 1,49t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deit)

(In thousands, expect share amounts)

Deficit
Common Accumulated  Accumulated
Other Total
Share During the  Comprehensive Shareholders’
Preferred Common Contributed Purchase Right Developmen
Shares Shares to Income Equity
Shares Amount  Shares  Amount Surplus ~ Warrants Invest Stage (Loss) (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 20C — — 1,624,88.  31,38¢ 4,372 19C — (33,89) (560 1,49¢
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 10,08( 24C — (99) — — — 141
Exercise of employee stock optic — — 142 8 — Q) — — — 2
Expiration of common share purchase warr — — — — 99 (99) — — — —
Issuance of common shares and common

purchase warrants, net of issuance costs

$1,548 — — 697,79t 5,20z — 1,827 6,21« — — 13,24:
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 457 — — — — 457
Net loss — — — — — — — (4,417) — (4,417)
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 36¢ 36¢
Balance at December 31, 201 — — 2,332,900  36,82¢ 4,92¢ 1,81¢ 6,21« (38,309 (193 11,29t
Exercise of common share purchase warr — — 4,86( 101 — (24) — — — 77
Exercise of employee stock optic — — 10,82° 514 (211) — — — 30:
Issuance of warrants with secured promis:

notes — — — — — 51¢ — — — 51¢
Issuance of common shares and common ¢

purchase warrants, net of issuance costs

$63 — — 400,64 8,28¢ — 1,86¢ (2,077 — — 8,07t
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 91t — — — — 91t
Net loss — — — — — — — (14,20)) (14,207
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 14 14
Balance at December 31, 201 — — 2,749,22: 45,72 5,632 4,177 4,14 (52,509 @77 6,991
Issuance of common shares and common ¢

purchase warrants, net of issuance costs of

$66 — — 400,64 8,48¢ — 1,86¢ (2,079 — — 8,28t
Expiration of right to inves 2,071 — (2,07)) — — —
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 67€ — — — — 67¢€
Net loss — — — — — — — (21,199 — (21,199
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 131 131
Balance at December 31, 201 — — 3,149,87 54,21t 8,37¢ 6,04% — (73,699 (46) (5,10%)
Issuance of common shares in a public

offering, net of issuance costs of $8,( — — 13,000,00 56,98¢ — — — — — 56,98¢
Reclassification of initial fair value of warral

denominated in Canadian dollars to liabi — — — — — (1,572) — — — (1,572)
Reclassification of historic fair value

warrants — — — — 4,47: (4,479 — — — —
Reclassification of fair value of options

denominated in Canadian dollars to liabi — — — — (202) — — — — (202)
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 1,17¢ — — — — 1,174
Net loss — — — — — — — (11,149 — (11,149
Other comprehensive incor — — — — — — — — 144 144
Balance at December 31, 201 — $ — 16,149,87 $111,20: $ 13,82: $ — $ — 3 (84,84) $ 98 $ 40,27¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Cumulative period

from January 11,
2002 (date of

For the Years Ended December 31 inception) to
2013 2012 2011 December 31, 201
Cash flows used in operating activitie:
Net loss for the perio $(11,149) $(21,199) $(14,207) $ (84,847
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash byeaperating activities
Stocl-based compensatic 1,174 67€ 91t 5,511
Accretion of debt discour 38C 50¢ 221 1,11C
Depreciation of property and equipmi 84 82 44 607
Amortization of intangible asse — 14¢ 202 1,20¢
Amortization of promissory note issuance ct 10¢ 15¢& 69 331
Amortization of discount on availat-for-sale securitie 9 — — 9
Impairment los: — 17¢€ — 17¢€
Change in fair value warrant liabili (68¢) — — (689)
Foreign exchange transaction (gain) | 22¢ (14¢) (209) (1,439
Loss on disposal of asst 2 1 12 27
Other — — — 182
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Other receivable 23 172 73 9
Prepaid expenst (3,117) (162) (642) (3,91¢)
Other lon¢-term asset 25 (15) (30 (19
Accounts payabl (30%) (1,00€) 1,001 984
Accrued expense 15 1,76¢ 20< 2,33¢
Net cash used in operating activit (13,206 (18,836 (12,347) (78,42%)
Cash flows used in investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipm (©)] (26) (26%) (725)
Proceeds from the disposal of property and equip! 1 — 11 13
Acquisition of intangible asse — — — (1,372)
Maturity of securities availak-for-sale — — — 1,112
Purchases of securities availe-for-sale (33,320 — — (34,43))
Net cash used in investing activiti (33,32) (26) (259 (35,409
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of common shares from private placemehtfrissuance ca — 8,28¢ 8,131 50,17¢
Issuance of common shares from public offeringafiédsuance co: 57,25 (21)) — 60,07(
Issuance of preferred shares, net of issuance — — — 46¢
Cash acquired on reverse acquisi — — — 81¢
Issuance of common shares on exercise of war — — 77 8,70z
Issuance of common shares on exercise of stockrg — — 303 514
Cash received from the issuance of promissory r — — 15,00( 15,00(
Principal payments on notes paya (5,529 (3,190 — (8,719
Increase in lease obligatio — — — 12C
Capital lease paymen — — — (220
Other — — — 4
Net cash provided by financing activiti 51,72¢ 4,88¢ 23,517 127,03t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashueglents (83) 28¢ 10¢ 1,631
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake 5,11¢ (13,689 11,02¢ 14,83¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of peric 9,721 23,41( 12,38: —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 14,83¢ $ 9,721 $ 23,41( $ 14,83¢
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 884 $ 1,35( $ 54z
Cash paid for taxes $ 50C — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofétesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

For the Years Ended December 3!

2013 2012 2011
Supplemental disclosures of nc-cash investing and financing activities
Valuation of common share warrant liability uposuance of warran $1,572 $— $—
Valuation of stock-based compensation liability $tmck options denominated in Canadia

dollars $ 202 $— $—
Unrealized loss on securities availe-for sale $ 1 $— $—
Deferred financing cost incurred but not yet ¢ $ 53 $72E $—

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofetesdited consolidated financial statements.
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Sophiris Bio Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of the busines:
Company

Sophiris Bio Inc. or the “Company” or “Sophiris” &sclinical-stage biopharmaceutical developmergestsompany currently developing
PRX302 for treatment of the symptoms of benign fatds hyperplasia (‘“BPHbr enlarged prostate). The Company is governedhéyBtisines
Corporations Act of British Columbia and began @piens on January 11, 2002. The Company’s opeatiare initially located in
Vancouver, British Columbia until April 2011, whés core activities and headquarters relocated f@mcouver, British Columbia to San
Diego, California. Effective April 2, 2012, the Cpamny changed its name from Protox Therapeuticsten8ophiris Bio Inc.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted sntialig all of its efforts to research and develapr recruiting management and
technical staff, acquiring assets and raising ehgdit addition, the Company has not begun to coroiakze or generate revenues from any
product candidate. Accordingly, the Company is @ered to be in the development stage, as defméddcounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 915-10.

The consolidated financial statements include tu®ants of Sophiris Bio Inc. and its wholly-ownetbsidiaries, Sophiris Bio Corp. and
Sophiris Bio Holding Corp., both of which are inporated in the State of Delaware.

Share Consolidation

On August 9, 2013, the Company’s board of direcamsroved a 52-for-1 share consolidation of the @amy’s issued and outstanding
common shares. Accordingly, all share and per stva@unts for all periods presented in these fir@rstatements and notes thereto have bee
adjusted retroactively to reflect the share consdidon. The Company’s stock option plan and outitapwarrants provide for a pro-rata
adjustment to the number of shares issuable uppaxércise of outstanding stock options and wasranthe event of a share consolidation.
The effects of the share consolidation have beesngietroactive effect to the related disclosuffesutstanding stock options and warrants.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Significant accounting policies followed by the Quemny in the preparation of its consolidated finahstatements are as follows:

Basis of consolidatio

The consolidated financial statements include tomants of the Company, Sophiris Bio Corp. and $@pBio Holding Corp. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaied for purposes of consolidation.

Basis of presentation and use of estim

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieade been prepared in conformity with generallyeated accounting principles in
the United States or “GAAP”. GAAP requires the Ce@mg's management to make estimates and judgmeaitenthy affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenséselated disclosures. The Company bases estimategidgments on historical experience
and on various other factors that it believes todasonable under the circumstances. The signifestimates in these consolidated financial
statements include revenue recognition, stock-besetbensation expense, warrant liability, functianarency, and accrued research and
development expenses, including accruals relatétet@€ompany’s ongoing clinical trial. The Compangttual results may differ from these
estimates. The Company evaluates its estimates ongoing basis. Changes in estimates are refléctegborted results in the period in which
they become known by the Company’s management.
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Foreign currency
Functional currency

Historically, the functional currency of SophirisoBnc. has been the Canadian dollar and the fanaticurrency of Sophiris Bio Corp.
and Sophiris Bio Holding Corp. has been the U.HaddSubsequent to the completion of the Compamytil public offering on the
NASDAQ Global Market the Company reviewed the uhdeg indicators of the primary economic environrhgnwhich Sophiris Bio Inc
operates. Based upon this review, the Companyrdated that the functional currency of Sophiris Bio. changed from the Canadian dolla
the U.S. dollar effective August 16, 2013, the ddtthe Company’s U.S. initial public offering.

Reclassification of Warrants

Historically, the Company issued common share wsran connection with the issuance of common sttamugh private placements
with exercise prices denominated in Canadian dolldpon the issuance of these warrants, the Comgitooated the net proceeds to common
share and warrants based on their relative fairemland calculated the fair value of the issu@dneon share warrants utilizing the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The allocated faiueavas then recorded as Common Share PurchasaMgwithin shareholders’ equity on
the consolidated balance sheet. The fair valuenwaisemeasured in periods subsequent to the daswance.

The change in the functional currency of Sophiiis Bc. to the U.S. dollar effective August 16, 20dffects how the Company accounts
for its previously issued warrants which have eserprices denominated in Canadian dollars, a oayréhat is not the Company'’s functional
currency. Upon the change in functional currenieg, Company calculated the fair value of its wasarith exercise prices in Canadian dollars
as $1.6 million utilizing the Black Scholes pricimpdel and classified this fair value as a longt&ability in accordance with Accounting
Standards Codification, or ASC, 815D¢rivatives and Hedging The initial fair value of $1.6 million was deded from the original fair
value calculated on the issuance date of the wigtrdhe issuance date fair value in excess of th@ @illion was reclassified to Contributed
Surplus. At each reporting period subsequent touat§6, 2013, the Company will adjust the fair eatd the warrant liability and any
corresponding increase or decrease to the waiadnility will be recorded as a component of otherdame (expense) on the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive losse3tmaated fair value is determined using the Bi&ckoles option-pricing model based on
the estimated value of the underlying common shatréise valuation measurement date, the remairongractual term of the warrants, risk-
free interest rates, expected dividends and exgewatatility of the price of the underlying commehares. At December 31, 2013 the warrant
liability was revalued at $0.9 million and a gair$0.7 million was recorded in gain on revaluatafrwarrant liability in the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive lossth&emounts utilized to calculate the fair valfithe warrant liability at August 16, 2013
and December 31, 2013 on Note 5.

Reporting currency

Prior to the change in the functional currency opl§iris Bio Inc., as discussed above, the cons@difinancial statements had been
presented in a currency other than the pasdntictional currency as management had deterntiveedhe U.S. dollar was the common curre
in which the Company’s peers, being internatiomabdand pharmaceutical companies, present theindial statements. For presentation
purposes, the assets and liabilities of the Compaerg translated to U.S. dollars at exchange aitdee reporting date. The historical equity
transactions had been translated using historétasrin effect on the date that each transactionroed. The income and expenses were
translated to U.S. dollars at the average excheatgdor the period in which the transaction ar&sehange differences arising were
recognized in a separate component of equity tatimulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Transactions and balances

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign caocies are translated at the rate of exchange obalagce sheet date. Revenues and
expenses are translated using the average exchateder the period. Net gains and losses resuftmg the translation of liabilities payable in
foreign currencies are recorded in accumulatedrathimprehensive gain (loss), which is a separatgpoment of stockholders’ equity. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the gedtieof foreign currency transactions and fromrémeasurement of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other tham @ompany’s functional currency are recognized esnaponent of other income (expense),
net. The Company recorded foreign exchange gaidglasses) of ($0.3 million), ($0.1million) and $00 for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid stugents with an original maturity of three montihdess at the date of purchase.
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Securities Available-for-Sale

Investments with an original maturity of more thlaree months when purchased have been classifiathbpgement as securities
available-for-sale. Such investments are carriddiavalue, with unrealized gains and losses idetlias a component of accumulated other
comprehensive gain (loss) in shareholders’ eq&alized gains and losses and declines in valigefitb be other-than-temporary (of which
there have been none to date) on available-forssalerities are included in interest income. Th& obinvestment securities classified as
available-for-sale is adjusted for amortizatioppgmiums and accretion of discounts to maturitichSamortization and accretion are included
in interest income. The cost of securities soldaised on the specific-identification method. ThenPany has classified all of its investment
securities available-for-sale, including those wataturities beyond one year, as current assetiseocansolidated balance sheets based on the
highly liquid nature of the investment securitiesidecause these investment securities are coedideailable for use in current operations.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ Bompany to concentration of credit risk, congigharily of cash and cash equivale
and investment securities classified as availabiesle. The Company maintains deposits in fedenadlured financial institutions in excess of
federally insured limits. Management believes thatCompany is not exposed to significant credk due to the financial position of the
depository institutions in which those depositstatl. Additionally, the Company has adopted amétment policy that includes guidelines
relative to credit quality, diversification of maities to preserve principal and liquidity.

Property and equipmel

Property and equipment are recorded at cost aneciaped using the straight-line method, basedeir estimated useful lives as
follows:

Asset classificatiol Estimated useful life (in years)

Equipment 35
Computer hardwar 3
Software 35
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of useful life or lease te
Furniture and fixture 5

Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed assithcur

The Company reviews its lorliyed assets for impairment whenever events or gbsin business circumstances indicate that thgicg
amount of assets may not be fully recoverable airttie useful lives of these assets are no lor@oariate. Each impairment test is based or
a comparison of the undiscounted cash flow to ¢étended value of the asset. If impairment is in@idathe asset will be written down to its
estimated fair value on a discounted cash flowshd3ie Company has not recognized any impairmasekthrough December 31, 2013.

Promissory note

Promissory notes are recognized initially at failue. Promissory notes are subsequently carriathattized cost; any difference betw:
the proceeds and the redemption value is recogmizéihed statement of operations and compreheneagedver the period of the notes payable
using the effective interest method.

The fair value of the promissory notes when isswit equity is recognized initially at the fair ved of similar promissory notes issuec
a standalone basis. The equity that is issuedbatrowings is valued at fair value using the Bl&ioles valuation model.

Revenue recognitic

The Company may enter into product developmentesgeats with collaborative partners for the researchdevelopment of products
for the treatment of urological diseases. The tavfrihe agreements may include nonrefundable sigaid licensing fees, milestone payment:
and royalties on any product sales derived frorfabolations. These multiple element arrangemesetsiaalyzed to determine whether the
deliverables can be separated or whether they beuatcounted for as a single unit of accountingehs$e fees are recognized as revenue whe
persuasive evidence of an arrangement existsethis fiixed or determinable, delivery or performahas substantially completed and
collection is reasonably assured.
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The Company recognizes up front license paymentsv@nue upon delivery of the license only if tieehse has stand-alone value to the
customer and if the agreement includes a gengfatl of return, the delivery or performance of uindaed items is considered probable and
within the control of the Company. The paymentdsgrally allocated to the separate units of acdéogitased on their relative selling
prices. The selling price of each deliverable iedained using vendor specific objective evidentceedling prices, if it exists; otherwise, third-
party evidence of selling prices. If neither vendpecific objective evidence nor third-party evide®xists, the Company uses lis'st estimat
of the selling price for each deliverable. The paptallocated is limited to the amount that is canttingent on the delivery of additional items
or fulfillment of other performance conditions.

Whenever the Company determines that an arrangeshentd be accounted for as a single unit of aciwognit must determine the
period over which the performance obligations Wwélperformed and revenue recognized. If the Companwgot reasonably estimate the tir
and the level of effort to complete its performanbégations under the arrangement, then revenderuihe arrangement is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the period the Comparexigected to complete its performance obligations.

The Company evaluates milestone payments on avidi@il basis and recognizes revenue from refandable milestone payments wi
the earnings process is complete and the paymesasenably assured. Non-refundable milestone patgnelated to arrangements under
which the Company has continuing performance obtiga are recognized as revenue upon achieveméne @ssociated milestone, provided
that (i) the milestone event is substantive anddtsevability was not reasonably assured at tbeption of the agreement and (ii) the amount
of the milestone payment is reasonable in relataihe effort expended or the risk associated thighmilestone event. Any amounts received
under agreements in advance of performance, if ddesubstantive, are recorded as deferred revertireaognized as revenue as the
Company completes its performance obligations. kestbne event is considered substantive if (i)nlilestone is commensurate with either
(a) the Company’s performance to achieve the naifesbr (b) the enhancement of the value of theveledd item(s) as a result of a specific
outcome resulting from the Company’s performancactuieve the milestone; (ii) it relates solely &spperformance and (iii) it is reasonable
relative to all of the deliverables and paymentie(including other potential milestone considertiwithin the arrangement. If any portion of
the milestone payment does not relate to the Coypaerformance, does not relate solely to pasiopmance or is refundable or adjustable
based on future performance, the milestone is masidered to be substantive. Milestone paymentaatrbifurcated into substantive and non-
substantive components. Payments related to thievarhent of non-substantive milestones is defearetirecognized over the Company’s
remaining performance period.

Royalty revenue will be recognized upon the salthefrelated products provided the Company hagmaining performance obligations
under the arrangement.

Research and development expel

Research and development costs are charged tosexperincurred. Research and development expemsgsise costs incurred in
performing research and development activitieduaing personnel-related costs, stock-based conagiens facilities, research-related
overhead, clinical trial costs, contracted serviceanufacturing, license fees and other externstiscdhe Company accounts for nonrefundabl
advance payments for goods and services that evilided in future research and development actwiseexpenses when the service has beel
performed or when the goods have been consumesr thgm when the payment is made.

Accrued research and development expe

Clinical trial costs are recorded as a componenéséarch and development expenses. The Compameaand expenses clinical trial
activities performed by third parties based updimeges of the percentage of work completed ovelita of the individual study in accordar
with agreements established with clinical researganizations and clinical trial sites. The Compédetermines the estimates through
discussions with internal clinical personnel antbexal service providers as to the progress oesthgompletion of trials or services and the
agreed-upon fee to be paid for such services baséacts and circumstances known to the Compaw§ @ach balance sheet date. However,
actual costs and timing of clinical trials are Highncertain, subject to risks and may change ddipgrupon a number of factors, including the
Company’s clinical development plan. The processstimating clinical trial costs may become mormptex as the Company’s ongoing and
planned Phase 3 clinical trials will involve largaembers of patients and clinical sites.

If the actual timing of the performance of servioeshe level of effort varies from the estimates Company will adjust the accrual
accordingly. Adjustments to prior period estimatase not been material.
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Examples of estimated accrued research and develdmRrpenses include:

. fees paid to clinical research organizations imeation with clinical studies

. fees paid to investigative sites in connection wilthical studies

. fees paid to vendors in connection with preclinb@avelopment activitie:

. fees paid to vendors associated with the developoferompanion diagnostics; a

. fees paid to vendors related to product manufaggudevelopment and distribution of clinical suppl

Nonrefundable advance payments for goods and ssrifat will be used or rendered in future reseanthdevelopment activities, are
recorded as a prepaid expense and recognized assein the period that the related goods are coedwr services are performed.

Stock-based compensation

The Company expenses the fair value of employax stptions over the vesting period. Compensatigrease is measured using the fai
value of the award at the grant date, net of eséichforfeitures, and is adjusted annually to reféemtual forfeitures. The fair value of each
stock-based award is estimated using the Blacki€sh@luation model and is expensed using gradextemation over the vesting period.

Compensation expense for performance-based avsedsimated using the Black-Scholes valuation madelis expensed using graded
vesting. Compensation expense for performance-tasadis reflects the estimated probability thatigégormance condition will be met.

The Company accounts for stock options grantedimemployees, which primarily consist of memberthef Company’s scientific
advisory board and consultants, using the fairevalpproach. Stock options granted to non-emplogeeesubject to revaluation each reporting
period over their vesting terms.

Historically the Company has issued its stock apstizvith a Canadian dollar denominated exercisepB8absequent to the Company’s
initial public offering on the NASDAQ Global Marketr NASDAQ, the Company has issued its stock agtiwith an U.S. dollar denominated
exercise price.

Effective November 13, 2013, the Company volunyatitlisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TSMbsequent to November 13,
2013, the Company'’s securities are being activealged on only the NASDAQ.

As a result of the delisting from the TSX and thamge in the Comparnyfunctional currency to the U.S. dollar, the stopkions grante
to U.S. based employees and directors with exeprises denominated in Canadian dollars are nowidered dual indexed as defined in ASC
718,Compensation, Stock Compensatids a result of the stock options being dual iretethe Company is required to account for thesek
options as a liability. Historically these optidmsd been accounted for as equity. As of NovembgP0B3, the Company calculated the initial
fair value of the vested awards of $163,000. Taisvalue was initially recorded as a deductiomfr@ontributed Surplus. At each reporting
period subsequent to November 13, 2013, the Comywédhadijust the fair value of the stock-based cemgation liability and any
corresponding increase or decrease to the stoddlmsnpensation liability will be recorded as ajusitinent to Contributed Surplus and/or
compensation expense on the consolidated statevheperations and comprehensive loss but in no wékthe amount of stock-based
compensation expense be less than the original deaa fair value of the stock options.

The estimated fair value is determined using trecBIScholes option-pricing model based on the egéthvalue of the underlying
common shares at the valuation measurement dategitiiaining service period of the stock optiorsk-free interest rates, expected dividends
and expected volatility of the price of the undarycommon shares. The fair value of the stock-thasenpensation liability was $202,000 at
December 31, 2013. As the calculated fair valuthefstock options at December 31, 2013 was lessthwaoriginal grant date fair value no
additional compensation expense was recorded todhsolidated statement of operations and compsdheioss. The change in the Stock-
Based Compensation Liability from November 13, 2@1Becember 31, 2013 of $39,000 was recorded asljaistment to Contributed
Surplus.
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Income taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet assdl liability method. Under this method, defdr@x assets and liabilities are
recognized for the estimated future tax consequeeattebutable to differences between financialesteent carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax basesebefl tax assets and liabilities are measured @siagted rates in effect for the year in which
these temporary differences are expected to beveeed or settled. Valuation allowances are provifidshsed on the weight of available
evidence, it is more likely than not that somelbofthe deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company provides reserves for potential paysnefitax to various tax authorities related to utede tax positions and other issues.
Reserves are based on a determination of whetken@m much of a tax benefit taken by the Compansitax filing is more likely than not 1
be realized following resolution of any potentiahtingencies present related to the tax benefterRial interest and penalties associated with
such uncertain tax positions are recorded as coergsrof income tax expense. To date, the Compasindistaken any uncertain tax positions
or recorded any reserves, interest or penalties.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are identified as componerds ehterprise about which separate discrete finhimformation is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-makeC@DM. The Companyg Chief Executive Officer serves as its CODM. Thmarpany view:
its operations and manages its business as oneeségperating primarily in the United States. ADeicember 31, 2013, all of the Company’s
assets were located in the United States of Amevittathe exception of $0.2 million of cash andttasjuivalents and $17,000 of other assets
which were located in Canada. All of the Compamygperty and equipment was located within the Uh&eates as of December 31, 2013.

Fair value of financial instrumen

The Company measures certain financial assetsalitities at fair value based on the exchangeepiti@t would be received for an asset
or paid for to transfer a liability (an exit pric@)the principal or most advantageous marketHerasset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants. The carrying amoufitseoCompany’s financial instruments, includingltand cash equivalents, investments
securities classified as available-for-sale aneants payable and accrued expenses, approximateafae due to their short maturities.

The Company follows ASC 820-10Fair Value Measurements and Disclosurewhich among other things, defines fair value,
establishes a consistent framework for measurimgy&ue and expands disclosure for each majort asekliability category measured at fair
value on either a recurring or nonrecurring bdsasr value is an exit price, representing the arhthat would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trandantbetween market participants. As such, fair gatua market-based measurement that should
be determined based on assumptions that markétiparits would use in pricing an asset or liabil&g a basis for considering such
assumptions, a three-tier fair value hierarchybeen established, which prioritizes the inputs usedeasuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted pricesfive markets for identical assets or liabilitiéstee measurement date.

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices incluiteldevel 1) are either directly or indirectly olpgable for the asset or liability through
correlation with market data at the measuremen dadl for the duration of the instrument’s antitépdife.

Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estirofitghat market participants would use in pricihg aisset or liability at the
measurement date. Consideration is given to tlkeanferent in the valuation technique and the indlerent in the inputs to the model.
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Correction of a Prior Period Misstatement

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynigantified an error in the consolidated statenwdrdash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The Company originally repottedoayment of $936,000 of deferred financing cfimtshe year ended December 31,
2012 which were originally reported as an operatiagh outflow. Upon further review the Company dateed that only $211,000 of the
originally reported $936,000 had been paid as afdbeber 31, 2012. The remaining $725,000 was indadea component of accounts pay
and accrued expenses as of December 31, 2012 butavactually paid as of December 31, 2012 anctbee should have been reflected as «
non-cash financing activity for the year ended Deloer 31, 2012. The consolidated statement of dasls ffor the year ended December 31,
2012 included herein has been revised to reflecCbmpany’s correction of this error. There wasmpact to the consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated statement of operations and compréreluss or consolidated statement of changesanestolders’ equity (deficit) as a result of
this revision. The error was not considered madtasithe previously issued consolidated financiateaments.

Recent accounting pronounceme

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-1Présentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit WhiletaOperating Loss
Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar®@/forward Exists’ (“ASU No. 2013-11"), which concludes that, undeost
circumstances, an unrecognized tax benefit shaailgrésented in the financial statements as a neduct a deferred tax asset for a net
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax lossadax credit carryforward. ASU No. 2013-11 will éective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2014. The Company does not anticipatetike adoption of this standard will have a matémpact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.

3. Netloss per common shar

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiggnet loss attributable to common shareholdethéyweighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period, witbhonsideration for common shares equivalents.tBdunet loss per share is computed by
dividing the net loss attributable to common shald¢rs by the weighted-average number of commorestguivalents outstanding for the
period determined using the treasury-stock metRodpurposes of this calculation, stock options wadants are considered to be common
share equivalents and are only included in theutation of diluted net loss per share when thediatfis dilutive.

The following table presents the computation ofidasd diluted net loss per share (in thousandseEbper share amounts):

For the Years ended December 3:

2013 2012 2011
Net loss per share
Net loss $(11,149 $(21,199) $(14,207)
Weightec-average common shar— basic and dilute: 8,02¢ 3,05¢ 2,34¢
Net loss per shar basic and diluted per she $ (1.39 $ (6.99 $ (6.0%)
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The following potentially dilutive securities halseen excluded from the computation of diluted weidghaverage shares outstanding as
of the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011e Company recorded a net loss in all perindstaerefore, they would be anti-
dilutive (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 3]

2013 2012 2011
Options to purchase common shares 1,362 241 191
Common share purchase warre 91¢ 91¢ 67¢

4. Securities Available-for-Sale

Securities available-for-sale consisted of theofelhg as of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value

Commercial paper $ 9,79¢ $— $— $ 9,79¢
U.S. government sponsored enterprise secu 17,001 2 4) 17,00t
Corporate debt securitis 6,50¢ 2 (D) 6,507
$ 33,31: $ 4 $ 5 $ 33,31(

The amortized cost and estimated fair value oQbmpany securities available-for-sale by contrdaneturity as of December 31, 2013
are shown below (in thousands):

December 31, 201.

Amortized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gain Loss Fair Value

Within one year $ 30,43( $ 2 $ (4) $ 30,42¢
After one yea 2,881 2 ) 2,88:
$ 33,31: $ 4 $(5 $ 33,31(

As of December 31, 2013, the Company performediaweof all of the securities in its portfolio wiln unrealized loss position to
determine if any other-than-temporary impairmengsenequired to be recorded. Factors considerdttiCompany’s assessment included, bt
were not limited to the following: the Company’sla and intent to hold the security until matyrithe number of months until the security’s
maturity, the number of quarters that each sechetybeen in an unrealized loss position, ratisggyaed to each security by independent
rating agencies, the magnitude of the unrealizesl tmpared to the face value of the security #mer anarket conditions. No other-than-
temporary impairments were identified as of Decen®tig 2013 related to securities currently in tlePany’s portfolio. The Company also
noted that none of the securities as of Decembge?@13 have been in an unrealized loss positiogfeater than one year.

5. Fair value measurement and financial instruments

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has $47.lomidif securities consisting of commercial pape.\government sponsored
enterprise securities and corporate debt secuvifitismaturities that range from 1 day to 15 montlith an overall average time to maturity of
4.5 months. The Company has the ability to liguedhese investments without restriction. The Comhetermines fair value for securities
with Level 1 inputs through quoted market pricese Tompany determines fair value for securitie wivel 2 inputs through broker or de:
guotations or alternative pricing sources with osable levels of price transparency. The Compabgigl 2 securities have been initially
valued at the transaction price and subsequeniiedaat the end of each reporting period, typycatilizing third party pricing services or
other market observable data. The pricing seruitéige industry standard valuation models, inchglboth income and market based
approaches and observable market inputs to detevaiine. These observable market inputs includertaiple trades, benchmark yields, credi
spreads, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, amer @tdustry and economic events. The Company’€L&inputs are unobservable inputs
based on the Company’s assessment that marketipantis would use in pricing the instruments.
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The following table presents the Company’s assetsdare measured at fair value on a recurring lzastf December 31, 2013 (in

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usin

thousands):
December 31, 201

Assets:
Money market fund $ 55
Commercial pape 23,57(

U.S. government sponsored enterprise

securities 17,00¢
Corporate debt securitis 6,507
Total financial asset $ 47,133

Quoted Prices ir Significant
Significant Unobservable
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable Inputs

Assets (Level 1 Inputs (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ 55 $ — $ —
— 23,57( —
— 17,00¢ —
— 6,507 —

$ 55 $ 47,08 $ —

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s warrant and stock-based compensatioiityalvhich is measured at fair
value on a recurring basis and indicates the tlirerhierarchy of the valuation techniques the Camgputilized to determine such fair value

thousands):

Liabilities:
Warrant liability
Stoclk-based compensation liabili

December 31, 201 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ 88: $— $— $ 88:c

202 — — 202
$ 1,08t $— $— $1,08¢

The Company did not have any assets or liabil@teBecember 31, 2012 which were measured at fhievan a recurring basis.

The Company calculates the fair value of the comsi@re warrants at each reporting date utiliziBlgak-Scholes pricing model. The

following inputs were utilized in the Black-Scholescing model at the initial recognition date bétwarrant liability, the date of the

Company’s U.S. IPO, and December 31, 2013.

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility

Dividend yield
Expected life in year

Initial
Recognitior December 31, 201
0.72% 0.62%
111.8¢% 115.0%
0.0(% 0.0(%
2.8¢ 2.51

The Company calculates the fair value of the stoeméed compensation liability at each reporting déitizing a Black-Scholes pricing

model. The following inputs were utilized in theaBk-Scholes pricing model at the initial recognititate of the stock-based compensation

liability, the date of the Company delisting frohetToronto Stock Exchange and December 31, 2013.

Risk-free interest rate
Volatility

Dividend yield
Expected life in year
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The following table presents a reconciliation & tharrant liability measured at fair value usingn#ficant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
from their initial recognition date to December 2013 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 201

Liabilities:
Balance at beginning of peria $ —
Calculation of initial warrant liability fair valu 1,572
Change in fair value of warrant liability includedother -

expens-/(income) (689
Balance at end of perio $ 88:<

The following table presents a reconciliation & iock-based compensation liability measurediav#ue using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) from their initiatognition date to December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 201

Liabilities:
Balance at beginning of peric $ —
Calculation of initial stoc-based compensation liability fair val 162
Change in fair value of stock-based compensatadility

recorded as an adjustment to contributed sul 39
Balance at end of perio $ 20z

There were no transfers of assets or liabilitiegvben the fair value measurement classifications.

6. Intangible assets
The Company held intangible assets that consigatents and technology rights relating to the HUMamd INXxin platforms.

In 2012 the Company decided to focus its futurestigyment efforts solely on PRX302 for the treatmefBPH and has provided written
notice to U.S. Public Health Services (“PHS") of thiompany'’s intention to terminate its license agrents with PHS which were being
utilized to develop the Company’s HUMxin and INx@thnology platforms. Due to the change in the ibgreent focus and the termination of
the license agreements the Company determined ihactelonger any economic value of the intangéseets associated with the HUMxin and
INxin platforms. Accordingly, included in researahd development expense for the year ended Dece3tib2012 is a $0.2 million write-off
associated with the impairment of these intangilsieets.

Amortization expense for the Company’s intangildseds was $0.1 million and $0.2 million for thengeended December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

7. Prepaid expense:
Prepaid expenses as of December 31, 2013 and 20%&ted of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Prepaid insurance $ 292 $ 90
Prepaid research and development expe 3,21¢ 32¢
Other prepaid expens 88 177

As of December 31, 2013, prepaid research and dewent expenses includes $2.7 million for upfremsfpaid to our primary clinical
research organization assisting with our on-goihgse 3 clinical trial. The upfront fees will beiegkd in future periods by offsetting future
invoices based upon work completed.
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8. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the followingl{ousands):

December 31

2013 2012

Equipment $ 7 $ 7
Computer hardware and softwz 44 42
Leasehold improvemen 15t 15t
Furniture and fixture 72 76
27¢ 28C
Less: accumulated depreciati (200 (1179
$ 78 $ 163

Depreciation expense was $84,000, $82,000 and ®d4q¢b the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@hd, respectively.

9. Accrued expense:

Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2013 and Dece8hp2012 consisted of the following (in thousgnd

December 31

2013 2012
Accrued personnel related costs $1,06: $ 75:
Accrued interes 50 93
Accrued research and development expe 713 1,06¢
Other accrued expens 35E 927

$2,181 $2,83¢
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10. Promissory notes

On July 15, 2011, the Company entered into a $1fomioan and Security Agreement, as amended“@hdord Loan”) with Oxford
Finance LLC (“Oxford”). Under the terms of the Oxdd_oan, the Company made interest only paymemtsifee months at a fixed rate of
9.5%. Beginning in June 2012, the note began ta@maeovith principal and interest payments due tigtothe remaining term of the loan. On
July 31, 2013, the Company and Oxford enteredardecond amendment to the Oxford Loan which awtédrihe Company to make an
interest only payment on August 1, 2013 on thetanting balance. The Company resumed making pahaipd interest payments on
September 1, 2013 in accordance with the termiseo$écond amendment. The maturity date and theestate remain unchanged. In
addition, no principal was extinguished in connattith the second amendment. The loan term, imefuishterest only period, is 39 months;
however, it can be prepaid subject to certain @iows and prepayment fees. Upon final repaymetiteoOxford Loan on the maturity date, by
prepayment, or upon acceleration of the Oxford L.¢lam Company also must make an additional finphpnt of $0.8 million, which is being
accreted over the term of the loan.

If the loan is prepaid, the following amounts avedall outstanding principal plus all accrued iie and unpaid interest, the final
payment of $0.8 million, a prepayment fee and ahgiosums due under the Oxford Loan, includingaterdf Oxford’s expenses, as well as
interest at the default rate for any past due artsodine prepayment fee is set at 1% of the outstgmatincipal being prepaid if the loan is
prepaid after July 2013. The Company’s Oxford Loantains certain affirmative and negative covenantduding prohibiting the Company
from paying dividends without the prior written gamt of Oxford. The Company was in compliance Withcovenants included in the Oxford
Loan at December 31, 2013.

To secure the Company'’s repayment obligations utide©xford Loan, Oxford obtained a first prior@igcurity interest in all of the
Company'’s assets, including intellectual property all of the Company’s equity interest in SophBie Corp and Sophiris Holding Corp.

The roll forward of the secured promissory noteakulated as follows (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 20 $14,70:
Accretion of debt discour 50¢
Principal paic (3,190
Balance at December 31, 20 12,02:
Accretion of debt discour 38C
Principal paic (5,529
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 6,871

The Oxford loan has an interest rate of 9.50% paum. The following table shows actual interestesmged and amortization of the debt
discount that was charged to interest expensédinsands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Simple interest $ 84C $ 1,32¢ $ 661
Accretion of debt discout 38C 50¢ 221
Amortization of promissory notes issuance ci 10¢ 15E 69

$ 1,32¢ $ 1,98¢ $ 951

The promissory notes will mature in November of 2@dth total payments due in 2014 of $7.3 millioeluding the final payment of
$0.8 million due upon repayment of the loan.

The Company calculated the fair value of the setpremissory notes as $6.0 million (Level 3) aBetember 31, 2013. The fair value
of long-term debt is based on the net present v@flgalculated interest and principal paymentsigisin interest rate of 11%, provided by the
Companys lender, which takes into consideration the fimarmosition of the Company, the assessed cretiitgy@f the Company by the lenc
and the interest rate environment at December@113.2As part of this fair value assessment the Gomalso confirmed with its lender an
appropriate warrant coverage of 6% associated tvetlpromissory notes. The fair value of this eqadymponent was derived using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. The Company calculateghtbmissory notes’ fair value by allocating to d@gwnd the debt based on their respective
fair values.
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11. Shareholder¢ equity
Authorized

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hhahited shares of no par common shares authorilegre were 16.1 million and
3.1 million common shares issued and outstandiraf Becember 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Initial Public Offering

On August 23, 2013, the Company completed a U.Bligaffering whereby the Company issued 13,000,88®mon shares at a price
$5.00 per share. The Company received $57.0 milliehof underwriters’ discounts commissions arfdrofg cost.

Shares reserved for future issuance
The shares reserved for future issuance as of Deeredd, 2013, 2012 and 2011 consisted of the fatigWin thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Common share purchase warrants 91¢ 91¢ 67¢
Stock options

Granted and outstandi 1,36: 241 191

Reserved for future gran 253 74 33

2,53¢ 1,23¢ 903

12. Common share purchase warrants
At January 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 there 949®00 common share purchase warrants outstaatimgeighted average
exercise price of CND$ 27.07.

The following table summarizes the expiration ddéteshe Company’s outstanding common share puechasrants as of December 31,
2013 (in thousands):

Number of

warrants

outstanding Expiration date
28¢ November 19, 201
12¢ March 16, 201!

27 July 15, 201¢

24C December 28, 20:
24C March 28, 201"
91¢

The Company has recorded a $0.9 million liabilitypacember 31, 2013 associated with the fair vafuee Company’s common share
purchase warrants. See Note 2 and Note 5.

85



Table of Contents

13. Stock-based compensation pla
Equity awards

The Company’s Amended and Restated 2011 Stock @plim (the “Plan”) provides for the granting otiops for the purchase of
common shares of the Company at the fair value@fdompany’s common shares on the date of therogtent. Options are granted to
employees, directors and non-employees. The bdatiextors or a committee appointed by the boddirectors administers the Plan and ha:
discretion as to the number, vesting period andrgxiate of each option award. Historically the Gmamy granted options to residents of the
United States with an exercise price denominatétiinadian dollars, the functional currency of SaptBio Inc. Inc. prior to the Company’s
U.S. initial public offering. Following the CompasyJ.S. initial public offering the Company will @it options with an exercise price
denominated in U.S. dollars

The Plan is based on a cumulative percentage adngpissuable up to 10% of the Company’s outstapdommon shares. As of
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, there were 282742001 and 32,624 shares, respectively, avaitadbe issued under the Plan.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coyniganed options to purchase 1,157,079 common shaagpectively, to its
directors and employees. These options generadityoxer a three year period for employees and aware year period for directors. The
maximum contractual period for the granted optisrfsve years.

No options to purchase common shares were grantedrt-employees during the years ended Decemb@032,and 2011. During the
year ended December 31, 2013 the Company issuemhspid purchase 28,346 common shares t-employees. In connection with options
granted to non-employees, the Company recognizgense of $30,000 for the year ended December 3B, 28spectively. The Company
accounts for stock options granted to non-employsés) the fair value approach. Stock options gmd non-employees are subject to
revaluation at each reporting period over theitingsterms.

The Company recognized stock-based compensati@megps follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Research and development $ 311 $ 14¢ $ 317
General and administrati 863 52¢ 59¢
Total $ 1,17« $ 67€ $ 91f

As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, there ®as$illion, $0.8 million and $0.7 million, respeatly, of total unrecognized
compensation costs related to na@sted stock awards. As of December 31, 2013, 2082011, the Company expects to recognize thcds
over weighted average periods of approximatelyygats, 1.5 years and 1.6 years, respectively.

The fair values of options granted during the yavated December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were estimathe date of grant using the
following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Expected Life of the Option Term (years) 3.¢ 3.6 4.t
Risk-free interest rat 0.€% 1.2% 1.€%
Dividend rate 0% 0% 0%
Volatility 83.8% 73.% 74.%
Forfeiture rate 8.1% 9.C% 8.7%

Expected Life of the Option Ternilhis is the period of time that the options gearire expected to remain unexercised. Optiongegtan
have a maximum contractual term of five years. Thenpany estimates the expected life of the opgom thbased on actual past behavior for

similar options.

Risk-Free Interest Rate This is the Canadian or the United States Trgasiies, as applicable, for the week of each omramt during
the year having a term that most closely resenthiegxpected life of the option.
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Dividend Rate The Company has never declared or paid dividend®omimon shares and has no plans to do so in taedeable future.

Volatility — Volatility is a measure of the amount by whicfinancial variable such as a share price has fatetlior is expected to
fluctuate during a period. The Company considenedhistorical volatility from its Canadian initipliblic offering through the dates of grants.

Forfeiture Rate- Forfeitures are estimated at the time of gradtranised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstifah forfeitures differ
from those estimates. The Company assesses tle@dogfrate on an annual basis and revises theviata deemed necessary.

The following table summarizes stock option acgivihcluding options issued to employees, directord non-employees (in thousands,
except per share and contractual term data):

Weighted Weighted averag:
Aggregate
average remaining
Options exercise contractual term intrinsic

outstanding price Currency (in years) value
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 137 $ 32.2¢ CND 2.¢ $ 844
Options grante: 79 27.04 CND
Options expire( @ 27.0¢ CND
Options exercise (11) 27.0¢ CND
Options forfeitec (13 32.2¢ CND
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 191 $ 30.1¢ CND 3.2 $ —
Options grante: 102 16.12 CND
Options expire( (29) 37.4¢ CND
Options forfeitec (23 25.4¢ CND
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 241 $ 23.92 CND 3.k $ —
Options grante: 71 13.0C CND
Options grante: 1,11¢ 4.41 us
Options expire( (14) 41.02 CND
Options forfeitec (50 27.8: CND
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,362 $ 7.1C us 4.5 $ —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ! 1,22¢ $ 7.0% us 4.t $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 111 $ 20.7¢ us 2.C $ —

The total amounts for options outstanding, vestegkpected to vest, and exercisable at Decembe2@®3 include options with exercise
prices denominated in Canadian dollars and U.SaBoand the Canadian dollar amounts have beeredmavto U.S. dollars for purposes of
the calculation.

The weighted average fair value of options grauietihg the years ended December 31, 2013, 20122@ht was approximately $2.86,
$8.84, and $16.30, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated aslifference between the exercise price of the stmtlons and the fair value of the
underlying common shares converted to U.S. do#larsf the respective balance sheet date. The Congediites employee stock option
exercises with newly issued common shares.

Liability awards

Historically we have issued our stock options vet@anadian dollar denominated exercise price. Suigse to our initial public offering
on the NASDAQ Global Market, or NASDAQ, we haveuied our stock options with an U.S. dollar denongdagxercise price.

Effective November 13, 2013, we voluntarily deliésfeom the Toronto Stock Exchange, or TSX. SubsetteNovember 13, 2013, our
securities are being actively traded on only theSRAQ.
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As a result of the delisting from the TSX and thamge in the our functional currency to the U.Slaglostock options granted to U.S.
based employees and directors with exercise pdereminated in Canadian dollars are now considéuatlindexed as defined in ASC 718,
Compensation, Stock Compensatids a result of the stock options being dual iretkwe are required to account for these stock optEs a
liability. Historically these options had been agoted for as equity. As of November 13, 2013,-aditdelisting, we calculated the initial fair
value of the vested awards of $163,000. This faiue was initially recorded as a deduction from @ibated Surplus. At each reporting period
subsequent to November 13, 2013, the Company djilisathe fair value of the stock-based compensdidtbility and any corresponding
increase or decrease to the stock-based compemsiabdity will be recorded as an adjustment ton@dbuted Surplus and/or compensation
expense on the consolidated statement of operaimhgomprehensive loss but in no case will thewarhof stock-based compensation
expense be less than the original grant date &hirevof the stock options.

The estimated fair value is determined using theeBIScholes option-pricing model based on theviaiue of the underlying common
shares at the valuation measurement date, thememgaervice period of the stock options, risk-fireterest rates, expected dividends and
expected volatility of the price of the underlyiogmmon shares. The fair value of the stock-basetpeasation liability was $202,000 and at
December 31, 2013. As the calculated fair valuthefstock options at December 31, 2013 was |lessthwaoriginal grant date fair value no
additional compensation expense was recorded todhsolidated statement of operations and compsdheioss. The change in the Stock-
Based Compensation Liability from November 13, 2@1Becember 31, 2013 of $39,000 was recorded asljaistment to Contributed
Surplus.

The following inputs were utilized in the Black-Sd#s pricing model at the initial recognition dafehe stock-based compensation
liability, the date of the Company delisting frohetToronto Stock Exchange and December 31, 2013.

Initial
Recognitior December 31, 201
Risk-free interest rate 0.84% 1.0(%
Volatility 79.97% 94.52%
Dividend yield 0.0(% 0.0(%
Expected life in year 3.5¢ 3.4z

14. License agreement
Kissei Agreement

In April 2010, the Company entered into an exclasizense agreement for the development and conatization of PRX302 (and oth
products covered by the licensed patent). The aggaewith Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a Japampharmaceutical company, (“Kissei")
covers the development and commercialization of 882xn Japan for the treatment of the symptomsRifiBorostate cancer, prostatitis or
other diseases of the prostate. Pursuant to tleeemmgmt in 2010, the Company received an upfroebée payment of $3.0 million. The
Company has determined that the deliverables uh@eagreement included the license, the trandfezlevant technical information and
participation in a periodic development meetinge Tompany recognized the entire upfront licensergeny upon receipt as the license was
deemed to have stand-alone value and no signifigaaelivered performance obligations were iderdifie connection with the license.

The agreement also notes that the Company shallysKssei with bulk material under a separate sypgreement for use in future
clinical studies and, if approved, for commercalkes. The license agreement also notes that €tmpany is unwilling or unable to supply
Kissei with the necessary bulk material that Kisgiflihave the option to manufacture the bulk matehemselves or they can outsource the
manufacturing to a third party. To date the Compamng Kissei have not signed a supply agreement.

The agreement also provides that the Company Baed full responsibility, including financial regmibility, for filing, prosecuting and
maintaining all of the patents in Japan duringtéren of the agreement. The filing of patents isdministrative and perfunctory deliverable.
The associated costs are immaterial. The prosecatid maintenance of patents is not considerechdelivered performance obligation.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynganorded as revenue a $5.0 million non-refundablestantive milestone
payment due from Kissei upon the achievement dhtedevelopment activities during the year endedddnber 31, 2013, as such milestone
had been achieved during this period. In accordanitethe Company’s revenue recognition policy, @@mpany recognizes the receipt of
milestone payments in accordance with the milestoethod in the period in which the underlying tegag event occurs. The Company
received payment for the milestone in April 2013.
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In addition to the upfront license payment and&6& million milestone payment recognized as reeetfwring the year ended
December 31, 2013, the Company is entitled to vecep to $67.0 million of non-refundable milestqrayments as follows: a total of $12.0
million for the BPH indication, of which $7.0 mitih relates to the completion of regulatory appreadd $5.0 million relates to the
achievement of certain product sale goals; a tft821.0 million for the prostate cancer indicatiohwhich $7.0 million relates to the
completion of certain development activities, $million relates to the completion of regulatory epyals and $7.0 million relates to the
achievement of certain product sale goals; andah o $21.0 million for prostatitis or other dises of the prostate, of which $7.0 million
relates to the completion of certain developmetividies, $7.0 million relates to the completionrefyulatory approvals and $7.0 million rela
to the achievement of certain product sale goatsadditional $13.0 million of aggregate milestorgments are not indication specific, of
which $5.0 million relates to the completion of uéagory approvals and $8.0 million relates to thkiavement of certain product sale goals.

Management evaluated the nature of the eventsetiiggthese additional milestone payments, andladed that these events fall into
two categories: (a) events which involve the penfance of the Comparg/obligations under the Kissei license agreemert,(h) events whic
do not involve the performance of the Company’sgattions under the Kissei license agreement.

Milestone payments which involve the performancéhefCompany’s obligations include activities rethto the completion of
development activities and regulatory approvalh@United States. Management concluded that efatiese payments constitutes a
substantive milestone. This conclusion was basieagpity on the facts that (i) each triggering evespiresents a specific outcome that can be
achieved only through successful performance byCih@pany of one or more of its deliverables, (@hi@avement of each triggering event was
subject to inherent risk and was not reasonablyradsat the inception of the agreement, (iii) eaicthese milestones is non-refundable,

(iv) substantial effort is required to complete leatlestone, (v) the amount of each milestone panprisereasonable in relation to the value
created in achieving the milestone, (vi) a sub&hamount of time is expected to pass betweemphiont payment and the potential
milestone payments, and (vii) the milestone paymsegiaite solely to past performance. Based ondtegjbing, the Company recognizes any
revenue from these milestone payments under thestaile method in the period in which the underlyriggering event occurs.

Milestone payments which do not involve the perfance of the Compang’obligations include the completion of developneetivities,
regulatory approvals and certain product sale goalapan, all of which are areas in which the Canyphas no pertinent contractual
responsibilities under the agreement. Managemenrdleded that these milestones are not substantidevél be recognized in accordance w
the Company'’s accounting policy for revenue rectigni The following table breaks down the remainimgpaid milestone payments by
indication or, in the case of milestones not asgediwith a specific indication, by triggering eteeand by involvement of the Company:

Milestone Payments Milestone Payments Nc
Involving Performance
Involving Performance

of Company of Company
Obligations Obligations
Milestones by Indication
BPH — $ 12 million
Prostate cance — $ 21 million
Prostatitis and other diseases of the
prostate — $ 21 million
Milestones Not Associated with al
Indication
Gross sale targe — $ 8 million
Regulatory approval $ 5 million —

The Company may also receive a drug supply feenaisg the Company supplies material to Kissei, mnyélty payments in the 20-29%
range as a percentage of future net sales of kcepsoducts sold under the agreement.

Kissei is not currently studying PRX302 for theatiraent of prostate cancer, prostatitis or othezaties of the prostate. In addition, Kis
has the option to sublicense the development amar&rcialization for PRX302 in their territory.
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PRX302 license agreement for Benign Prostate Hyasiao

In 2009, the Company signed an exclusive licenseeagent with UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc. (“UV)@nd The Johns Hopkins
University (“Johns Hopkins”) with respect to theeusf PRX302 for the treatment of the symptoms aiidgpe prostate hyperplasia and other nor
cancer diseases and conditions of the prostateliddrese agreement requires the Company to makagag of CND$1.3 million in the
aggregate on the achievement of certain clinicdlragulatory milestones and to pay royalties onroencial sales of resulting products. To the
extent the Company receives any milestone paymelatsng to the development of therapeutics forttbatment of the symptoms of BPH
under its exclusive license agreement with Kiskei,Company is obligated to pay a percentage df sansideration, which percentage is in
the 10-19% range, to UVIC and Johns Hopkins; howguarsuant to a separate agreement which the Qoygrdered into in 2003 with Dr. J.
Thomas Buckley, one of the Company’s foundersatigregate amount of such consideration payablaéoZompany to UVIC and Johns
Hopkins is reduced by 25% .

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynggpensed a $0.1 million milestone payment duesutite agreement upon the
completion of the Company’s last Phase 2b clintical prior to commencing a Phase 3 clinical triethe Company paid this milestone upon the
enrollment of the Company’s first patient in a Rha<linical trial for the treatment of the sympwof BPH. This amount was expensed to
research and development expense. In additiorConepany accrued a sub-license royalty of $0.4 omilpayable under the agreement
associated with the Company’s $5.0 million milegtgayment from Kissei. The Company paid this amduning April 2013. This amount
was recorded as a component of research and develi@xpense.

From the inception of the agreement, the Compansyitmurred sub-license fees of $0.6 million andestibne payments of $0.1 million
under this agreement.
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15. Income taxes

The $5.0 million milestone payment from Kissei vgabject to a 10% Japanese withholding tax. As @dtrehe Company recorded
income tax expense of $0.5 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2013. The Company will be eligiblatilize the withholding tax to offset
future taxes due in Canada. Given the uncertairatyral the Company’s ability to generate future bdancome, the Company has expensed
the withholding tax during the year ended Decen®iei2013.

The component of the loss before provision for medaxes were as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012
United States $ (1,427 $ (1,189
Canade (9,227 (20,009

$ (10649 $ (21,199

The components of the provision for income taxemfrontinuing operations is as follows (in thousgnd

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012
Current Tax:
Canads $ 50C $ —
us — —
State — —
$ 50C $ —
Deferred Tax
Canads $ — $ —
us — —
State — —
$ 50C $ —

A reconciliation of income taxes to the amount cated by applying the statutory federal income e to the net loss is as follows (in
thousands, except income tax rates):

For the Years Ended December 3]

2013 2012

Combined federal and provincial income tax rates 25.7"% 25.0%
Income tax benefit at statutory ra $ (2,74 $ (5,299
State income tax, net of federal ben (67) (46)
Permanent item 12¢ 80
Tax credits (681) (82)
Non-deductible stoc-based compensatic 91 132
Foreign withholding ta: 50C —
Expired NOLs 12C —
Rate differentia (11¢) (207)
Rate chang (739) —
Other (62) (36)
Revaluation of warrant liabilit (17€) —
Change in valuation allowan 4,24: 5,35
Income tax expens $ 50C $ —
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredaissets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are dtwloav (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwards (1-capital losses $17,97¢ $ 15,61¢
Scientific research and developm 2,49¢ 2,57¢
Tax credits 3,64¢ 2,65t
Stock based compensati 602 241
Other, ne 862 92C
Share issue cos 1,72¢ 19€
Total deferred tax assets, net, before valuatilmvaince 27,30 22,20¢
Valuation allowanct (27,307 (22,20¢)
Net deferred tax asse $ $

Due to the operating losses since inception, aat@u allowance has been recognized to offset efetrced assets as realization of such
deferred tax assets is not more likely than notimuthe years ended December 31, 2013 and 204 Zatlmation allowance on the deferred tax
assets increased by $5.1 million and $5.8 milliespectively.

At December 31, 2013, the Company has tax lossgadome tax purposes in Canada and in the UnitattSwhich may be used to
reduce taxable income. The income tax benefinhyf af these losses has not been recorded due wnttertainty of its recovery. Based upon
statute, losses are expected to expire as followhgusands):

Expiration date Canada U.S. Federa Total
2014 $ 1,251 $ — $ 1,251
2015 3,39¢ — 3,39¢
2026 3,36¢ — 3,36¢
2027 4,977 — 4,977
2028 5,66: — 5,66:
2029 4,51: — 4,51¢
2030 4,09¢ — 4,09¢
2031 12,16: — 12,16:
2032 18,27¢ — 18,27¢
2033 10,82( 39:¢ 11,21
$68,52; $ 30 $68,91+

In addition, the Company has $0.4 million of U.tits net operating loss carryforwards which begiexpire in 2033.
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At December 31, 2013, the Company had investmeartredits in Canada and research and developmentedits in the United States
that expire as follows (in thousands).

Expiration date Canada U.S. Federa Total

2015 $ 30 $ — $ 30
2016 79 — 79
2017 13¢ — 13¢
2018 19¢ — 19¢
2019 19z — 19z
2020 40 — 40
2021 9 — 9
2023 33 — 33
2024 111 — 111
2025 23t — 23t
2026 227 — 227
2027 354 — 354
2028 444 — 444
2029 562 — 562
2030 17¢ — 17¢
2031 26 62 88
2032 — 33t 33t
2033 — 24¢ 24¢

$2,85¢ $ 64¢€ $3,501

In addition, the Company has $0.3 million of Caiifia research and development tax credits whicty ¢arward indefinitely as well as
foreign tax credits in Canada of $0.5 million thagin to expire in 2023.

The Company’s Canadian tax years are subject peat®n from 2008 forward. The Company’s Unitedt&td-ederal and California
2011 tax returns are subject to examination byntagiuthorities.

The future utilization of the Company’s research davelopment credit carry forwards and net opegdtiss carry forwards to offset
future taxable income may be subject to an annmmitidtion as a result of ownership changes that hese occurred previously or may occu
the future. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Aclithits a company’s ability to utilize certain taredit carry forwards and net operating loss
carry forwards in the event of a cumulative chaimgawnerships in excess of 50% as defined in thie Ac

The Company recognizes interest and/or penaltlatertto income tax matters in income tax expelReethe years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, we have not recognized any intergstnalties related to income taxes.

In 2011, the Company adopted the recognition angsomement principals under ASC740ntome Taxe$ (ASC740) regarding the
recognition of tax benefits. In accordance with A8Q, tax benefits are only recognized when a mosis more likely than not of being
sustained. Tax benefits are then measured usingalative benefit approach whereby the largest arhotitax benefit that is more likely than
not of being sustained is recognized. The Compasyno unrecognized benefits recorded as of Dece®ih@013 and 2012.

The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was endatéo law on January 2, 2013. The change in tax Vehich reinstated the United
States federal research and development tax eegdbactively from January 1, 2012 through Decen®ier2013. The retroactive impact
related to 2012 was treated as a discrete taxdtemg the first quarter of 2013.

16. Commitments and contingencies
Operating leases

The Company leases a facility, comprising the Camfsaheadquarters, located in San Diego, Califoumider a non-cancelable lease.
During September 2013, the Company exercised tsiedi two 3-year lease extensions on its headgrgin San Diego, California. As a result
of this extension, the expiration date for the Camps headquarters was extended from May 2014 tp 2047. The rent on the Company’s
headquarters is currently $12,740 per month.
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Total rent expense under operating leases wasdillidn, $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the yeanded December 31, 2013, 2012 an
2011, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgdadeating leases at December 31, 2013 are as ®lliovthousands):

Future rent payments

2014 $ 141
2015 117
2016 117
2017 49
Total $ 424

License agreements

The Company has license agreements with thirdgsattiat require the Company to make annual liceraetenance payments and
contingent future payments upon the success afdeg products that include milestone and/or rag&ltMinimum future payments over the
next five years are not material.

Purchase commitments

The Company is required to schedule its manufagjuactivities in advance. If the Company cancels@rthese scheduled activities
without proper notice the Company would be requiteday penalties equal to the cost of the oridyredheduled activity. The Company
estimates that the cost of these penalties woultppeoximately $1.8 million at December 31, 2018hédé Company cancels the scheduled
activities. The amounts recorded under this manufexg contract included in research and develogmes $2.8 million, $4.5 million and
$1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2@032 and 2011, respectively.

17. 401(k) Plan

Effective July 2012, the Company established ardedecompensation plan (the “401(k) Plan”) pursuarection 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 where by all employees, sutgjeertain age requirement can contribute pretamings to the plan. The Company
makes safe harbor contributions to the 401(k) Bfato 4% of eligible compensation, subject to latiins under the Code. The Company’s
total contributions to the 401(k) Plan were $0.1lion for each of the years ended December 31, 20132012.

18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited

2013 March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
(in thousands, except per share datz

Revenue: $ 5,00( $ — $ — $ —

Net loss $ (119 $(2,647) $ (2,959 $ (5,439

Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (0.09 $ (0.89) $ (-32) $ (0.39

2012 March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
(in thousands, except per share datz

Revenue: $ — $ — $ — $ —

Net loss $ (4,537) $(5,69€) $ (5,630 $ (5,330

Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ (1.69 $ (1.87) $ (1.79 $ (1.69)

Revenues and net income are rounded to thousanokdgjearter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly@amt®may not equal the annual
amounts reported. Net income per common share; badi diluted, are computed independently for eprter and the full year based upon
respective average shares outstanding. Theref@eum of the quarterly net income per common sha@unts may not equal the annual
amounts reported.
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19. Subsequent Eventt

On January 31, 2014, the Company and Warburg Piaduate Equity X, L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Paidh&.P. entered into an
Omnibus Amendment to Common Shares Purchase Wanelated to Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, LsRnd Warburg Pincus X
Partners, L.P.’s outstanding common share purchasents. On February 14, 2014, Sophiris Bio Ifthe( Company”) and Oxford Finance
LLC entered into an Omnibus Amendment to Warramt8urchase Common Shares related to Oxford Finao€é&s outstanding common
share purchase warrants. These agreements pravitteeffollowing:

(i) the amendment of the exercise price and nurabshares underlying each of the outstanding comshaine purchase warrants to reflect
the 5:-for-1 share consolidation effected by the Company oguau9, 2013; an

(i) the amendment of the existing exercise pritecl is denominated in Canadian dollars to be tedtato U.S. dollars. The agreement
stipulates that the conversion of the exerciseepsiitl be completed utilizing the exchange ratefifect on the date of the issuance of ¢
warrant.

No new common share purchase warrants were issuedesult of the execution of this agreement.

As a result of the amendment of the exercise frara Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars the Compaityne longer be required revalue
the fair value of these warrants subsequent to #mendment. The Company expects to calculateathgdlue of these warrants on the date of
their amendment. The change in the fair value fBnember 31, 2013 to the amendment date will Hadled in our statement of operations
and comprehensive loss.

The Company will continue to revalue approximatels, 000 warrants which continue to have exercisprdenominated in Canadian
dollars at each future reporting date.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

On January 10, 2013, with the approval of the acmlitmittee of our board of directors, we engageéceRaterhouseCoopers LLP (U.S),
or PwC U.S., as our new independent registeredgabtounting firm. During the period January 112@hrough January 10, 2013, neither
nor anyone on our behalf consulted PwC U.S. reggréither (1) the application of accounting prihegto a specified transaction, either
completed or proposed, or the type of audit opintit might be rendered on our consolidated firs@rstatements, or (2) any matter that was :
disagreement, as that term is defined in Item 30%)@v) of Regulation S-K, or a reportable evead,that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v)
of Regulation S-K. PwC U.S. has reported on ousobdated financial statements for the fiscal yaaded December 31, 2012.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdtetlesigned to ensure that information requindsktdisclosed in our periodic and
current reports that we file with the SEC is reeatdporocessed, summarized and reported withirinfeferiods specified in the SEC's rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulateticommunicated to our management, includinghiaf executive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timelgcisions regarding required disclosure. In desigaind evaluating the disclosure controls anc
procedures, management recognized that any comindiprocedures, no matter how well designed ardatgd, can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance of achieving the desinetrol objectives. In reaching a reasonable lef@lssurance, management necessarily we
required to apply its judgment in evaluating thetdmenefit relationship of possible controls anogedures. In addition, the design of any
system of controls also is based in part upon icegissumptions about the likelihood of future eseahd there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goaldeu all potential future conditions; over timentrol may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliavite policies or procedures may deteriorate. Beeafshe inherent limitations in a cost-
effective control system, misstatements due tarenrdraud may occur and not be detected.

As of December 31, 2013, we carried out an evalnatinder the supervision and with the participatibour management, including ¢
chief executive officer and chief financial officerf the effectiveness of the design and operaifaur disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act. Based on this evaluation, our chietative officer and chief financial
officer concluded that our disclosure controls pracedures were effective at the reasonable as=itavel as of December 31, 2013.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeport of management’s assessment regarding ittsongol over financial
reporting due to a transition period establishedhgyrules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in management’s exalon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d)
or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quagteted December 31, 2013 that materially affeciedre reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repaodgi

Iltem 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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Part IIl.

Certain information required by Part IIl of this Aumal Report on Form 10-K is omitted from this ragmecause the registrant will file a
definitive Proxy Statement within 120 days aftex &nd of its fiscal year pursuant to Regulation fdits 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held within 180 days of Decen3ier2013, referred to as the Proxy Statementttaméhformation included therein is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this item is incorpehby reference to the Proxy Statement under ttt@ss entitled “Election of
Directors” “Executive Officers” and “Section 16@gneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

We have adopted a code of ethics for directorsgcer (including our principal executive officerjnipal financial officer and principal
accounting officer) and employees, known as theeGddusiness Conduct and Ethics. The Code of Bgsi€onduct and Ethics is available
on our website at http://www.sophiris.camder the Corporate Governance section of our tovélations page. We will promptly disclose
our website (i) the nature of any amendment tootiliey that applies to our principal executive offi, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons pariorg similar functions and (ii) the nature of angiver, including an implicit waiver, from a
provision of the policy that is granted to oneludge specified individuals that is required to iseldsed pursuant to SEC rules and regulation:s
the name of such person who is granted the waive:ttze date of the waiver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorp@herein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the
sections entitled “Executive Compensation,” “Comgaion Committee Report” and “Compensation Commibteerlocks and Insider
Participation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the
sections entitled “Security Ownership of CertaimBicial Owners and Management” and “Securitieshauted for Issuance under Equity
Compensation Plans.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the
sections entitled “Election of Directors” and “Cart Relationships and Related Transactions.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorp@dherein by reference to the information fromPhexy Statement under the
section entitled “Principal Accountant Fees andvises.”
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Part IV.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

1. Financial Statement§Ve have filed the following documents as part @f thnnual Report:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfingn
Balance Shee!

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive
Statements of Sharehold’ Equity (Deficit)

Statements of Cash Floy

Notes to Financial Statemer

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

Page
64

6€
67
68
71
73

All schedules are omitted because they are notcaipé or the required information is shown in Bieancial Statements or notes ther

(b) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or amporated by reference into, this report:

Exhibit
number Description of Exhibit Incorporated by Reference or Attached Heretc
3.1 Certificate of Amalgamation of the Company, dataduary 1, Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
2005 File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!
3.2 Notice of Articles of the Compar Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

3.3 Articles of the Company Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

4.1 Form of Common Share Certificate Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. theo
Registrant’s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 333-18672&)dfon
July 15, 2013

4.2 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant issued inexbion Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
with the Compan’s March 2010 Private Placem File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

4.3 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued imemion Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s FSrin(SEC
with the initial closing pursuant to our Investmémgreement by File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
and between the Company, Warburg Pincus PrivatéyExu
L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Partners, L.P., datedeBelper 28,

2010.

4.4 Form of Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued imemion Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
with the subsequent closings pursuant to our Imvest File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Agreement by and between the Company, Warburg Bincu
Private Equity X, L.P. and Warburg Pincus X Parsné&cP.,
dated September 28, 20:

4.5 Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&&na Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC
LLC File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

4.6 Common Share Purchase Warrant Issued to Oxforch&&na Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
LLC File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement by and between thagzmy, Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No.theo
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. and WarbuircBs X Registrant’s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 333-18672k)dfon
Partners, L.P., dated November 19, 2 August 2, 2013

10.1 Amended and Restated 2011 Stock Option Plan Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC

10.2+ Form of Option Certificate

File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC
File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!
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Exhibit

number Description of Exhibit Incorporated by Reference or Attached Heretc

10.3 Investment Letter Agreement by and between the Gomyp Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and Oxford Finance LLC, dated July 15, 2( File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.4+ Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between th Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Company and each of its directt File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.5+ Employment Agreement between Sophiris Bio Corp. and Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Alexander Casdin, dated October 10, 2 File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.6+ Separation Letter Agreement by and between the @aynp Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and Alexander Casdin, dated October 22, 2 File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.7+ Employment Agreement by and between Sophiris BippCo Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and Allison Hulme, Ph.D., dated March 31, 2( File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.8+ Employment Agreement between Sophiris Bio Corp. and Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Randall E. Woods, dated August 16, 2( File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.9+ Employment Agreement between Sophiris Bio Corp. Retk! Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Slover, dated March 19, 20: File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.10° Exclusive License Agreement effective Septembe2804 by Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and among UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The dohn File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Hopkins University and the Compa

10.11 Amendment to Exclusive License Agreement by andragmo Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
University and the Company, dated January 10, :

10.12° Exclusive License Agreement effective October TR®by Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s FSrin(SEC
and among UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The dohn File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Hopkins University and the Compa

10.13° Exclusive License Agreement by and between the Gomp Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and Kissei Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., dated A@jl2010 File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.14 Exclusive License Amending Agreement by and amok¢QJ Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC

Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usiteand
the Company, dated July 1, 2010, with respectedxclusive
License Agreement effective September 30, 2004nbly a
among UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johnpkitts
University and the Compar
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Exhibit

number Description of Exhibit Incorporated by Reference or Attached Heretc

10.15 Exclusive License Amending Agreement by and amowtQJ Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins Usiteand File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
the Company, dated July 1, 2010, with respected=xclusive
License Agreement effective October 16, 2009 byandng
UVIC Industry Partnerships Inc., The Johns Hopkins
University and the Compar

10.16 Office Service Agreement by and between RGN Manamm  Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8ri(SEC
Limited Partnership and the Company, dated Febrd2yy File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

2011, as amended by Addendum to Service Agreenyesuhdb
between Regus HSBC and the Company, dated Feli28ary
2011, and Addendum to Office Service Agreementriyy a
between Regus Management Group, LLC and the Company
effective May 11, 201.

10.17 Standard Lease by and between Allison-Zongker, &nid.the Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s F8rin(SEC
Company, dated April 15, 20: File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.18 First Amendment to that Certain Lease Agreemerddiat Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
April 15, 2011 by and between Allison-Zongker, LaRd the File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Company, effective April 2, 201

10.19 Loan and Security Agreement by and between the @agnp Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
and Oxford Finance LLC, dated July 15, 2( File No. 33:-186724) filed on February 15, 20!

10.20 Intellectual Property Security Agreement by andueen Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’'s FSrin(SEC
Sophiris Bio Inc. and Oxford Finance LLC, execuledy 15, File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

2011

10.21 Intellectual Property Security Agreement by andusen Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Sophiris Bio Corp. and Oxford Finance LLC, execulaty 15 File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.

2011

10.22 Indemnification Letter Agreement by and between the Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Company, Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. and File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Warburg Pincus X Partners, L.P., dated NovembeRQ20

10.23° Technology Transfer and Supply Agreement by andden Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
Boehringer Ingelheim RCV GmbH & Co KG and the File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Company, dated June 29, 2(

10.24 Non-employee Director Compensation Program Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam 8-K

filed on October 31, 201

10.25 First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementry a Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s F8rin(SEC
among the Company, each of its subsidiaries andr@xf File No. 333-186724) filed on February 15, 2013.
Finance LLC, dated January 17, 2(

10.26 Agreement Respecting Intellectual Property by agtsivben Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. theo

the Company and Dr. J. Thomas Buckley, dated Fepi®
2003, as amended by the Amendment Agreement daagd!
2004
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Exhibit
number Description of Exhibit Incorporated by Reference or Attached Heretc
10.27 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeianlly Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No.theo
among the Company, each of its subsidiaries andr@xf Registrant’s Form S-1/A (SEC File No. 333-18672&dfon
Finance LLC, dated July 31, 20 August 2, 2013
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing Attached heret
23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing Attached heret
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature pa Attached heret
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a- Attached hereto.
14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Secsrritie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amenc
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRules 13a-  Attached hereto.
14 and 15d-14 promulgated pursuant to the Secsrritie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amenc
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant t Attached hereto.
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 200z
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaot t Attached hereto.
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 200z
101.INS** XBRL Instance Documet Attached heretc
101.SCH**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum Attached heretc
101.CAL**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr Attached heretc
101.DEF**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh Attached heretc
101.LAB**  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum Attached heretc
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent  Attached heretc

+  Indicates management contract or compensatory

* Confidential treatment has been granted with eesfo certain portions of this exhibit. Omittedtans have been filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commiss

**  |n accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation Stiie XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to thAsinual Report on Form 10-K is
deemed not filed or part of a registration statenoemrospectus for purposes of Sections 11 orf1RBeoSecurities Act, is deemed not
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchangé And otherwise is not subject to liability undleese section:
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesthetRegistrant has duly caused this report tddreed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of San Die§tate of California, on the 14th day of March120

SOPHIRIS BIO INC.

By: /s/ Randall E. Woods
Randall E. Woods
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

K Now ALL PERsoNs By T HESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears belostittdes and appoints Randall E.
Woods and Peter T. Slover, and each of them, iésand lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, withgawer of substitution and resubstitution,
for him and in his name, place and stead, in anlyadircapacities, to sign any and all amendmentdyding post-effective amendments) to this
report, and to file the same, with all exhibitsréte, and other documents in connection therewiitn the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact agents, and each of them, full power and authtwitio and perform each and every act
and thing requisite and necessary to be done inextion therewith, as fully to all intents and pasps as he might or could do in person,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that said atteys-in-fact and agents, or either of them, ortbehis substitutes or substitute, may lawfully
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Randall E. Woods Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Randall E. Wood (Principal Executive Officer) March 14, 201«
/sl Peter T. Slover Chief Financial Officer
Peter T. Slover (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourd
Officer) March 14, 201

/s/ Lars Ekman, M.D., Ph.D.
Lars Ekman, M.D., Ph.C Executive Chairman and Direct March 14, 201

/s/ John Geltosky, Ph.D.
John Geltosky, Ph.C Director March 14, 201

/s/ Jim Heppell
Jim Heppell Director March 14, 201

/sl Joseph Turner
Joseph Turne Director March 14, 201

/s/ William R. Rohn
William R. Rohn Director March 14, 201«




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B33945) of Sophiris Bio Inc. of our
report dated March 14, 2014 relating to the finahsiatements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, California
March 14, 2014



Exhibit 23.Z

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B33945) of Sophiris Bio Inc. of our
report dated December 7, 2012, except for the &figfithe share consolidation described in Note thé consolidated financial statements, as
to which the date is August 12, 2013, relatingh® ¢onsolidated financial statements, which appeatds Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia

March 14, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

I, Randall E. Woods, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 of BigpBio Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or eondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a.) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b.) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentgulsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such evaluation;

c.) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b.) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inv@dvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Randall E. Wood
Randall E. Wood
President & Chief Executive Offici

Date: March 14, 2014



Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

I, Peter T. Slover, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 of BigpBio Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or éndttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a.) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdoitege designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b.) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentgulsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such evaluation;

c.) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiiernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a.) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b.) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inv@dvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Peter T. Slove
Peter T. Slove
Chief Financial Office

Date: March14, 2014



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fKSophiris Bio Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeardsmad December 31, 2013 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), I, Randall E. Woodsdtdent and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®®0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaSas-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremesit$Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of theusities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Randall E. Wood
Randall E. Wood
President & Chief Executive Offici

Date: March 14, 2014

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is ntetincorporated by reference into any fil
of the Company, whether made before or after tie kiareof, regardless of any general incorpordéinguage in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fKSophiris Bio Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeardsmd December 31, 2013, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortd#tte hereof (the “Report”), |, Peter T. Slover, &tiinancial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptatbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxewf 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requiremesit$Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of theusities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

s/ Peter T. Slove
Peter T. Slove
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 14, 2014

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is ntetincorporated by reference into any fil
of the Company, whether made before or after the lkiareof, regardless of any general incorpordéinguage in such filing



